
CABINET

GWYNEDD COUNCIL
DATE Tuesday, 17th September, 2019

TIME 1.00 pm

LOCATION Siambr Hywel Dda, Council Offices, Caernarfon, Gwynedd, 
LL55 1SH

CONTACT POINT Annes Siôn
01286 679490
cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.cymru

GWYNEDD COUNCIL CABINET MEMBERS

Members

Dyfrig L. Siencyn Leader

Dafydd Meurig Deputy Leader, Cabinet Member for 
Adults, Health and Wellbeing

Craig ab Iago Cabinet Member for Housing

Gareth Wyn Griffith Cabinet Member for Environment

Nia Wyn Jeffreys Cabinet Member for Corporate 
Support

Dilwyn Morgan Cabinet Member for Children and 
Young People

Gareth Thomas Cabinet Member for Economic 
Development and Community

Ioan Thomas Cabinet Member for Finance

Catrin Elen Wager Cabinet Member for Highways and 
Municipal

Cemlyn Rees Williams Cabinet Member for Education

Complete Agenda



AGENDA

Item Submitted 
by

Officer Page

1  APOLOGIES

2  DECLARATION OF PERSONAL 
INTEREST

3  URGENT ITEMS

4  MATTERS ARISING FROM OVERVIEW 
AND SCRUTINY

5  MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 
16 AND 23 JULY 2019

3 - 23

6  ANNUAL EMPLOYMENT REPORT Cyng / Cllr 
Nia Jeffreys

Geraint Owen 24 - 
35

7  YSGOL ABERSOCH Cyng / Cllr 
Cemlyn 
Williams

Gwern ap 
Rhisiart

36 - 
39

8  WASTE ENFORCEMENT SCRUTINY 
INVESTIGATION REPORT

Cyng / Cllr 
Catrin Wager

Steffan Jones 40 - 
112

9  SAVINGS OVERVIEW: PROGRESS 
REPORT ON REALISING SAVING 
SCHEMES

Cyng / Cllr 
Ioan Thomas

Ffion Madog 
Evans

113 - 
122

10  POOLED BUDGET AGREEMENT FOR 
CARE HOME ACCOMMODATION FOR 
OLDER PEOPLE 2019/20

Cyng / Cllr 
Ioan Thomas 
and Cyng/Cllr 
Dafydd 
Meurig

Morwena 
Edwards and 
Dafydd 
Edwards

123 - 
144

11  MANAGEMENT REVIEW Dilwyn 
Williams

145 - 
146



THE CABINET 16/07/19

THE CABINET 16/07/19

Present-
Councillors: Dyfrig L. Siencyn, Dafydd Meurig, Craig ab Iago, Gareth Wyn Griffith, Nia 
Wyn Jeffreys, Gareth Thomas, Ioan Thomas and Catrin Elen Wager

Also present: Dilwyn Williams (Chief Executive), Iwan Evans (Head of Legal Services), 
Dafydd Edwards (Head of Finance Department), Morwena Edwards (Corporate Director) 
and Annes Sion (Member Support Officer)

Item 6:  Catherine Roberts (Senior Operational Officer Gwynedd and Anglesey 
Community Safety Partnership)
Item 7: Garem Jackson (Head of Education Department) and Bethan Griffith (Education 
Ancillary Services Manager) 
Item 8: Sioned Williams (Head of Economy and Community Department) and Anwen 
Davies (Developing Rural Gwynedd Programme Manager)
Item 9: Arwel Wyn Owen (Assistant Head of Housing and Well-being) 

1.  APOLOGIES

Cabinet Members and Officers were welcomed to the meeting.
An apology was received from Cllr Cemlyn Williams and Cllr Dilwyn Morgan.

2.  DECLARATION OF PERSONAL INTEREST

Item 7 - The cost of primary school dinners 2019/20

A declaration of interest was received from Councillors - Dyfrig Siencyn, Craig ab 
Iago, Nia Jeffreys, Gareth Thomas, Ioan Thomas and Catrin Wager as they had 
children or grand children taking school dinners at primary schools. Also, Officers 
- Garem Jackson and Bethan Griffith as their children took school dinners at 
primary schools. It was not a prejudicial interest, so they were able to partake in 
the discussion

3.  URGENT ITEMS

There were no urgent items.

4.  MATTERS ARISING FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY

There were no matters arising from overview and scrutiny.

5.  MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 25 MAY

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



THE CABINET 16/07/19

Attention was drawn to an error in the attendance list and it was agreed to amend 
it.

The Chairman signed the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 25 June 2019, 
as a true record. 

6.  PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER FOR BANGOR

Presented by Cllr Nia Jeffreys

DECISION

Resolved
1. To approve the undertaking of the process of considering the introduction 

of a new Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) for a designated area 
within the city of Bangor, as per the attached draft Proposed Order in 
appendix 1, and revoking the GWYNEDD COUNCIL ALCOHOL 
CONSUMPTION IN DESIGNATED PUBLIC PLACES FOR THE AREAS 
OF BANGOR AND CAERNARFON ORDER 2004 (Current Order) to the 
extent that it applies to Bangor

2. To authorise the Head of Corporate Support to undertake a consultation 
process for a period of 28 days, with the matter to return to Cabinet in due 
course for decision whether a PSPO should be introduced in Bangor, as 
well as any associated delegations, and revoke of the Current Order.

DISCUSSION

The report was submitted and it was expressed that Bangor was a multicultural 
city with a Welsh feel.  It was added that many developments were taking place 
within the city and that many empty houses had now been brought back into use.

It was explained that an order already existed for Bangor which provided the 
Police with enforcement powers. It was added that the Police had suggested that 
the existing Order could no longer provide them with sufficient powers and 
evidence was presented to support this. It was emphasised that it was the 
Council that had the right to create an order and, following discussions with the 
Police and having sought legal advice, the Council was eager to proceed with 
creating a new Order.  It was reiterated that the next step would be to hold a 
public consultation on the matter before returning to Cabinet for a full decision.

The Senior Operational Officer Gwynedd and Anglesey Community Safety 
Partnership added that, following discussions with the Police that took place over 
six months, the Council considered that four of the six restrictions the Police had 
outlined were suitable for inclusion in the proposed Order. It was expressed that 
the main reason for creating the new Order was the effect on the lives of people 
living in the areas.

It was expressed that the Police were experienced in using different enforcement 
models across the region, and favoured a different model from the fixed penalty 
notice model. It was reiterated that this procedure would be closely monitored 

Page 4



THE CABINET 16/07/19

and would ensure an improved atmosphere for individuals and residents. It was 
noted that the conditions added were reasonable.
Observations arising from the discussion

 A request was made for confirmation that the Order not be used to deal 
with moving homeless people. It was stated that this was one of the six 
conditions the Police had introduced, and that the Council had rejected it. 
It was stated that work was required to assist homeless people and it was 
noted that training was currently being undertaken with Police Officers to 
provide support.

 Attention was drawn to the crime map in the Bangor area, in which it noted 
a high cluster of offences in Maesgeirchen - it was noted that the Police 
had special plans for this area to reduce crime

7.  PRIMARY SCHOOL MEAL PRICE SEPTEMBER 2019

The report was submitted by Garem Jackson  

DECISION

It was resolved not to raise the income target for primary school meals in line with 
inflation. This means that the cost of primary school meals will not increase in 
September 2019. 

DISCUSSION

The report was submitted and it was noted that, because of a rise in inflation, the 
cost of primary school meals needed to be increased by 4.1% in order to reach 
the income target. It was added that, by not increasing the price, there would be 
a budget deficit of £82,220. 

It was noted that Gwynedd, compared with other counties, was amongst those 
with the greatest price increases. It was outlined, following a rise in the cost of 
school meals in September 2017, that the percentage of school children 
receiving school meals had fallen from 50% to 46%. It was stated, consequently, 
that the Department was reluctant to increase the price again. 

Observations arising from the discussion
 Attention was drawn to statistics published by 'Save the Children' which 

noted that child poverty was on the rise, and specifically among low 
income working families. Consequently, it was emphasised that lower 
prices should be retained.

 It was asked, if the price did not increase, how could the financial 
shortcoming be addressed. It was noted that the Council had reserve 
funds for unexpected situations; thus, it would not be a problem and it 
would be possible to build it into next year's budget. It was added that this 
was a savings scheme and the Department would, therefore, be expected 
to find an alternative scheme to find the saving.

 Concern was noted about the fall in numbers following the price increase 
but it was noted that keeping the prices the same was positive.

Page 5



THE CABINET 16/07/19

8.  ARFOR INNOVATION FUND

Presented by Cllr Gareth Thomas
 

DECISION

As Gwynedd Council acts as the lead body for the Arfor Programme, targeting 
Welsh Government's Arfor Innovation Fund resources on behalf of Gwynedd, 
Anglesey, Ceredigion and Carmarthenshire Councils, it was resolved:

I. That the Cabinet would support a package of Gwynedd Arfor Programme 
projects, and would delegate the decision to approve bids for the 
expenditure in Gwynedd to the Head of Economy and Community 
Department in consultation with the Head of Finance Department

II. That the Cabinet would authorise the Head of Economy and Community 
Department in consultation with the Head of Legal Services to agree and 
complete a contract between appropriate authorities.

DISCUSSION

The report was submitted, noting that it was an exciting programme that would, 
hopefully, prove the western counties' ability to collectively conduct work in the 
economy field. 

The Head of Economy and Community Department added that Gwynedd Council 
had agreed to act as lead authority within the scheme and that a budget of £2 
million would be available for the plan over a two year period. It was added that 
projects had been prioritised for the proposed activity in Gwynedd to develop the 
economy, which, in turn, would support the language. It was stated that it was 
over the short-term and that the long-term difference was, therefore, unclear. It 
was emphasised that, since the plans were innovative, the four counties would 
compare the effect of the plans and additional funding could be sought for further 
development.

It was mentioned that the fund was for innovation and it would, therefore, give 
Gwynedd and the partnership the opportunity to try out different and new 
schemes. It was noted that the opportunity for Gwynedd to take the role of lead 
body was a credit to the Council's commitment, financial management and 
language use. 

Observations arising from the discussion
 It was noted that this was an exciting scheme, but a question was asked 

whether social enterprises would be able to apply for enterprise funding. It 
was noted that it would be possible to apply but that the budget was small 
and every application would have to be assessed as there was only 
enough for three enterprises.

 It was emphasised that it was high time for schemes to be created across 

Page 6



THE CABINET 16/07/19

the western part of Wales, and although the budget was small, they were 
exciting schemes.

 It was noted that the budget was very small and that it was important to 
use it carefully, ensuring the impact of the intervention was clearly 
measured. 

9.  HOUSING STRATEGY 2020-21

Presented by Cllr Craig ab Iago

DECISION

To approve the Housing Strategy in order to recommend it to the Full Council for 
adoption. 

DISCUSSION

The report was submitted, noting the need for the Cabinet to approve the 
Housing Strategy in order to recommend it to the Full Council for adoption. It was 
noted that the strategy outlined the change afoot in the field, with developments 
in the Housing and Property Department. It was emphasised that the next phase 
for the Housing field would be exciting.

Observations arising from the discussion
 It was noted that this was one of the priority fields for the Cabinet and that 

this was one step along that road

10.  PERFORMANCE REPORT OF THE CABINET MEMBER FOR ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT

Presented by Cllr Gareth Thomas

DECISION

To accept and note the information in the report.

DISCUSSION

The report was presented and attention drawn to a couple of projects. The North 
Wales Growth Vision was mentioned, and it was noted that Cllr Dyfrig Siencyn 
was now Chairman of the Ambition Board. 

It was noted that work was being done on developing the High Value Jobs 
Creation scheme. It was stated that competitions had been held at the 
Snowdonia Aerospace Centre as part of an international competition for the 
Institution of Mechanical Engineers. Local primary and secondary school pupils 
were given the opportunity to watch competitors and build and fly model airships 

Page 7



THE CABINET 16/07/19

and planes. The Arloesi Gwynedd Wledig Programme was mentioned, and it was 
stated that exciting work was under way as part of the Leader trials. The 
wonderful and innovative scheme at the Glynllifon College Farm was 
emphasised.

It was stated that the Council had agreed to a timetable with DCMS for submitting 
the Gwynedd Slate nomination to UNESCO in November and that it would be 
presented to the Cabinet in October. 

It was noted, when looking at the Department's savings, that five schemes in 
2019/20 had been delivered, or were on track to be delivered on time, and the 
savings schemes were outlined. 

Observations arising from the discussion
 It was noted that many companies had difficulty appointing Welsh-

speaking staff, despite their high salaries. The need to raise young 
people’s awareness and of the work opportunities available in Gwynedd, 
and draw their attention to this, was emphasised.

11.  PERFORMANCE REPORT OF THE CABINET MEMBER FOR FINANCE

Presented by Cllr Ioan Thomas

DECISION

To note and accept the information in the report. 

DISCUSSION

The report was submitted, drawing attention to some plans in the Finance 
Department. It was stated that the work of rolling out the use of the electronic 
document and records management system was reaching a close. Of all the 
Council's services, only five teams had not migrated to the new system.

It was stated that the Internal Audit Service had increased its income at the 
beginning of 2019/20 by focusing its resources on completing an audit of the 
Town and Community Council accounts. It was outlined that human error in the 
Salaries Service in March had led to classroom assistants missing £30 from their 
salaries.  It was noted that the salaries had since been set to the correct level.

In terms of Information Technology, it was stated that incidents of loss of service 
had led to the Service upgrading its data centres in order to strengthen the 
service's resilience. It was noted that both data centres would be able to recover 
services almost immediately.

Staff were thanked for closing the accounts despite the additional pressure from 
closing the accounts of the North Wales Economic Ambition Board as well. It was 
also emphasised that the Department had achieved its savings for 2019/20.

Page 8



THE CABINET 16/07/19

Observations arising from the discussion
 Attention was drawn to the performance of the Taxation Service, stating 

that a high number of enquiries had been received because of charging a 
tax premium on empty houses and second homes. Nevertheless, it was 
noted that a self-service system would soon be available for ratepayers, 
and that this would enable some straightforward enquiries and 
amendments to be made online, which would reduce the number of calls.

 Appreciation was expressed that the Benefits Service had reduced the 
number of days taken to process new benefits applications, but what was 
the Council's position compared to other counties. It was noted that it 
currently stood at the centre, but the Service endeavoured to continually 
improve.

12.  PERFORMANCE REPORT OF THE CABINET MEMBER FOR THE 
ENVIRONMENT

Presented by Cllr Gareth Griffith

DECISION

To note and accept the information in the report. 

DISCUSSION

The report was submitted, noting that it had been a busy period for the 
department. Attention was drawn to the main points. One of these was the Scam 
Awareness Session It was noted that it shared information with individuals on 
how not to be defrauded and some of it was broadcast on 'Y Byd ar Bedwar'.

It was noted that a 'Caring for our Environment' session had been held with 
Councillors, and it had been successful. In future, the Cabinet Member noted that 
he would accompany the Public Protection Service on their food hygiene 
inspections and would attend licensing meetings. He added that the report was 
comprehensive and summarised a busy and interesting period. 

Observations arising from the discussion
 The graphs shown were discussed and it was noted that some of the 

graphs did not contain any data. It was noted, in relation to the said graph, 
that a number of visits were determined by the FSA and that the numbers 
for the year were yet to be confirmed. The need to look at the graphs and 
ensure that they conveyed what the Department wished them to achieve 
was mentioned. 

13.  PERFORMANCE REPORT OF THE CABINET MEMBER FOR HIGHWAYS 
AND MUNICIPAL AND GWYNEDD CONSULTANCY

Presented by Cllr Catrin Wager

Page 9



THE CABINET 16/07/19

DECISION

To note and accept the information in the report. 

DISCUSSION

The report was submitted and it was noted that the environmental plans for the 
Highways Department were proceeding well, and the scheme to replace street 
lights with LED continued. This would use less energy and would prevent light 
pollution. It was expressed that the reduction in the percentage of urban waste 
sent to landfill had fallen from 38% to 19%. It was highlighted that changes would 
be made to to the refuse collection system. It would be rolled out in Dwyfor on 1 
July and in Arfon before the year's end.

Looking at recycling, the percentage remained stable at 63% with a target of 64% 
set for March 2020. It was emphasised that the Council recycled responsibly and 
within the UK.

In terms of savings for the Highways Department, it was noted the Closure of 
Public Toilets Scheme in the County was slipping and the Service was seeking 
an alternative scheme to deliver the remaining savings. Nevertheless, it was 
noted that a scheme to modernise the County's Closed Circuit Television Service 
to a digital system was underspending, consequently this could be used to 
address the shortfall.

In terms of savings scheme for the Highways Department, it was noted that they 
had been delivered or were on track. Concern was raised, however, about the 
intention to increase the street enforcement income. Further attention would be 
required along with a discussion on how to measure street cleanliness.

It was stated that savings for Gwynedd Consultancy were on target. Although 
income targets showed a shortfall, it was explained that this was normal for the 
Department during quarter 1. It was noted that the Member was satisfied with the 
Building Control service, and that feedback also showed customer satisfaction

14.  PERFORMANCE REPORT OF THE CABINET MEMBER FOR ADULT'S, 
HEALTH AND WELL-BEING

Presented by Cllr Dafydd Meurig

DECISION

To note and accept the information in the report. 

DISCUSSION

The report was submitted, and it was noted that some schemes would be 
highlighted. He noted that the Project to Re-design Care Services continued and 

Page 10



THE CABINET 16/07/19

that this would be discussed further at next week's Cabinet. He added that he 
had visited that Learning Disabilities Service and that he had had insight into the 
heroic work being undertaken in the field.

It was noted that measures relating to 'What Matters' to the individual must be 
considered, as it varied form client to client and was impossible to measure. It 
was stated that one problem had arisen with measuring the impact of 
DementiaGo, adding that we perhaps needed to set aside the performance 
figures and focus on instilling confidence in staff, as they worked so hard and did 
their best for individuals.

Financially, it was stated that it was a challenging period and that projections 
showed a risk of substantial overspending by the end of the financial year if 
savings were not made. He expressed that the Department was endeavouring to 
deal with this.

15.  FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME

Presented by Cllr Dyfrig Siencyn

DECISION

To approve the Forward Work Programme included with the meeting papers.

DISCUSSION

In accordance with Section 14.13 of the Council’s Constitution, the Cabinet will 
share its Forward Work Programme for the subsequent period of six months with 
the public. The Forward Work Programme will be published on the Council's 
website. 

The meeting commenced at 1.00 pm and concluded at 2.40 pm

CHAIRMAN

Page 11



THE CABINET 23/07/19

THE CABINET 23/07/19

Present-
Councillors: Dyfrig L. Siencyn, Dafydd Meurig, Craig ab Iago, Gareth Wyn Griffith, Nia 
Wyn Jeffreys, Gareth Thomas, Catrin Elen Wager and Cemlyn Rees Williams

Also present: Dilwyn Williams (Chief Executive), Iwan Evans (Head of Legal Services), 
Dafydd Edwards (Head of Finance Department), Morwena Edwards (Corporate Director) 
and Annes Sion (Member Support Officer)

Item 5:  Geraint Owen (Head of Corporate Support Department), Meinir Griffith (Service 
Improvement Officer), Carey Cartwright (Learning and Organisational Development 
Manager), Mannon Trappe (Senior Safeguarding Manager, Quality Assurance and 
Mental Health), Aled Gibbard (Senior Operational Manager - Care Resources, Children 
and Supporting Families), and Sion Huws (Senior Solicitor)
Items 6 and 7: Geraint Owen (Head of Corporate Support Department) and Arwel Evans 
(Procurement Manager)
Item 9: Meilys Smith (Senior Transformation Manager - Adults, Health and Well-being)
Item 10: Dafydd Wyn Williams (Head of Environment Department) and Gareth Jones 
(Assistant Head of Environment Department)

1.  APOLOGIES

Cabinet Members and Officers were welcomed to the meeting.
Apologies were received from Cllr Ioan Thomas and Cllr Dilwyn Morgan.
 

2.  DECLARATION OF PERSONAL INTEREST

There were no declarations of personal interest.

3.  URGENT MATTERS

There were no urgent items.

4.  MATTERS ARISING FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY

There were no matters arising from overview and scrutiny.

5.  REPORT ON THE COUNCIL'S COMPLAINTS AND SERVICE IMPROVEMENT 
ARRANGEMENTS

Presented by Cllr Nia Jeffreys 

Page 12



THE CABINET 23/07/19

DECISION

To accept the report.

DISCUSSION

The report was presented noting that it summarised data for the period of time 
between 2017 and 2019. It was added that it was important to respond to 
complaints in order to improve services. It was expressed that the report noted 
the steps of the complaint procedure, and that it highlighted room for 
improvement.

The Head of Corporate Support added that a significant amount of information 
relating to complaints over the past two years was to be seen in the report. It was 
reiterated that learning from mistakes and service improvement were an integral 
part of Ffordd Gwynedd.  It was noted that the report came in three parts, namely 
Corporate Complaints, Children Service Complaints, and Adults Service 
Complaints.

Observations arising from the discussion
 It was noted that the report was factual, noting the need for the Council to 

learn from the complaints and to deal with them in a positive manner. It 
was expressed that the one thing highlighted as a common complaint was 
the need to provide information in a timely manner, and that therefore, as 
a result of this, there was a need for the Council to look at improving its 
engagement with residents.

 It was expressed that a comment about the Ombudsman's role had been 
noted at the previous Full Council. It was added that there were two 
components to the Ombudsman's work, the first involving complaints 
regarding services provided by public bodies (it was noted that this work 
was undertaken regularly), and the second being the Councillors' Code of 
Conduct. It was reiterated that the complaints element regarding services 
provided by Councils and other bodies such as Health was prioritised by 
the Ombudsman, and as a result, there was a higher public interest 
threshold to the Councillors' Code of Conduct element. It was emphasised 
that Councillors signed the Code of Conduct, and that they were 
responsible for adhering to the principles therein, anyhow. Attention was 
drawn to concerns around cases of women being bullied on Community 
Councils, and it was noted that guidance on the public interest test 
highlighted bullying as a factor in favour of investigation. The Ombudsman 
was aware of this and the matter was being discussed at a national level.

 It was noted that there was a need to look at complaints as a journey - by 
making changes to the Council's culture, it would be possible to improve 
the service provided. In terms of the number of cases presented to the 
Ombudsman, it was noted that only 2 of the 32 had needed a report. It 
was added that this showed that the complaints procedure worked well

6.  FFORDD GWYNEDD PLAN 2019-22

Page 13



THE CABINET 23/07/19

Presented by Cllr Nia Jeffreys

DECISION

The Scheme and work programme for 2019-22 were approved.

DISCUSSION

The report was presented and it was noted that the Cabinet was fully committed 
to Ffordd Gwynedd. It was noted that the Cabinet had adopted the original Ffordd 
Gwynedd Scheme back in October 2015, and it was explained that Ffordd 
Gwynedd was a way of working adopted by the Council.  It was reiterated that 
this was rooted in a change in culture, behaviours and mind-sets; and it was 
added that this decision would give further direction in terms of the Scheme and 
the way forward.

The Head of the Corporate Support Department added that Ffordd Gwynedd 
training had been held and that enthusiasm for service improvement was clear to 
be seen. It was expressed that there was work to be done on departments' plans 
in terms of how to cascade the mind-set to everyone, and that a work programme 
was outlined in the report.

Observations arising from the discussion
 It was noted that the re-establishment of the managers' network was 

integral to ensuring discussion around Ffordd Gwynedd. When looking at 
the Ffordd Gwynedd journey, it was noted that, while the Council had 
taken major steps forward, the development varied between departments. 
However, constant reflection was seen. It was added that there was much 
work yet to be done, but that the Strategy would move the Council nearer 
to the end goal.

 It was emphasised that leadership development was central to Ffordd 
Gwynedd, and that there was a need to establish a culture in which 
managers led their staff rather than managed people.

 It was noted that Ffordd Gwynedd's sub-heading was to ensure that the 
people of Gwynedd were at the centre of everything the Council did. It 
was added that it was impossible to do everything that everyone wanted 
the Council to do, and as a result, there was a need to prioritise.

 It was noted that it was possible to see the Ffordd Gwynedd journey within 
departments, and it was added that performance sometimes saw a 
decline before improving.

7.  SUSTAINABLE PROCUREMENT POLICY AND THE CAMPAIGN TO BAN 
THE USE OF SINGLE USE PLASTIC

The report was submitted by Nia Jeffreys  

DECISION

1. It was approved to incorporate the provisions of the Well-being of Future 

Page 14



THE CABINET 23/07/19

Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in the Council's Sustainable Procurement 
Policy.

2. The campaign to seek to ban the purchase and use of single-use plastic 
was approved and the changes in the Sustainable Procurement Policy to 
address this campaign were adopted.

DISCUSSION

The report was presented, noting that by being proactive, the service could 
respond to the current challenge of reducing the use of single-use plastic. It was 
added that by being proactive, the problem could be tackled. 

The Head of the Corporate Support Department added that the service asked the 
Cabinet to agree to two things; firstly to approve the incorporation of the Well-
being of Future Generations act in the Sustainable Procurement Policy, and 
secondly to approve the campaign to prevent the purchase and use of single-use 
plastic and to adopt the changes in policy to address this campaign. 

Observations arising from the discussion
 The department was thanked for submitting the item following the notice of 

motion at the Full Council in March 2018. It was added that it was 
important for the work to be undertaken jointly with the cross-departmental 
task group. 

 The report was welcomed, and it was noted that plastics had a major 
impact upon the planet.

 It was noted that the Council had declared a climate emergency, and that 
the departments were attempting to find ways of getting rid of single-use 
plastics cross-departmentally across the Council, as was the responsibility 
of each department. 

8.  CARE INSPECTORATE WALES ANNUAL LETTER

Presented by Cllr Dafydd Meurig 

DECISION

Resolved to accept the report.

DISCUSSION

The report was presented, noting that it was a requirement for the Council to 
publish the letter in accordance with the Care Inspectorate Wales code of 
practice. It was expressed that the content of the letter provided feedback on 
inspection and performance evaluation activity completed by Care Inspectorate 
Wales during the year, in addition to reporting on the Council's progress and 
providing an outline of the forward work programme. It was added that the 
content of the letter partly praised the Council and that it was to be welcomed.

Page 15



THE CABINET 23/07/19

It was expressed that the letter noted where the Council had achieved success, 
and it was acknowledged that the Adults Department was undergoing 
transformation. It was added that the Council's workforce was stable and that 
strong leadership and governance were to be seen.

The Corporate Director for care noted that the period prior to receipt of the letter 
had been a concerning one; however, pride was expressed following reading its 
content. She added that the heads of service, staff and carers were to be 
thanked for their work in ensuring this. It was noted that the confident and stable 
workforce employed by Gwynedd was indicative of a situation which was not to 
be seen in a number of other counties.

It was emphasised that the inspectorate saw that there was a journey of 
transformation, but that it embodied the principles of Ffordd Gwynedd in 
accordance with legislation. Attention was drawn to challenges, which included 
keeping an eye on the safeguarding field along with the consistent increase in 
challenges facing the children field.

Gratitude was expressed for the support of all members towards the Council's 
care work.  
Observations arising from the discussion

 Staff were thanked for their good work. 

9.  NEW DOMICILIARY CARE MODEL FOR GWYNEDD

Presented by Cllr Dafydd Meurig
 

DECISION
 
     It was agreed to establish a new model for providing and commissioning 

domiciliary care based on areas, and to jointly commission with the Health 
Board.

     It was approved to implement on the grounds of the favoured option, 
namely to maintain a mixed market by tendering in a way that was likely to 
lead to achieving the aims of the department.

     To ask the Adults Department to review the financial model in order to 
ensure that it did not hinder their ability to achieve their savings, and to 
report back were there any risk of that.

 
 

DISCUSSION
 
The report was presented and the decision was noted, emphasising that the 
reason the new model was needed was to move away from the practice of 
funding per package or individual, and to create a flexible provision across areas. 
It was added that the favoured option was to maintain the internal:external 
market split. It was noted that financial and legal risks had emerged during the 
negotiation phase, but that arrangements were in place.
 

Page 16



THE CABINET 23/07/19

It was expressed that a number of pilots had been undertaken at various 
geographical locations across the county. It was expressed that these had 
demonstrated strong examples of flexible care and that the service users were 
happy with the care received. It was added that the new model for providing and 
commissioning domiciliary care would be jointly commissioned with the Health 
Board.
 
To provide context, the Senior Operational Manager added that there was a 
shortage of domiciliary care available. It was expressed that in order to further 
understand what was needed, the situation as a whole needed to be looked at. It 
was noted that discussions had been held with service users and emphasis was 
placed on the importance of a pilot in order to turn the idea into reality.
 
Observations arising from the discussion

     It was noted that discussions had been held with the unions. The unions 
were reasonably supportive but there was a need to ensure as little an 
impact as possible on staff. It was expressed that residents and service 
users were central to the new model, with staff a very close second. It was 
expressed that there was no intention for people to transfer to other 
providers should they not wish to do so, and arrangements would be in 
place to protect staff. It was added that discussions were being held with 
the unions to ensure that the transfer process had as little impact as 
possible on staff and to ensure that employment was maintained.

     The new model was welcomed, but it was emphasised that recruitment 
was a historical problem, and enquiries were made as to whether the new 
model would change this. It was expressed that the new model would 
encourage and give staff the opportunity to be more creative, and that a 
higher proportion of the funding available would go to staff. 

 As funding the scheme meant using savings deriving from changes to 
work arrangements and as the Adults Department was also dependent on 
this to achieve its savings programme, concern was raised with regard to 
the financial model following the Cabinet's discussions the previous week 
around the Department's performance. It was emphasised that there was 
a need to ensure that the new model did not hinder the Adults 
Department's ability to achieve its savings, and it was asked that the 
situation be thoroughly assessed, and reported back upon should there be 
any risk of that.

10.  HOLIDAY HOMES AND PLANNING

Presented by Cllr Gareth Griffith

DECISION

Resolved to:
I. Agree that the Environment Department, on behalf of the Council, was to 

procure and commission research work on holiday homes for Gwynedd 
but with a national context, with the support of the Royal Town Planning 

Page 17



THE CABINET 23/07/19

Institute (Wales) and other relevant organisations, to include 
consideration of the matters referred to in part 3 of the report.

II. Agree to provide up to £80,000 from the Council’s Transformation Fund, 
to be released in consultation with the Head of Finance for the work.

DISCUSSION

The report was presented noting that the department was making an application 
for £80,000 from the transformation fund in order to commission research into 
holiday homes in Gwynedd. It was expressed that a number of concerns had 
been raised concerning the number of holiday homes in the Gwynedd area, and 
the main concerns were noted as

 The local supply of houses available to meet the need
 The impact on the local community, the Welsh language and the services 

in the community
 The potential impact on house prices
 The impact on the amenities of local residents
 Safety standards for the properties. 

It was expressed that the report made it clear that the Council did not have 
much control of the matter. It was added that there were many varying 
properties and an extremely high number of self-catering properties.  

The Assistant Head of the Environment Department added that examples of 
regulating holiday homes were to be seen across the world, but it was hoped 
that it would be possible to look at this in greater detail in the new research. It 
was emphasised that material evidence would be needed in order to change 
legislation, and that the research work could also contribute to this, but that a 
Wales-wide picture would be needed. It was stated that the research work 
would be significant and would offer options for improved management. 
However, it was added that to ensure this, robust evidence would be needed.

Observations arising from the discussion
 It was noted that the number of holiday homes was a concern which had 

been raised over the years. It was expressed that statistics had increased 
over the years, and added that a number of local people took advantage 
of opportunities. It was added that the investigation commissioned was 
an attempt to establish the facts.

 Support was shown towards the research, and the need was expressed 
for evidence and understanding of the legislations used worldwide. It was 
acknowledged that the field was a complex one in which there would be 
no clear solution.

 It was added that there had been a recent increase in AirBnB properties, 
and so it was expressed that obtaining robust data on these properties 
would be useful.   It was added that AirBnB was a global company, and 
the need to be aware of residents' needs within communities was 
expressed.

 Enquiries were made regarding the time-scale, and it was noted that it 
would be possible to draw up a brief within the next two months. As a 
result, the timescale would be clearer following this. 

Page 18



THE CABINET 23/07/19

11.  COPING WITH THE FINANCIAL SITUATION IN 2020-21

Submitted by Dilwyn Williams

DECISION

Subject to the condition noted in Clause 15 of the report, in order to be in a 
position to cope with the financial situation in 2020/21, the Cabinet would adopt 
Option 3, and request for each department to find their share of the £2m needed 
to address the minimum resource deficit the Council was likely to face due to 
inflation, and to ask the Scrutiny Committees to scrutinise these proposals in the 
autumn.

Whilst reporting, departments should also report on how they intended to cope 
with any deficits that needed to be addressed in their savings plans.

DISCUSSION

The report was presented and it was noted, should the worst implications noted 
in the report come true, that the Council would be faced with a difficult situation. It 
was expressed that the first appendix noted the historical picture, and it was 
noted that the grant and the tax increase had not been sufficient to pay for the 
inflation.  It was added that the Council had saved £65million over the past 12 
years, and that much of this had been achieved through efficiency savings. It was 
expressed that identifying efficiency savings was becoming increasingly difficult 
for the departments.

It was noted that in order to plan for the year ahead, a fan chart was to be seen in 
Appendix 2. It was expressed that it was simple to go for the centre line in terms 
of savings, but it was added that there was a 50% chance that the figure would 
be higher. It was added that, should the £2.2m of savings planned since the 
previous year along with the increase of 3.5% in Council Tax be taken into 
consideration, the financial shortfall could be between £1.7m and £7.3m. It was 
expressed that over the previous years the Council had planned for the worst, but 
it was added that the savings arrangements for the previous year had highlighted 
that cuts were already a necessity, which would be difficult for a number of 
services. Any further cuts would be highly challenging and likely to cause alarm 
to people, be they residents or staff.

Three options for moving forward were highlighted, and it was expressed that the 
Cabinet Member for Finance and the Chief Executive recommended the third of 
these options. This option planned to address the shortfall of £1.7m - to be 
rounded up to £2m - in the optimistic scenario by sharing this sum between all 
departments (and schools), noting that it was an inflation contribution, and by 
using balances and/or a higher Council Tax increase to meet the shortfall above 
the optimistic scenario so as to give time to find a permanent solution.  

Observations arising from the discussion
 It was expressed that the situation was frightening and alarming, and it 

Page 19



THE CABINET 23/07/19

was emphasised that year after year, Members had to go through the 
savings arrangements again. They were unprepared to do so again as it 
was so disheartening. 

 It was emphasised that there were obvious differences between the 
priorities of Welsh Government and the Government in Westminster.

 It was noted that a publication had stated that a higher pay rise would be 
awarded to Teachers, which was higher than the predictions of a 2% rise. 
It was added that the period of protection for Education, Children and 
Adults had now passed, and that it would now be difficult to find savings 
without affecting those services.

 Council officers were thanked for their work in foreseeing the likely 
situation, despite the difficulty of the task. It was expressed that the 
Governments' priorities focussed on Brexit and wars, emphasising that 
these were not the priorities of the residents of Gwynedd. It was added 
that the report set out the rationale for forward planning due to the lack of 
basic information available.

12.  PERFORMANCE REPORT OF THE CABINET MEMBER FOR CORPORATE 
SUPPORT AND LEGAL

Presented by Cllr Nia Jeffreys

DECISION

To note and accept the information in the report. 

DISCUSSION

The report was presented, noting the main matters arising from the department's 
performance over the previous months. It was noted that a number of new 
apprentices had been appointed to the apprenticeships scheme, and it was 
added that three of the six posts were filled by women; two of these in the 
engineering field. In terms of the Keeping the Benefit Local scheme, it was 
expressed that expenditure figures with local companies remained fairly 
consistent with the previous year, but that expenditure figures had fallen and that 
the department would therefore be keeping an eye on the matter.

It was noted that the on-line self-service facility was a priority in order to offer the 
best service to the people of Gwynedd, and it was noted that five services 
received more applications via self-service than over the phone. It was added 
that work was being undertaken to look at how it would be possible to use an on-
line chat tool. It was expressed that it was not possible to use the DBS 
disclosures system through the medium of Welsh, and that the Council had 
notified the Welsh Language Commissioner.  

The Head of the Corporate Support Department added that since writing the 
report, the number of apprenticeships had now risen to ten posts, and that six 
were to be advertised over the summer for the Adults Department and the Youth 
Service. It was added that the Apprenticeships Scheme had funding for up to 20 

Page 20



THE CABINET 23/07/19

apprenticeship posts, and that the target had, therefore, almost been achieved. It 
was emphasised that the apprenticeships were run through the medium of 
Welsh, and that this applied to work locations in addition to training.

Observations arising from the discussion
 It was noted that the department would investigate whether the figure of 

334,992 in the website statistics referred to the number of 'hits' or the 
number of individual visits to the Council's website.

13.  PERFORMANCE REPORT OF THE CABINET MEMBER FOR CHILDREN AND 
SUPPORTING FAMILIES

Presented by Cllr Dilwyn Morgan

DECISION

To note and accept the information in the report. 

DISCUSSION

The report was presented and it was noted that it would summarise the main 
matters arising from the department's performance meetings. It was added that, 
on the whole, the Cabinet Member was satisfied with the way in which the 
department was moving forward. It was expressed that there were some gaps in 
the data, but that the department was moving towards a situation of having the 
data at its fingertips.

In terms of the Supporting People's Well-being scheme, it was noted that work 
was being undertaken in order to map the current arrangements. It was 
expressed that ACE agenda training had been jointly arranged with the Police 
force during October. In terms of the Supporting People Strategy, it was noted 
that the scheme supported parents and developed good parenting skills. It was 
added that the Gwynedd Family Hub would be launched during the coming 
months, in order to provide information on-line. It was also added that work was 
being undertaken to plan and gather information in preparation for the launch.

Attention was drawn to performance statistics and it was noted that a slip had 
been seen in the percentage of initial child protection conferences. It was 
expressed that this was due to the fact that the team was so small, that the 
absence of a single member of staff made it very difficult to improve 
performance. It was emphasised that there had been an increase of 11% in the 
number of children in care at the end of March 2019. It was emphasised that this 
was a significant challenge which was to be seen on a national level, and that 
discussions were being held with Government concerning the matter. It was 
added that the increase in numbers was not the only challenge, but that the 
children's needs were far more complex and as a result, foster placements were 
far more expensive.

Page 21



THE CABINET 23/07/19

It was noted that the Children Department's main concern was the problem it 
faced in reaching its savings target. With an increase in placement costs to 
ensure specialist care, this increased the problem. It was added that the 
Department was attempting to establish alternative plans so as to reach the 
target.

Observations arising from the discussion
 It was noted that an increase was to be seen in the number of looked after 

children across Wales, and the process of placing a child in care was also 
noted. It was stressed that 95% of cases had gone through court, and that 
this highlighted that robust processes were in place, with the court 
deciding on individual cases. It was expressed that there was a need to 
work with families to avoid legal proceedings.

14.  PERFORMANCE REPORT OF THE CABINET MEMBER FOR EDUCATION

Presented by Cllr Cemlyn Williams

DECISION

To note and accept the information in the report. 

DISCUSSION

The report was presented, and it was noted that it would refer to the three 
priorities seen in the Council's plan. In terms of the Strengthening Leadership 
project, it was expressed that the Council had agreed on the system for relevant 
training arrangements with GwE. It was added that the first scheme as part of this 
project would be to address the challenges around attracting and recruiting 
leaders and middle managers at Meirionnydd Secondary Schools.

Attention was given to the Twenty First Century Schools Programme, and it was 
noted that work had begun on building a new school for Ysgol y Garnedd, 
Bangor. It was noted that Ysgol Godre'r Berwyn would open its doors on 2 
September 2019. It was added that problems had arisen in relation to the new 
school's budget following a debt incurred at one of the schools, but that this had 
now been resolved and that everyone was looking to the opening of the school. It 
was expressed that initial work had commenced to look at constructing a new 
school in Cricieth, by beginning initial discussions with the Governing Bodies of 
Ysgol Treferthyr and Ysgol Llanystumdwy.

Attention was drawn to Transforming the Additional Learning Needs and 
Inclusion Provision, and it was noted that this scheme's main focus was around 
adapting the service to cope with changes to Additional Learning Resources 
legislation. The Cabinet Member added that he was eager to see Early Years 
intervention and the 16-25 provision being discussed by the Supporting People 
Board at a future date.

Page 22



THE CABINET 23/07/19

Observations arising from the discussion
 Enquiries were made as to what was to happen to the TRAC scheme, a 

successful scheme maintained by European Funding. It was noted that the 
future was uncertain, but that there were strengths to this type of scheme.

15.  PERFORMANCE REPORT OF CABINET MEMBER FOR HOUSING

Presented by Cllr Craig ab Iago

DECISION

To note and accept the information in the report.

DISCUSSION

The report was presented and it was noted that steps were being taken to move 
towards an exciting new system with the arrival of the new Housing Department, 
Head and Strategy. It was expressed that the report reflected upon the 
experience and efficiency of staff. It was added that, despite this, the new 
department faced challenges.

It was noted that the staff were pro-active and saw the new department as an 
opportunity to accomplish more. Staff were thanked for their good work.  

The meeting commenced at 1.00 pm and concluded at 3.35 pm

CHAIRMAN

Page 23



www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru

Contact:
01286 679868
01286 679490

cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.cymru

GWYNEDD COUNCIL CABINET

Report to a meeting of Gwynedd Council Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 17 September, 2019 
Cabinet Member: Councillor Nia Jeffreys
Contact Officer: Geraint Owen
Contact Telephone 
Number 32335

Title of Item: Annual Employment Report

1 THE DECISION SOUGHT

Approval of the annual report for 2018/19. 

2 THE REASON FOR THE NEED FOR A DECISION

To reflect and agree on the corporate strategy in this crucial field for the future.

3 INTRODUCTION

The intention of this report is to present an annual update of the workforce details 
and their employment together with outlining objectives for developing our workers 
and setting the direction for the future.

You are reminded that the Local Consultative Joint Committee (the joint forum 
between the recognised union representatives and Elected Members) receives an 
annual report on activity in the human resources field but that report focuses on the 
operational relationship between the employer and the workforce representatives.

1. The Council’s Workforce

The numbers employed on a full-time and part-time basis within the Council for the 
last three years are noted here. Note that these numbers include staff who work in 
our schools but not those staff employed on a casual basis during holiday/sickness 
periods of the permanent workforce.

31/3/17 31/3/18 31/3/19
Full-time 2,847 2,953 3,011
Part-time 2,981 2,938 2,871

Total 5,828 5,891 5,882

Page 24

Agenda Item 6

mailto:cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.


www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru

Contact:
01286 679868
01286 679490

cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.cymru

The details show a reduction of 9 in the number of individuals employed by the 
Council at the end of March this year compared with the same time in 2018. This 
relatively low reduction is significant, considering the financial challenge that is 
currently facing the Council and the pressure this places on the staffing budget. Note 
that the number of full-time employed staff has increased and the number employed 
on a part-time basis has reduced. The increasing number of staff employed on higher 
hours than in the past is most prominent in the care sector.  

2. Workforce Split by Gender 

A further analysis is seen here of the number of men and women employed on a full-
time and part-time basis during the same period. The split over the three years has 
been relatively stable in the context of the number of women and men employed, and 
yet notice the increase in the number of women who work full-time hours and the 
equivalent approximate reduction in the number who work part-time hours. These 
details reiterate the previous statement regarding the increase in the hours worked, 
mainly by women, within the care sector.  

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Men 1,360 1,387 1,390Full-time Women 1,487 1,566 1,621
Men 327 312 303Part-time Women 2,654 2,626 2,568

Men 1,687 1,699 1,693Total Women 4,141 4,192 4,189
Men 28.9% 28.8% 28.8%Total % Women 71.1% 71.2% 71.2%

Page 25

mailto:cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.


www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru

Contact:
01286 679868
01286 679490

cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.cymru

3. Age profile of Council staff

The age profile of Council staff as it appeared on 31 March 2019 is noted here. It 
shows that over 64.5% of the Council's existing workforce is older than 40 years old 
(64% in 2017/18) while 37.5% are older than 50 years old (36% in 2017/18). This 
small, yet gradual, increase in the number of staff who are older than 40 years old 
(and 50 years old) over a number of years, coupled with the reduction in staff 
turnover over the previous two years, is an important factor to consider as part of the 
need to give genuine attention to workforce planning across Council services.  

The graph below shows the Department which has the youngest age profile and the 
Department with the oldest age profile, as well as the age profile for the entire 
Council. 

See below an illustrative table providing a clear picture of the current age profile of 
the Corporate Management Group (heads of department, directors and Chief 
Executive). 

Page 26

mailto:cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.


www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru

Contact:
01286 679868
01286 679490

cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.cymru

4. Staff Turnover 

Historically, turnover within the Council has been comparatively stable but there has 
been a pattern of a small increase over the years up to 2015/16.  However, turnover 
has reduced in the past two years and has stabilised on slightly higher than 8%. This 
is contrary to the national pattern within the public sector in general (the latest figures 
published for the sector shows turnover of approximately 15% on average). 

The largest turnover is seen within the Children and Supporting Families Department 
(17.7%), the Economy and Community Department (16.4%) and Highways and 
Municipal (10.2%), whilst turnover is at its lowest within the Environment Department 
(6.0%) and the Education Department (6.4%).   

The fact that the turnover level is relatively low (and is reducing), along with the 
information that the age profile is showing an increase, is one element that needs to 
be monitored in the context of our ability to ensure service continuity in the medium 
and long term. 

In light of this, work (jointly with the Research and Information Service) is being 
currently undertaken to facilitate managers' access to information that shows details 
regarding turnover and age within individual services whilst another work stream 
focuses on identifying and developing talent within the Council as well as attracting 
the talent from beyond the existing workforce e.g. apprenticeship schemes, 
specialists of tomorrow, etc.    

5. Sickness Absences

The number of days lost due to sickness across the Council reduced to 8.72 days 
per head on average in 2017/18, compared to an average of 9 days per head in 
2016/17 (8.44 days per head in 2015/16).  An increase to 9.45 days per head on 
average was seen in 2018/19, namely the highest level during the last ten years.  
However, this level remains amongst the lowest in Welsh local authorities. The 
following table shows the levels of sickness absences, month on month, during the 
year. 

Page 27

mailto:cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.


www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru

Contact:
01286 679868
01286 679490

cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.cymru

The sickness absence, in 2018/19, is at its highest within the Residential and Day 
Service (17.03 days), Community Care Service (14.25 days), and the Cleaning and 
Catering Service - Education (13.03 days), whilst sickness absence is at its lowest 
within Gwynedd Consultancy (4.78 days) and Economy and Community Department 
- excluding Leisure (5.14 days). 

It is important to note here that 41.4% or 2,435 (2,542 in 2017/18) of Council staff 
were not absent at all due to sickness over the past year.  

A working group of officers meet regularly to review individual cases of absence and 
naturally focus their efforts within those services where sickness levels are high. 
Reviews of regular cases are undertaken within the care services where sickness 
absence is at its highest, and specific attention is given to trends, which has led to 
joint campaigns between the Occupational Health Unit and managers of relevant 
services. 

Some output from that work was proven during 2018/19 as sickness absence levels 
within the Community Care Service, although they remain high, have reduced. 

These efforts will need to be intensified over the coming year and consideration will 
need to be given to what more can be done to promote health amongst the care 
workforce mainly.  

The following table gives a further analysis of the type of sickness which has been 
recorded for absences over the last three years. This information is used to steer the 
discussion when considering the content of the programme to promote health and 
well-being annually.

Page 28

mailto:cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.


www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru

Contact:
01286 679868
01286 679490

cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.cymru

The fact that the percentage of sickness absences recorded as "Other Illness" has 
increased to almost 1 in every 4 cases is concerning, in particular as a gradual 
reduction has been seen in the use of "Other Illness" prior to this year (the rate was 
as much as 1 in every 3 cases a few years ago). 

Last year and the previous year, it was reported that reducing the number of 
sickness cases recorded as "Other" was one of the objectives in this area and we 
succeeded to do so. It is inevitable that some types of sickness is recorded as 
"Other" but there is now evidence that this is not the explanation for the majority of 
absences recorded in this way.  A specific campaign will be undertaken by the 
Support Service to challenge every sickness recorded as "Other" during the year to 
come, in an attempt to ensure that staff receive the appropriate support when they 
are ill. 

There remains suspicion that some cases of stress-related absence is being hidden 
under "Other". Nevertheless, note that the percentage of stress-related absences 
recorded have also increased. This, in itself, justifies the efforts and the current time 
invested to focus on mental well-being in the Council. The impact of this time 
invested will become clearer over the next years and will show whether what is being 
done to raise awareness and share good practice about mental well-being is 
succeeding or not. 

Page 29

mailto:cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.


www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru

Contact:
01286 679868
01286 679490

cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.cymru

6. Organisational Learning and Development   

We reported last year that the number of face-to-face training days provided by the 
corporate Learning and Development Service reduced gradually from 3,043 in 2013-
14 to 1,389 in 2017/18. In 2018/19, the number of those days increased to 3,383 and 
mainly as a result of the fact that a substantial increase was seen in the number of 
workshops held with individual teams, as a follow-up to the training provided to all 
managers on "Ffordd Gwynedd". Those workshops have included supporting 
managers to introduce specific elements of the "way of working" to their teams, e.g. 
performance and work-flow management, as well as workshops on behaviours, 
managing change and team development. The change, compared with recent years, 
is one sign that the activity associated with developing the "way of working" has 
increased significantly across the Council.  We anticipate that this pattern will 
continue, over the coming year, with requests for assistance on specific aspects of 
introducing "Ffordd Gwynedd" to a broader audience intensifying.  

Another significant contribution to the increasing number of workshops during 
2018/19 is the demand to upgrade information technology skills amongst the 
workforce. A total of 23 of these workshops were held during the year with forecasts 
that the number will increase again during 2019/20. This increase, is not only due to 
the use of new technology and software across the Council, but also as technology is 
fast becoming a part of the work of every member of staff. 

The number of e-learners (who used the resource) has again bucked the pattern 
reported on over the past years i.e. dropped from 2,119 in 2017/18 to 1,178 in 
2018/19. A substantial increase was seen in the number in 2017/18 as a result of 
campaigns to encourage staff to undertake e-learning training in specific fields, and 
to that end, the reduction in numbers for last year comes as no surprise. However, it 
is continued to believe that e-learning training remains an effective and convenient 
way of raising awareness about specific matters and is one that contributes towards 
the development of individuals. As a result, the work of producing quality packages 
continues to be one of the priorities of the Organisational Learning and Development 
Service with a view to ensure that those packages are fit for purpose. 

One of the current priorities of the Council Plan is to put an Apprenticeships Scheme 
at work. During the year, we were successful in attracting an investment of £300,000 
from the Cabinet to appoint at least 20 apprentices. These apprentices are to be 
appointed in many fields across the Council, including engineering, information 
technology and care. This Scheme is considered to be one that will not only 
contribute towards local employment, but also one that will contribute towards 
ensuring the continuity of Council services in the future. 

This Scheme, alongside our Managers and Specialists of Tomorrow Schemes, as 
well as the emphasis on developing existing staff, form an important part of our 
efforts to identify and develop talent.  

Page 30

mailto:cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.


www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru

Contact:
01286 679868
01286 679490

cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.cymru

7. Pay Structure and Equal Pay

The Pay Policy for 2019/20 was approved by the Council at its meeting on 7 March 
2019. The National Joint-Committee for Local Government Workers reached an 
agreement on pay increases for the two years from 1 April, 2018, which has meant 
that the Council's minimum wage, since the 1 April 2019, has been established at 
£9.18 per hour. 

This means that the Council's minimum wage is now higher than what is noted as the 
Living Wage by the Living Wage Foundation (£9 per hour since 1 November, 2018).  
These changes since April 2019 have led to an amended pay structure within the 
Council (and every other Local Authority in England and Wales). The implementation 
of the transfer from the former structure to the new structure was accomplished 
smoothly with the cooperation of the Human Resources Service, Payroll Service and 
local representatives of the trade unions. 

As reported last year, independent reviews over the past ten years have stated 
regularly that the Council pays an equal salary for work of an equal value between 
women and men. This opinion reflects the fact that the Council has a recognised 
scheme for job evaluation and that the criteria of that Scheme continues to be 
implemented consistently. A review of the criteria within the Job Evaluation Scheme 
is currently being undertaken in an attempt to ensure that those criteria reflect the 
"way of working" that is now being professed within the Council. The need to act 
cautiously and carefully in this respect is acknowledged in order to ensure that we 
will not undermine the robust arrangements that are currently in place. As a result, it 
is not anticipated that an amended Scheme will be introduced for some time.  

However, the pay gap between women and men, which can be seen generally in 
society, also exists within the Council and consideration needs to be given to what 
can be done to influence that situation. The Council Plan for the 2018-23 period 
notes that identifying and attempting to remove any obstacles that could prevent 
women from reaching leading and managing posts within the Council is one of its 
objectives for improvement. This work has already commenced and is one of the 
main priorities in the employment field over the coming years.   

8. Leadership Development  

The project on leadership development focuses on the development of political 
leaders and also (appropriate for the purposes of this report) on developing leaders 
within our departments and services. 

The Managers' Network was resurrected during the year - following the investment 
and focus placed on ensuring that every manager has received full training on 
introducing the "Ffordd Gwynedd" way of working over the previous two years.    The 
emphasis on developing leadership skills within the Network is a key step in the 
change of culture from "managing" to "leading" within the Council. The first series of 
the Network was undertaken in its new form, under the leadership of a Group of 
managers who now coordinate arrangements themselves, during March 2019, and a 
second series has been planned for Autumn 2019. 

Page 31

mailto:cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.


www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru

Contact:
01286 679868
01286 679490

cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.cymru

A review of the Council's managerial structures was held during 2018/19. The main 
drivers for this review were: 

i) identifying those posts that are genuinely managerial and lead on services   
ii) considering whether the Council had an excess of managers 
iii) ensuring that the Council's managerial structure is consistent with the 

principles of Ffordd Gwynedd

This work led to an improved understanding of the jobs that exercise a managerial 
function and concluded that 111 posts which genuinely undertake the role of a 
manager within the Council’s structure. It was concluded that this was not an 
excessive number considering the size of the workforce and the variety of services 
provided, and that the structural adaptations undertaken as part of the review meant 
that our working arrangements are consistent with the Ffordd Gwynedd principles. 

As a result of confirming those posts that undertake a managerial role, an amended 
job description for managers was drawn-up and consulted upon. The job description 
notes the expectations that are common to all managers who lead a team of 
individuals within the Council in future. 

As has already been pointed out, another important development in this context is 
the establishment of the project on promoting the role of women in leadership. The 
foundations for driving this work during the year were set, with projections that we will 
see the fruits of that work over the coming two years.   
  
9. Workforce Planning

There is a close link between this work and the plans already referred to in the 
context of identifying and developing talent. However, alongside developing talent, 
every manager must focus on what other possible gaps could arise within his/her 
team in the future. This could be a gap in expertise and/or capacity that currently 
exists or a situation where that expertise or capacity does not currently exist.      

An item on this expectation from managers' work, was presented at the series of 
Managers' Network meetings in March 2019. Consequently, the Human Resources 
Service is collaborating with an increasing number of Council services to consider 
and establish the needs for workforce planning and then assist them to address the 
matters being highlighted. 

10.Local Conditions of Employment

The efforts to review and ensure that staff working conditions reflect the Council's 
culture is one of the priorities within the Ffordd Gwynedd Plan. The Group which 
leads the project has spent much of the year consulting on some of the work 
conditions as well as ensuring a clear understanding and correct implementation of 
those conditions amended during the year, i.e. travelling costs, on-call payments, 
working during unsociable hours and salary protection. In addition, the policy relating 
to staff's use of social media was updated.  

Page 32

mailto:cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.


www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru

Contact:
01286 679868
01286 679490

cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.cymru

A new code of conduct for staff will be published soon, along with a change 
management framework for restructuring services. Further research and consultation 
has also been undertaken on developing the "on-call" and salary protection policies, 
in line with one of the promises made within the latest local collective agreement with 
the trade unions.  Work was also undertaken on new policies in the transgender and 
menopause fields, neither of which were included previously within the local 
conditions. It is anticipated that those policies will be ready for publication during the 
coming year. 

11.Recruitment and Appointment 

See below statistical details regarding the number of jobs advertised by the Council 
over the last four years together with the number of applications received and also 
the number of vacancies which needed to be re-advertised. Analysing these details 
again contributes to our ability to identify fields in which the Council needs to focus its 
attentions in relation to developing expertise and planning the workforce for the 
future.

Year
Number of 

jobs 
advertised

Number of 
Applications 

Number of jobs 
re-advertised

Number of 
applications 

for the second 
advert

2015 442 2525 30 106
2016 472 2312 47 179
2017 555 3281 57 240
2018 444 2293 70 187

The number of posts advertised in 2018 has reduced to a level similar to what was 
experienced back in 2015. However, the number of applications received in response 
to the advertisements are lower and also the number of jobs where there was a need 
to re-advertise has increased substantially.  

This reflects the problems currently faced in the context of attracting applicants to 
work in some areas such as the care sector, social work, catering and cleaning, and 
in the past year, the youth service. 

You will be aware of the efforts and attention currently being given to the lack of 
applicants for jobs in the care sector. This attention has intensified over the past 
months, with the intention to reduce concerns regarding service continuity and the 
ability to recruit and retain staff. 
 
Officers in the Adults, Health and Well-being Department will continue to collaborate 
closely with the Human Resources and Organisational Learning and Development 
Service in order to succeed in this respect. 

Page 33

mailto:cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.


www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru

Contact:
01286 679868
01286 679490

cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.cymru

12.Staff Benefits

Considerable efforts have been made recently to extend the benefits offered, in 
terms of working for the Council, and to raise awareness amongst the workforce of 
those benefits. There are now 1369 staff who are members of the Vectis discount 
scheme (which offers significant savings on goods) whilst 150 local businesses 
already participate in the local discount scheme.

The work of drawing the attention of more staff to these opportunities, as well as 
seeking to increase the number of local businesses involved in the discount scheme, 
is continuing with forecasts that numbers will increase further in the coming year.  

13.Ffordd Gwynedd Scheme 

The first step of immersing all Council managers in the basic principles of Ffordd 
Gwynedd, in order to ensure an understanding of the concepts, has been achieved 
to a great extent. This part of the Plan will continue for new managers and future 
prospective managers however, the focus from now on will be on the second stream, 
namely to implement a programme that will empower service teams to reflect on their 
current working arrangements. 

Providing managers with this information and these skills is key to enable us to 
deliver for the people of Gwynedd but it is essential that the expectations now filter 
down further to every member of staff across the Council. Essentially, we will look to 
measure the change in the terms of staff behaviour and work culture that is required 
in order to embed the "way of working" in all Council activity. We will achieve this 
through a combination of asking, observing and assessing whether staff take 
ownership of the change and the responsibility belonging to each post. 

Furthermore, a programme of support and training has been put in place to extend 
existing arrangements within some services, where emphasis is placed on the need 
for a manager and a member of the team to undertake a continuous discussion on 
attainment, performance and personal development, in order to ensure that 
evaluation is undertaken promptly and effectively. 

As noted previously, every individual Council employee will receive an amended job 
description that will confirm the expectations of them in the context of the behaviours 
and the "way of working" attributed to Ffordd Gwynedd. The ongoing appraisal 
discussion will focus on the expectations on all individuals.   

The Ffordd Gwynedd Scheme for the three years to come will highlight these 
developments as cornerstones for establishing an appropriate culture across the 
Council.    

Page 34

mailto:cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.


www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru

Contact:
01286 679868
01286 679490

cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.cymru

CONCLUSIONS

All the statistical information contained here, with careful analysis, is of assistance to 
managers and those officers who advise them, to plan services and identify in a 
timely manner those matters which need further research and implementation. This 
becomes increasingly important within a work culture where decisions made on the 
basis of full and robust evidence lies at its core. 

Furthermore, the other details submitted regarding progress within the various fields 
prioritised show the steps which are being taken, not only to address existing 
requirements within the workforce, but also anticipated future requirements.

There are messages that need to be taken seriously if one wishes to ensure the best 
use is made of the Council's most important resource. The focus for the year to come 
will be based on these messages with the aim of not only maintaining services, but 
also on showing progress and continuous improvement in what is offered to the 
people of Gwynedd. 

This means, in line with the information included in the annual report, that our efforts 
during 2019/20 need to concentrate on;

i) Workforce planning for the future with specific attention to recruitment 
problems arising within the care sector

ii) Promotion of mental well-being and staff health in general 
iii) Reinforcing the work culture and the expected behaviours across the 

Council
iv) Developing the current leadership together with introducing steps to 

encourage more women to undertake senior leadership responsibilities

VIEWS OF THE STATUTORY OFFICERS

Monitoring Officer:

The report is an opportunity for the Cabinet to take an overview of the Council staff’s 
situation and profiles. No comments in relation to propriety.

Head of Finance Department:

The report contains useful information for dealing with employment issues and 
workforce development.  However, the decision submitted for Cabinet approval does 
not create any additional expenditure commitment, hence I have no comments to add 
to the report from a financial propriety perspective.

Page 35

mailto:cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.


 
REPORT TO THE CABINET 

 
Meeting Date:        17 September 2019 
 
Cabinet Member:  Councillor Cemlyn Rees Williams 
 
Subject:  Ysgol Abersoch  
 
Contact Officer: Gwern ap Rhisiart – Area Education Officer 

 

 
The decision sought and the purpose of the report 
 
The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet approval to initiate formal discussions with the governing body and 
other relevant stakeholders of Ysgol Abersoch due to concerns over the school numbers, thus enabling a range of 
possible options to be drawn up relating to the future of the school. 
 

 
1. Background  
 

1.1 Ysgol Abersoch is located in the centre of the village of Abersoch near Pwllheli, providing education for 
pupils aged 3-8. The school has a capacity of 34 (Nursery to Year 3), and in January 2019, had 12 full-time 
pupils, aged 3-8, and 1 part-time nursery pupil on the register. Today (September 2019), numbers have 
dropped to 7 pupils aged 3-8, and 2 nursery pupils. 

 
1.2 In July 2019, as a result of a recent drop in the numbers at Ysgol Abersoch, officers from the Education 

Department met with the governing body of Ysgol Abersoch to discuss low numbers at the school and to 
explain that the next step would be to seek Cabinet approval to commence a formal discussion with the 
governing body and other relevant stakeholders, to consider the options for the future of the school.  

 
1.3 Ysgol Abersoch was last inspected in June 2017, and it was concluded that the school's performance was 

'Good'. In addition, in January 2019, as part of the Welsh Government's national system for categorising 
schools, the school was placed in the 'Yellow' category of support. The Government's definition of a 'Yellow' 
category school is "an effective school that is already doing well and knows what areas it needs to improve.”

 

2.  Reason why decision is needed  

2.1 Pupil numbers at the school over recent years have been generally low, although a recent fall has meant 
that there are now 9 pupils attending the school (2019-20). 

2.2 In addition, numbers are projected to remain low over the next few years. The September 2018 projections 
show that in September 2021 we are expecting 9 pupils to be on the school roll.  

2.3 Given these challenges, permission is sought to enter into formal discussions with the governing body and 
other relevant stakeholders to consider possible options for the future of Ysgol Abersoch. 

 
3.  Reason and justification behind the ‘decision sought’ 
 
3.1 Low numbers and surplus places 

 
3.1.1 It can be seen from the graph below that there has been a reduction in pupil numbers at Ysgol Abersoch 

over recent years. With 9 pupils on the register in September 2019, school numbers have more than halved 
since 2016. Comparing school numbers since 1980, we see that school numbers were at their highest and 
the school was full in 1981, with 35 pupils. 

Page 36

Agenda Item 7



 
 
 

 
 

 
3.1.2 In September 2019, there are only 9 pupils on the register, a decrease of 63% since 2016. With a capacity 

of 34, this means that the school is 74% empty. 
 
3.1.3 In addition, in September 2018, out of the 34 pupils aged between 3 to 8 who live in the Ysgol Abersoch 

catchment area, 24 (71%) choose to attend nearby schools. As Ysgol Abersoch is a school for infants and 
children up to the age of 8, the pupils transfer to neighbouring primary schools after Year 3. The nearest 
school is Ysgol Sarn Bach, a 3-11 primary school located in the village of Sarn Bach, about a mile away from 
Abersoch. 

 
3.2 Projections 

  
3.2.1 According to the school's projections calculated in September 2018, when there were 13 pupils registered 

at the school, it was anticipated the school numbers will remain low in years to come. Below are the full 
projections calculated in September 2018: 

 

 
*Actual pupils numbers in September 2019 = 9 

 

 

 

4.  Relevant Considerations   
 

4.1     School Organisation Code 011/2018: Any process will be conducted in accordance with Welsh Government 
guidelines (School Organisation Code 011/2018). 

 
 
 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Ysgol Abersoch Pupil Numbers 2010 - 2019

 Nursery 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 Total 

September 2019 
Projections* 

2 1 2 3 3 - - - 11* 

September 2020 
Projections 

2 2 1 2 3 - - - 10 

September 2021 
Projections 

2 2 2 1 2 - - - 9 

Page 37



 
 
5. Next Steps & Timetable  
 
5.1 Subject to the Cabinet decision, there follows an initial outline timetable for discussions: 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
OPINION OF STATUTORY OFFICERS 
 
Monitoring Officer: 
 

“It is explained in the report that the intent is to identify possible steps to address the challenges facing 
the school. It is also acknowledged that there are a range of matters which need to be considered in 
trying to identify possible answers and actions. It is also noted that the provisions of the Schools 
Organisation Code 11/2018 will have a central role in the considerations and that options on the way 
ahead will be the subject of further consideration by the Cabinet when the work is concluded. From a 
propriety perspective, what is proposed is appropriate.” 
 
Head of Finance: 
 

“I support the decision sought.” 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Next Steps Outline Timetable 

Hold formal meetings with the Governing Body and relevant 
stakeholders of Ysgol Abersoch to consider and formulate possible 

options. 
October 2019 

Report back to Cabinet following local feedback. 
+ 

Depending on the outcome of the local discussions, seek 
Cabinet approval to undertake a statutory consultation on 
the preferred option if required. 

November 2019 

Page 38



Local Members’ Views: 

“The circumstances that have brought the pupil numbers down, and thus bringing the school to the 

attention of this process, have been sudden, and have nothing to do with the quality of education 

provision at the school, and has been out of the hands of the school.  

The report mentions that numbers have declined over recent years but does not acknowledge the 

increase in numbers between 2013 and 2017 (a 40% increase), which shows that numbers can 

change sharply over two years.  

I feel it is important to highlight this as it will be a public report, and therefore parents who may send 

pupils to Ysgol Abersoch may get the wrong impression that this situation has happened because of 

the school’s performance.  

It is important that the Cabinet Member and the Education Department are aware of my views and 

that I expect the Department to bring various options to the board, in conjunction with Governors, 

Staff and Parents before a final decision is made on the issue. 

I am confident following a presentation by Education Department Officers at the school that this will 

happen. 

This probably sums up my concerns.” 

Page 39



 

GWYNEDD COUNCIL CABINET 

 
 

Date of Meeting: 17 September, 2019 

Cabinet Member:  Councillor Catrin Wager 

Contact Officer: Steffan Jones, Head of Highways and Municipal 

Contact Telephone 
Number: 

32402 

Title of Item: Waste Enforcement Scrutiny Investigation Report 

 

 
Report to a meeting of Gwynedd Council Cabinet  

 
 

1. THE DECISION SOUGHT 
 

1.1 Implement the recommendations of the working group Scrutiny Investigation 
(enclosed report) which includes the following: 
 

1.2 To use the powers of the Environmental Protection Act (1990), Sections 46 and 47 
which relate to waste containers, to introduce a new procedure to fine residents and 
businesses where and when necessary, who dispose of their waste on the wrong 
day or in the incorrect way, as a matter of priority. 

 
1.3 To undertake a county-wide promotion campaign to raise awareness of the waste 

and recycling arrangements, with a particular focus on the City of Bangor and 
acknowledging the geographical and demographical differences within the county 
at different times of the year. 

 
1.4 To place "QR Code" stickers on recycling receptacles to allow 24 hour access to 

residents to their waste and recycling collection days and information on items that 
can be recycled. 

 
1.5 To formalise collaboration arrangements between Council Departments. 

 
1.6 To increase awareness of the Clinical Collections Services and Special Collection 

Service available for older people and disabled people to dispose of their waste. 
This can be done as a part of the broader promotion campaign. 

 
1.7 To promote the current network of Recycling Centres and hold a specific 

campaign for the Bulky Waste Collection Service. 
 
 
 

Page 40

Agenda Item 8



 
2. INTRODUCTION 
 
2.1 Following a Notice of Motion submitted by Councillor Lesley Day to the Council 

meeting on 2 March, 2017, the Council adopted the former member’s motion to 
ask the Cabinet Members to consider issuing penalties as a matter of urgency to 
residents and businesses. 

 
2.2 In line with the Council’s Scrutiny process, the matter was referred to the 

Communities Scrutiny Committee which decided that the best course of action 
would be to undertake a scrutiny investigation on the matter. 

 
2.3 The objective of the Investigation Group was to draw up clear recommendations 

based upon robust evidence for consideration by the Cabinet Member.  The 
investigation brief can be seen in Appendix 1 of the Scrutiny Investigation report 
(Appendix A). 

 
2.4 The background and current situation is highlighted in section 3 of the Scrutiny 

Investigation Report (Appendix A). 
 
2.5 Detailed work has been undertaken in order to understand the current situation, 

look at the relevant legislations including engaging with officers working in the 
Planning and Landlord Licencing field. 

 
2.6 The Waste and Recycling Service including the Street Cleansing Service provides 

a very valuable service for the people of Gwynedd but are under pressure to 
respond to the needs and high expectations especially in same areas. 

 
2.7 In order that we ensure the streets within Gwynedd are clean and tidy, it is 

essential we build up a good partnership between the Council and the residents 
and businesses of the County. 

 
2.8 During the investigation it became clear that a much stricter approach must be 

taken towards environmental crimes and to come to a stricter arrangement for 
imposing fines. 

 
2.9 The recommendations set out steps to do so, including a specific recommendation 

to issue a fine as a matter of priority for residents and businesses who dispose of 
their waste on the wrong day or in the incorrect way. 

 
An Equality Impact Assessment was carried out as part of the Scrutiny 
Investigation. Proposed operational procedures will closely adhere to this 
evidence as enforcement is unlikely to be appropriate if an individual is vulnerable, 
for example due to age related ill-health, or a mental or physical disability.  All such 
cases will need to be resolved with utmost sensitivity. 

 
2.10 We therefore ask that all the recommendations as noted are adopted in order that 

we may follow a procedure where residents and businesses: 
 

- dispose of their waste on the wrong day 
- who dispose their waste in the incorrect way 
- who leave their receptacles out on the street at all times. 

Page 41



 
3. THE REASON FOR THE NEED FOR A DECISION 

 
3.1 Many communities in Gwynedd suffer from problems caused by people disposing 

of their waste on the wrong day or in the wrong way.  The Council deals with a high 
number of complaints from the public about these issues. 

 
3.2 Sections 46 and 47 of the Environmental Protection Act (1990) authorises County 

Councils to take enforcement steps in relation to crimes relating to waste collection 
and to issue fines where: 

 

 A receptacle left out on the wrong day, 

 A receptacle is left out in the wrong location, 

 A receptacle is left out on the street permanently, 

 There is too much waste for the receptacle, 

 Waste is being disposed of in the wrong receptacle. 
 

 Some Councils are already using these powers. 
 
3.3 The Current Procedure 
 

- When the Council becomes aware of the problem, a review is held which includes 
input. 

 
- From one of the Council's Street Enforcement Wardens. 

 
- If the individual complies, no further action is taken. 

 
- If the individual fails to comply, an informal warning letter is sent by the Council. 

 
- If the individual complies, no further action is taken. 

 
- If the individual is unable to comply for the second time, the current policy does 

not allow for the Legislation to be implemented. This means that the bins continue 
to remain in the street, causing an obstruction to public roads and pavements, 
making it difficult for pedestrians to use them, particularly wheelchair users and 
parents with prams. Of course, this also creates an unfavourable image of 
communities across the county. 
 

- Should the Council incorporate the Environmental Protection Act (1990), it would 
be possible to issue a formal warning unless the individual would comply after 
receiving an informal letter. Further steps would then lead to a Court case. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 42



 
Appendices  
 
Appendix A – Scrutiny Investigation on Waste Enforcement – Comunities Scrutiny 
Committee (04.07.19) 
 
 
 
 

4. VIEWS OF THE STATUTORY OFFICERS 
 

 
Monitoring Officer:  

 
The report is the result substantial work undertaken i respect of scrutiny and the 
recommendations follow from this work.  The Legal Service has been advising in 
terms of enforcement matters and it is expected that this will continue whilst 
establishing the necessary procedures.  No further comments in terms of probity. 
 
 
 
Head of Finance Department: 

 
The Highways and Municipal Department are not asking for a direct budget to 
implement this decision.  The Department have declared that they are confident 
that they will be able to absorb the additional work of promoting and raising 
awareness within the current resources of their waste/recycling and enforcement 
teams.  It is anticipated that all of the recommendations will be achieved within 12 
months. 

 
 
 

 

Page 43



 

APPENDIX A 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Investigation Members 
Councillor Stephen Churchman (Chair) 
Councillor Keith Jones 
Councillor Mike Stevens   
 
Officers 
Jennifer Rao (Lead Officer) 
Steffan Jones (Head of the Highways and Municipal Department) 
Peter Simpson (Streetscene Services Manager) 
Lowri Evans (Support Officer) 
 
 
Gwynedd Council 
Shirehall Street, 
Caernarfon, 
Gwynedd 
LL55 1SH 
 
Date: 4th July 2019  
 
 
 
 
 

  

Report - Scrutiny Investigation on 
Waste Enforcement  
 

Page 44



 

APPENDIX A 

 

 

CONTENT 
 
         
Foreword by the Chair       3    
 

 
1. Recommendations      4   
2. Introduction        5 
3. Background and current situation   6  
4. Methodology        7  
5. The Evidence considered     10  
6. Recommendations      12 
7. Conclusions        15 

 
 
 
Acknowledgements        17 
  
Appendices:                            18                                         
 
Appendix 1  The Investigation Brief  
Appendix 2 Examples of Evidence  
Appendix 3 Presentation on the Environmental Protection Act (1990) and the provisions of 

benefit to the Council when dealing with waste problems  
Appendix 4 Minutes of the Focus Group with Bangor University Students  
Appendix 5 Waste and Recycling Questionnaire 

Appendix 6 Waste and Recycling Questionnaire Results  
Appendix 7  Minutes of the Focus Group with the Falls Prevention Group and Focus Group with 

the Dementia Go Group  
Appendix 8  Questionnaire and Result of Questionnaires with Landlords  
Appendix 9 Proposed Action Flow Chart, Sections 46 and 47  
Appendix 10 Equality Impact Assessment  

        
 
            

Page 45



 

APPENDIX A 

 

 

FOREWORD BY THE CHAIR 
 
My report notes various issues and steps that the Cabinet could take in order to place the people 

of Gwynedd at the centre when planning and providing waste collection services and when co-

planning and co-producing these services.  

 

This Investigation acknowledges the huge amount of work that is already taking place and 

therefore we have focused on suggestions to introduce further improvements.   Our sincere 

thanks are extended to all officers who have contributed to the work and to our requests for 

data and information.  

 

Although we have considered the core element of Waste Management Enforcement, we have 

also noted a number of fields within the service where we believe that changes could lead to 

improvements to the service for customers and the broader population of Gwynedd.  

 

Gratitude is also expressed to the Members of the Working Group who have worked with me on 

this Investigation, spending hours delving under the surface of this issue, and scrutinising the 

field thoroughly.   We are particularly grateful to those who have contributed evidence and 

readily supported us in our work. Thanks are also conveyed to Cllr. Catrin Wager for Chairing the 

Working Group until her appointment to the Cabinet.    

 

 
 
Councillor Stephen Churchman (Dolbenmaen Ward)  
Chair of Investigation 
 
July 2018 

  

Page 46



 

APPENDIX A 

 

 

1. Recommendations 

1. To use the powers of the Environmental Protection Act (1990), Sections 46 and 47 which 

relate to waste containers, to introduce a new procedure to fine residents and businesses 

where and when  necessary, who dispose of their waste on the wrong day or in the 

incorrect way, as a matter of priority.    

 

2. To undertake a county-wide promotion campaign to raise awareness of the waste and 

recycling arrangements, with a particular focus on the City of Bangor and acknowledging 

the geographical and demographical differences within the county at different times of the 

year.   

 

3. To place "QR Code" stickers on recycling receptacles to allow 24 hour access to residents 

to their waste and recycling collection days and information on items that can be recycled.   

 

4. To formalise collaboration arrangements between Council Departments.   

 

5. To increase awareness of the Clinical Collections Services and Special Collection Service 

available for older people and disabled people to dispose of their waste.   This can be 

done as a part of the broader promotion campaign.    

 

6. To promote the current network of Recycling Centres and hold a specific campaign for the 

Bulky Waste Collection Service.  

 
 

See page 12 for further information. 

 

 

  

Page 47



 

APPENDIX A 

 

 

2. Introduction 
 

2.1 Following a Notice of Motion submitted by Councillor Lesley Day to the Council meeting on 

2 March 2017, the Council adopted the former-Member's motion to ask Cabinet Members 

to consider issuing penalties as a matter of urgency to residents and businesses: 

 

- who dispose of their waste on the wrong day,  

- who dispose their waste in the incorrect way,  

- who leave their receptacle out on the street at all times.   

 

      The Investigation brief can be seen in Appendix 1.  

 

2.2 In line with the Council's scrutiny processes, the matter was referred to the Communities 

Scrutiny Committee which decided that the best course of action would be to undertake a 

Scrutiny Investigation on the matter.  

     

The following were appointed by the Communities Scrutiny Committee as members of the  

Investigation Group: 

o Councillor Stephen Churchman (Chair) 

o Councillor Keith Jones,  

o Councillor Mike Stevens, 

o Councillor Catrin Wager (up to 1 April 2019, when Councillor Wager was appointed 

to the Cabinet).   

 

2.3 It was agreed that the objective of the Investigation Group would be to draw up clear 

recommendations based on robust evidence for consideration by the Cabinet Member, and 

to give appropriate consideration to any barriers and how they can be resolved.  

  

Page 48



 

APPENDIX A 

 

 

3. Background and Current Situation  

 
3.1 Many communities in Gwynedd are suffering from problems caused by those who dispose 

of their waste on the wrong day or in the incorrect way. The Council deals with a high 

number of complaints from the public about this matter.  

 

3.2 Sections 46 and 47 of the Environmental Protection Act (1990) authorises County Councils 

to take enforcement steps in relation to crimes relating to waste collection and to issue 

fines where:   
 

 A receptacle is left out on the wrong day,  

 A receptacle is left out in the wrong location, 

 A receptacle is left out on the street permanently,   

 There is too much waste for the receptacle,  

 Waste is being disposed of in the wrong receptacle.   

 

It was noted that some Councils are already using these powers.  

 

3.3 The Current Procedure   

i. When the Council becomes aware of the problem, a review is held which includes input 

from one of the Council's Street Enforcement Wardens.   

ii. If the individual complies, no further action is taken. 

iii. If the individual fails to comply, an informal warning letter is sent by the Council.  

iv. If the individual complies, no further action is taken.  

v. If the individual is unable to comply for the second time, the current policy does not 

allow for the Legislation to be implemented.   This means that the bins continue to 

remain in the street, causing an obstruction to public roads and pavements, making it 

difficult for pedestrians to use them, particularly wheelchair users and parents with 

prams.   Of course, this also creates an unfavourable image of communities across the 

county.   

Page 49



 

APPENDIX A 

 

 

vi. Should the Council incorporate the Environmental Protection Act (1990), it would be 

possible to issue a formal warning unless the individual would comply after receiving 

an informal letter.   Further steps would then lead to a Court case.   

 

As a Working Group, we are aware that it is important to strike a balance - an enforcement 

procedure needs to be considered; however, there is a need to accept situations where 

solutions are not available for every element, e.g. narrow streets and back streets. 

 

4. Methodology 
 

4.1 Seven meetings of the Scrutiny Working Group were held between July 2018 and June 2019 

in order to gather evidence and discuss recommendations.  A detailed work programme 

was agreed upon to address the brief.   There were several different elements to the work 

programme: 

 

4.2   Element 1 – Understanding and analysing the current situation.  The Streetscene 

Manager (Highways and Municipal) provided considerable input to assist the members of 

the Investigation to gain an understanding of the field.    

 

 Key information was received about the nature of the existing service;  

 Two site visits were arranged to gather evidence, one in Bangor and one in 

Porthmadog.   Feedback was received from the Members of the Working Group 

noting that the experience of visiting these locations had been very valuable to the 

investigation;  

 A presentation was given by the Streetscene Manager on the current situation, 

including photographic evidence.   Examples of the evidence gathered can be seen 

in Appendix 2.   

 

4.3   Element 2 - Relevant Legislations  

 

 A presentation was received from Geraint Brython Edwards (Gwynedd Council 

Solicitor) on relevant legislation, namely the Environmental Protection Act (1990) 

Page 50



 

APPENDIX A 

 

 

("The Act").   This Act contains many provisions which assist the Council to deal with 

waste problems on land in general,  including: 

- fly tipping (section 33)  

- breach of duty of care in relation to waste (section 34)  

- waste receptacles (sections 46, 47, 47ZA and 47ZB)  

- statutory nuisance (sections 79 and 80).   

 These are the sections of the Act that deal specifically with waste receptacles and 

are therefore most relevant to waste disposal on the incorrect day or in the 

incorrect manner:   

 
o Section 46: household waste containers   

 
o Section 47: commercial or industrial waste containers   

 
o Section 47ZA: fixed penalty notices  

 
o Section 47ZB: amount of fixed penalty under section 47ZA  

 

 

4.4     Element 3 - Engaging with officers working in the Planning and Landlord Licensing field  

 

 A presentation was given by Cara Owen (Planning Manager) on the issue of waste 

enforcement and planning arrangements.   A discussion was held on ways in which 

the Planning Service could continue to improve the situation by ensuring that 

sufficient storage facilities were being considered for the waste and recycling 

containers when determining planning applications.  

 

 It was noted that it would not be possible to demand a storage area of a specific 

size, but a request could be made for sufficient space to be earmarked.  

 

 If a compound was created in any new development (flats), a condition could be 

imposed that the area be managed correctly with a bespoke management plan. 

 

 It was noted that consideration also needed to be given to transportation matters 

within housing developments - e.g. suitable entrance for waste collection vehicles 

and turning space for lorries.    

Page 51



 

APPENDIX A 

 

 

 

 A presentation was received from Carys Fôn Williams (Housing Manager - Supply 

and Enforcement) to share information on the enforcement rights held by Gwynedd 

Council Housing Department Officers to control waste.   

 

 It was highlighted that the Housing Department implemented the Housing Act 

(Wales) 2014, and in accordance with the Act, every landlord must register and 

submit a licence application.  One of the requirements of the licence is that the 

landlord has to inform tenants of the refuse and recycling collection arrangements. 

If the tenant does not comply, Housing Service officers could use their enforcement 

powers (provided that the waste is within the property's curtilage).  

 

 It was noted that Waste and Recycling Officers ensured a sufficient provision of 

receptacles for houses in multiple occupation, i.e. larger bins for larger houses, and 

visited every student property during the first term in the University's timetable.  

 

 It was noted that the Housing Officers did not have the right to punish a landlord if 

the tenant was at fault.  Nevertheless, if the curtilage was untidy, officers would 

correspond with the landlord in writing or would visit the property to seek a 

resolution.  

 

4.5 Observations were considered from some Members of the Working Group who had 

received comments from members of the public about their experiences of the waste and 

recycling service.   These included matters outside this brief, mainly that the collections 

were made before 6am and that they could be inconvenient and noisy for residents.  

However, the Department is currently in the process of introducing changes to the 

collection arrangements in order to ensure improvements.   

 
  

Page 52



 

APPENDIX A 

 

 

5. The Evidence considered 

 
5.1 The Scrutiny Investigation Group considered evidence:  

 

 By receiving a presentation from Peter Simpson (Streetscene Services Manager, 

Highways and Municipal Department, Gwynedd Council), on the current situation 

regarding bins being permanently out on the street.  

 

 By receiving a presentation from Geraint Brython Edwards (Gwynedd Council 

Solicitor) on the Environmental Protection Act (1990) and the provisions that could 

benefit the Council when dealing with waste problems. See Appendix 3. 

 

 A visit to the City of Bangor to see the length and breadth of the problems relating to 

waste enforcement in the City. The visit was held by Peter Simpson (Streetscene 

Services Manager), who led a tour around the commercial area of the City (High Street), 

residential areas, including areas with a high density of students, such as Upper Bangor 

(Menai Ward), and Cae Llepa (Deiniol Ward) and private residential areas in the Hirael 

Ward.  

 

 A visit to the town of Porthmadog to gather evidence of the problems in the area.  The 

visit was conducted by John Clive Price (Waste and Streets Enforcement Officer) and 

Alan Hughes (Street Enforcement Warden), who led a tour around the town, focusing 

on the locations with the greatest number of waste and recycling problems.  Residential 

and commercial areas were visited in order to gather relevant evidence. 

 

 By receiving a presentation from Carys Fôn Williams (Housing Manager - Supply and 

Enforcement, Adults, Health and Well-being Department, Gwynedd Council), on the 

HMO practice guidance.  

 

 By receiving a presentation from Cara Owen (Planning Manager, Environment 

Department, Gwynedd Council) on the issue of waste enforcement and planning 

arrangements.  

Page 53



 

APPENDIX A 

 

 

 

 By holding a focus group with students from Bangor University, asking them about 

their use of the waste and recycling service.  See Appendix 4.  

 

 By engaging with Bangor University students during the Freshers Week Fair 

(Serendipity) at the University, and engaging with the people of Gwynedd at the 

Gwynedd Older People Conference.  The questionnaire can be seen in Appendix 5, and 

the results can be seen in Appendix 6.   

 

 By engaging with the people of Gwynedd and encouraging them to complete a 

questionnaire on their use of the waste and recycling arrangements, any obstructions 

facing them and where they store their bins on the day when they are not collected.  

The questionnaire can be seen in Appendix 5, and the results in Appendix 6.   

 

 By holding a focus group with the Falls Prevention group at Glaslyn Leisure Centre.  

The results can be seen in Appendix 7.  

 

 By holding a focus group with the DementiaGo group at Glaslyn Leisure Centre. The 

results can be seen in Appendix 7. Thanks to Gwenllïan Roberts (Recycling Officer) and 

Lois Owens (Engagement Support Officer) for contributing to the success of the 

engagement sessions.  

 

 By engaging with Cllr Peter Read as the Gwynedd Disabilities Champion and as a 

wheelchair user to identify whether any improvements can be made to the waste and 

recycling service to assist wheelchair users to make full use of the service.   The 

suggestions received from this engagement have been included in the 

recommendations of the report.  

 

 By engaging with landlords who have properties in Gwynedd by means of an electronic 

questionnaire, in order to ascertain their views on the waste and recycling service.  A 

copy of the questionnaire and the results can be seen in Appendix 8. 

  

Page 54



 

APPENDIX A 

 

 

6. Recommendations 
 

6.1 The Investigation has identified a number of recommendations where it is considered 

that there is room for improvement.  This is not a criticism of the service that is 

responsible for the field.   However, in order to further improve our response to the 

demand and attempt to respond to the challenges facing the service to the future, the 

Scrutiny Working Group is proposing recommendations to be submitted to the Scrutiny 

Committee and the Cabinet Member.  

 
6.2 It is recommended that powers from the Environmental Protection Act (1990), 

Sections 46 and 47 which relate to waste containers are used to introduce a new 

procedure where and when necessary, whereby fines are imposed on residents and 

businesses who dispose of their waste on the wrong day or in the incorrect way as a 

matter of priority. 

 

 Throughout the investigation, much evidence was gathered which shows that there is 

an obvious problem with bins being left out on the street all the time, and receptacles 

being used incorrectly.   By using the powers of the Act, it is anticipated that this 

situation can be improved.  A flow chart showing how we will recommend for the Act 

to be implemented can be seen in Appendix 9.   The successful implementation of these 

powers will depend on back-office support and effective software.   

 

 It is important to note that it is not the intention to start fining everyone immediately, 

however, introducing powers under Section 46 and 47 will also include a 

comprehensive promotional campaign to change behaviours.   As a part of the 

Investigation, an Equality Impact Assessment was carried out and the Assessment gives 

specific attention to different equality features, such as race, gender, language, religion 

or belief and age.  See the full report in Appendix 10.  Every case will be reviewed on 

its own merits and we will not discriminate against anyone because of their equality 

characteristics or circumstances.  

  

Page 55



 

APPENDIX A 

 

 

6.3 It is recommended for a county-wide promotion campaign to be undertaken to raise 

awareness of the waste and recycling arrangements, with particular focus on the City 

of Bangor and acknowledging the geographical and demographical differences within 

the county at different times of the year.   

 

 It is recommended that Gwynedd Council collaborates closely with Bangor University 

in order to improve the quality of the local environment and raise the awareness of 

students of the waste and recycling arrangements in the City.   At the moment, the 

Council and the University have a good working relationship, and collaborate on a 

number of campaigns, e.g. the "Hey Punk, sort your junk" campaign - namely an end of 

term campaign to dispose of waste responsibly and to reduce rubbish on the city's 

streets.   

 

 In order to ensure the greatest possible impact, it is recommended that specific 

promotional activities are held at different periods of the academic year, using a range 

of various methods and mediums, e.g. social media campaigns by using video clips, 

door-to-door campaigns by Recycling Officers, and on-line campaigns by using the 

Council and University websites.   

 

6.4 It is recommended that QR Code Stickers are placed on recycling receptacles to allow 

residents 24 hour access to their waste and recycling collection days and information 

on items that can be recycled.   

 

 At the moment, paper calendars are distributed to every home, and details of collection 

days are available on the Council's website.  However, residents (specifically students) 

are not always aware of the waste and recycling calendar dates.    

 

 It is recommended that stickers with QR codes are placed on receptacles that will link 

directly to the relevant pages on the Council's website, where residents can check their 

collection day and download a copy of their calendar by inputting their post code.  

  

Page 56



 

APPENDIX A 

 

 

6.5 It is recommended that collaboration arrangements should be formalised between 

Council Departments.  

 

 Following discussions with the Working Group, the Street Enforcement Manager, the 

Planning Manager and Housing Manager, it is clear that there are opportunities to 

improve the situation by strengthening the relationship and the communication across 

the Departments and Services.   

 

 Environment Department: There is a clear opportunity for the Council's Environment 

Department to give detailed attention to concerns relating to unsuitable HMO 

accommodation developments in a number of locations across the City of Bangor.   To 

this end, the procedure introduced recently of drawing attention and questioning 

applicants for bin storage area considerations in planning applications is to be 

welcomed.    Consideration should also be given to transportation matters within new 

housing developments - e.g. suitable entrance and turning space for lorries.   The 

Planning Service could manage this also.  

 

 Highways and Municipal Department:  It is recommended that the Highways and 

Municipal Department establishes a general e-mail inbox in order to receive planning 

consultations and that it collaborates more closely with other Council Departments and 

Services, for example, with the Adults, Health and Well-being Department to ensure 

that the landlords of houses in multiple occupation (HMOs) ensure that there is a 

sufficient provision of receptacles, e.g. by ensuring larger bins for large houses and with 

the Environment Department regarding planning consultations.  

 

6.6 It is recommended that awareness should be raised of the Clinical Collections Services 

and Special Collection Service.   

 

 A Special Collection Service is available for those who cannot take their bins or recycling 

boxes out to the collection point due to disability or illness.    

 

Page 57



 

APPENDIX A 

 

 

 During the focus groups with older people and the people living with dementia, it was 

noted that many individuals were unable to take their receptacles to the collection 

points, e.g. because of the weight of the receptacles.  

 

 It is suggested that the Department works with the Council’s Communication and 

Engagement Service to hold a promotional campaign to raise awareness of these 

valuable services.  

 

6.7 It is recommended to promote the existing network of Recycling Centres (locations 

and opening times) and hold a specific campaign for the Bulky Waste Collection 

Service.  

 

 The Recycling Centres are a resource that are highly valued by the residents of 

Gwynedd and is key to the effort to reduce fly tipping levels in the County. The Recycling 

Centres make an important contribution to the County's recycling levels with levels in 

the Centres being higher than the roadside recycling levels. 

 

 It is suggested that the Department considers working with the Council’s 

Communication and Engagement Service to hold a campaign to raise awareness of 

these services.   

 

7  Conclusions 

7.1 The Working Group is of the opinion that the Waste and Recycling Service provides a 

very valuable service for the people of Gwynedd but that they are under pressure to 

respond to needs and high expectations, especially in some areas.   

7.2 Over the last few years, the Service, as the rest of the Highways and Municipal 

Department had to cope with financial cuts, which meant that they had to prioritise 

their resources.      

7.3 If we are to ensure that the streets in Gwynedd are clean and tidy, it is essential that 

we build a good partnership between the Council and the residents and businesses of 

the County.   In the past, the Service's "behaviour change" campaigns has proved 

Page 58



 

APPENDIX A 

 

 

some success.  However, the demand is high and the resources available to address 

them are dwindling.   To the future, it is essential that a clear and firm focus on 

raising awareness and behaviour change campaigns are central to the work of the 

Service.    

7.4 There is much evidence that Gwynedd Council, in partnership with the University, has 

taken steps to deal with waste and recycling problems, by holding 'blitz' campaigns, 

publicity campaigns, the "Hey punk, sort your junk" campaign and discussions with 

the Officers from the Students Union.   As a result of the focus group with Bangor 

University students, it is clear that using social media and websites, as well as 

knocking on the doors of student accommodation, is the most effective way of raising 

awareness.  

7.5 As part of the Investigation, we made successful contact with 26 landlords, who were 

honest and open about their use of the service, their role and their engagement with 

tenants on waste and recycling matters.   

7.6 Research undertaken by the Investigation has shown that a much stricter approach 

must be taken towards environmental crimes and to move to stricter arrangements 

for imposing fines.  The above recommendations include steps to do so, including a 

specific recommendation to issue a fine as a matter of priority for residents and 

businesses who dispose of their waste on the wrong day or in the incorrect way and 

also a recommendation to raise awareness about waste and recycling arrangements 

so that the people of Gwynedd are prepared for the change.     

7.7 An Equality Impact Assessment was carried out as part of the Investigation.   The 

Assessment notes that the recommendation of issuing a fine as a matter of priority 

for residents and businesses who dispose of their waste on the wrong day or in the 

incorrect way is likely to have a marked negative impact on equality characteristics, 

provided that the steps noted are actioned.  

 
 
 
 

  

Page 59



 

APPENDIX A 

 

 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS: 
The members of the Scrutiny Investigation wish to thank the following who contributed evidence 
and gave valuable support to the investigation:  
 

 Steffan Jones (Head of Highways and Municipal Department) 

 Peter Simpson (Streetscene Services Manager, Highways and Municipal Department) 

 Jennifer Rao (Business Support Officer - Lead Officer for the Investigation, Corporate 

Support Department)  

 Lowri Evans (Member Support Officer, Support Officer for the Investigation, Corporate 

Support Department) 

 Councillor Mair Rowlands (Menai Ward, Bangor)  

 Councillor Catrin Wager (Menai Ward, Bangor and Cabinet Member for the Highways and 

Municipal Department)  

 Councillor Peter Read (Abererch Ward)  

 Geraint Brython Edwards (Solicitor, Gwynedd Council)  

 Gwenllïan Roberts (Waste and Recycling Officer, Highways and Municipal Department)  

 John Clive Price (Waste and Streets Enforcement Officer, Highways and Municipal 

Department) 

 Alan Hughes (Street Enforcement Officer, Highways and Municipal Department) 

 Cara Owen (Planning Manager, Environment Department)  

 Carys Fôn Williams (Housing Manager - Supply and Enforcement, Adults, Health and Well-

being Department) 

 Iwan Evans (Housing Environmental Health Officer, Adults, Health and Well-being 

Department)  

 Vera Jones (Democratic Services Manager, Corporate Support Department)  

 Emma Quaeck (DementiaGo Programme Manager, Adults, Health and Well-being 

Department)  

 Lois Owens (Engagement Support Officer, Corporate Support Department)   

 Delyth Gadlys Williams (Corporate Policy Officer, Corporate Support Department)  

 Gwynedd Council Translation Unit 

 Rhiannon Williams (Marketing Officer, Rent Smart Wales)  

 Gwen Holland (Sustainability Research Officer and Campus Waste Coordinator, Bangor 

University)  

Page 60



 

APPENDIX A 

 

 

APPENDICES 
 

Appendix 1 - The Investigation Brief  
 
Appendix 2 - Examples of Evidence  
 
Appendix 3 - Presentation from Geraint Brython Edwards of the Environmental Protection Act   
                       (1990) and the provisions of benefit to the Council when tackling waste problems  
 
Appendix 4 - Minutes of the Focus Group with Bangor University Students  
 
Appendix 5 - Waste and Recycling Questionnaire 

 
Appendix 6 - Waste and Recycling Questionnaire Results  
 
Appendix 7 - Minutes of the Focus Group with the Falls Prevention Group and Focus Group with    
                        the Dementia Go Group 

 
Appendix 8 - Questionnaire and Result of Questionnaires with Landlords  
 
Appendix 9 - Proposed Action Flow Chart, Sections 46 and 47 Environmental Protection Act   
                       (1990) 
 
Appendix 10 - Equality Impact Assessment  

Page 61



Appendix 1

Page 62



Appendix 1

Page 63



 

 

BINS PERMANENTLY OUT ON THE STREET 

 

 

Narrow pavement – dangerous to users 

Page 64



 

 

 

  

 

Page 65



 

 

 

 

Bins out on quiet residential back lanes 

Page 66



 

 

 

 

 

Busy main thoroughfares – negative impact on an area’s appearance  

Page 67



 

 Page 68



 

 

 

 

 

Page 69



 

 Page 70



 

 

 

Page 71



 

 

 

 

  

Page 72



 

 

 

 

  

Commercial bins within tourist and shopping areas – negative impact on 

the area’s appearance and local economy 

Page 73



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 74



Appendix 3

PRESENTATION TO WASTE ENFORCEMENT SCRUTINY INVESTIGATION ON LEGISLATION

YSTAFELL DWYRYD, PENRHYNDEUDRAETH, 6 JULY 2018

OVERVIEW

1. The purpose of this presentation is to give practical guidance to members of the 
Gwynedd Council scrutiny committee on the relevant legislation in relation to their 
investigation into waste enforcement.

2. The legislation on waste enforcement is included in the Environmental Protection Act 
1990 (“the Act”). This Act contains a number of provisions of use to the Council in 
tackling problems of waste on land generally, including:

 fly tipping (section 33)

 breach of duty of care in relation to waste (section 34)

 waste receptables (section 46, 47, 47ZA and 47ZB)

 statutory nuisance (sections 79 and 80)

3. This note concentrates on the problem the committee is looking at, that is the disposal 
of waste on the wrong day or in the wrong manner. While it is possible in principle that 
some such incidents can lead to the commission of offences under sections 33 and 34, or 
be tantamount to statutory nuisance under section 79 in respect of which a prosecution 
can be brought under section 80, those sections are more generic and are outside the 
scope of this note. Rather, I will concentrate on those parts of the Act that have been 
tailored specifically to address the problem under consideration. Those parts of the Act 
deal with “waste receptables”, or in layman’s terms, the rubbish bins you and I leave out 
for the binman once a week/fortnight/three weeks, as the case may be.

4. Here are the sections of the Act which deal specifically with waste receptables and are 
therefore most relevant to disposing rubbish on the wrong day or in the wrong manner:

 Section 46: household waste receptables

 Section 47: commercial or industrial waste receptables

 Section 47ZA: fixed penalty notices

Page 75



Appendix 3

 Section 47ZB: the sum of the FPN under section 47ZA

SECTION 46

5. Section 46 deals with household waste receptables.

6. Subsection (1) says that where the “waste collection authority” (i.e. the Council) has a 
duty to collect household waste, it can give the occupier a formal notice. That notice can 
require the occupier to put his waste out for collection in receptables. It can also specify 
the type and number of receptables which need to be used.

7. Subsection (2) says that the type and number of containers required under subsection 
(1) must not be more that what is reasonable. Even so, the law may make it may be 
necessary for the occupier to use separate receptables or separate compartments of the 
same receptable for waste which is to be recycled and waste which is not.

8. Subsection (3) says that the Council may, when imposing requirements under subsection 
(1), decide that the Council will provide the receptables (whether for free or on payment 
of a fee) or that the occupier provides his own receptable.

9. Subsection (4) provides that any notice under subsection (1) can include conditions 
regarding the following:

 size, construction and maintenance of the receptables;

 where the receptables should be kept for the purposes of emptying and access for 
that purpose;

 the placing of receptables for that purpose on the highway;

 the substances or articles which may or may not be put into the receptables or 
compartments of receptables, and the precautions to be taken where particular 
substancers or articles are put in them;

 the steps to be taken by occupiers of premises to facilitate the collection of waste 
from the receptables.

10. Subsection (5) says that no requirement shall be made under subsection (1) for 
receptables to be placed on a highway, unless the “highway authority” (i.e. the Council 
again) has given consent, and that arrangements have been made as to the liability for 
any damage arising out of their being so placed.

Page 76



Appendix 3

11. Subsection (6) makes it an offence for a person, without reasonable excuse, to fail to 
comply with any one of the requirements set by the Council under subsection (1), (3) or 
(4). The maximum penalty for this offence is a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard 
scale, i.e. £1000.

12. Subsection (7) says, where an occupier is required to provide receptables under 
subsection (1) he may appeal against the requirements in the Magistrates’ Court on the 
grounds that they are unreasonable, or that the receptables he has are adequate.

13. Subsection (8) says that an appeal must be presented within 21 days.

14. Subsection (9) says:

 the requirement which is the subject of an appeal is of no effect pending the 
determination of the appeal;

 in an appeal hearing the Court may either quash the requirement, or vary it or 
dismiss the appeal (i.e. leave the requirement as it is);

 the unreasonabless of a requirement cannot be raised as a defence to a prosecution 
for an offence under subsection (6).

15. Subsection (10) provides a definition for some terms included in section 46.

16. Finally, subsection (11) says that the Council is not obliged to collect household waste 
that is placed for collection in contravention of a requirement under section 46.

SECTION 47

17. Section 47 deals with waste receptables for commercial or industrial waste.

18. Subsection (1) says that the Council, on the application of any person, may provide that 
person with receptables for commercial or industrial waste which he has requested the 
authority to arrange to collect.

a. If the Council provides a container under this section then it must charge a fee (so 
long as it’s reasonable) for any receptable provided for industrial waste.

b. In the case of commercial waste, the authority may charge a fee in accordance 
according to its discretion.

19. Subsection (2) deals with a situation where it appears to the Council that industrial or 
commercial waste is stored on premises which, if not stored in particular receptables, is 

Page 77



Appendix 3

likely to cause a nuisance or is to be detrimental to the amenities of the locality. In these 
circumstances the Council can serve a notice on the premises occupier requiring that he 
provide receptables for the storage of waste.

20. Subsection (3) says that any requirement under subsection (2) regarding the type or 
number of receptables must be reasonable.

21. Subsection (4) provides that any notice under subsection (2) can include conditions 
regarding the following:

 size, construction and maintenance of the receptables;

 where the receptables should be kept for the purposes of emptying and access for 
that purpose;

 the placing of receptables for that purpose on the highway;

 the substances or articles which may or may not be put into the receptables or 
compartments of receptables, and the precautions to be taken where particular 
substancers or articles are put in them;

 the steps to be taken by occupiers of premises to facilitate the collection of waste 
from the receptables.

22. Subsection (5) says that no requirement shall be made under subsection (2) for 
receptables to be placed on a highway, unless the “highway authority” (i.e. the Council 
again) has given consent, and that arrangements have been made as to the liability for 
any damage arising out of their being so placed.

23. Subsection (6) makes it an offence for a person, without reasonable excuse, to fail to 
comply with any one of the requirements set by the Council under subsection (2) or (4). 
The maximum penalty for this offence is a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard 
scale, i.e. £1000.

24. Subsection (7) says, where an occupier is required to provide receptables under 
subsection (2) he may appeal against the requirements in the Magistrates’ Court on the 
grounds that they are unreasonable, or that the receptables he has are adequate.

25. Subsection (8) says that an appeal must be presented within 21 days.

26. Subsection (9) says:

Page 78



Appendix 3

 the requirement which is the subject of an appeal is of no effect pending the 
determination of the appeal;

 in an appeal hearing the Court may either quash the requirement, or vary it or 
dismiss the appeal (i.e. leave the requirement as it is);

 the unreasonabless of a requirement cannot be raised as a defence to a prosecution 
for an offence under subsection (6).

27. Subsection (10) provides a definition for some terms included in section 47.

SECTION 47ZA

28. Section 47ZA deals with fixed penalty notices (FPNs) for offences under section 46 and 
47.

29. Subsection (1) says that section 47ZA applies whenever an authorised officer has reason 
to believe that a person has committed an offence under section 46 or 47.

30. Subsection (2) says that the authorised officer may offer that person an opportunity to 
discharge any liability for conviction for the offence by payment of a fixed penalty to the 
Council.

31. Subsection (3) says the Council cannot bring a prosecution case against a person who 
has been offered a FPN until 14 days after the date of the notice, and that person cannot 
be convicted of that offence if he pays the FPN within that period.

32. Subsection (4) says that a FPN must include such details as necessary for giving 
reasonable information of the offence.

33. Subsection (5) says that the FPN must state the period when no court proceedings will 
be taken for the offence, the sum of the FPN, and the person to whom and the address 
at which the FPN may be paid.

34. Subsections (6) and (7) enable a person to pay the sum by sending payment by post.

35. Subsection (8) deals with the form of the FPN.

36. Subsection (9) enables the chief finance officer to prepare a certificate confirming if a 
person has not paid a FPN by a specified deadline.

Page 79



Appendix 3

37. Subsection (10) provides a definition for certain terms included in the section. These 
terms include what is an “authorised officer” for the purposes of issuing a FPN. In short, 
it can include an employee of the Council, or external agent, of an employee of that 
agent, provided that the employee/agent etc has the Council’s written authority to 
undertake the function of issuing FPNs.

SECTION 47ZB

38. Section 47ZB elaborates on the sum payable for a FPN. These are the two most 
important parts:

a. Subsection (2) confirms that the sum of the FPN is whatever sum is specified by the 
Council, or if no sum is specified, £100.

b. Subsection (3) permits the Council to treat a FPN as having been paid in full if a lesser 
amount is paid before the end of a period specified by the authority.

GERAINT BRYTHON EDWARDS

GWYNEDD COUNCIL

LEGAL SERVICES

6 JULY 2018

Page 80



Appendix 4

Bangor University Student Focus Group: Scrutiny Investigation on Waste Enforcement (23/01/19)  

8 Attendees

.........................................................................................................................................................

Issues with HMOs

 In shared housing, some flatmates don’t recycle. The difficulties of living with new people is 
that some are conscientious and others are not – who then takes responsibility for the 
recycling and bins? 

 Issues / questions regarding HMO’s:
- How would the Council know who is not recycling properly if 5-7 people are living in the 

same flat and sharing a bin? 
- Would the Council fine the property or the individual(s)? 
- The landlord should be involved if it was continuously the same house repeat offending.  

The landlord must take responsibility for providing the bins and informing their tenants 
of the waste and recycling arrangements.  

- The Group didn’t agree with just fining landlords. It was thought that the landlords 
would take it out of the deposit and students would not know until the end of term – 
which means they would not learn from any mistakes.  

Section 46/47 of the Environmental Act 

 It was noted that the students preferred the enforcement of litter picks rather than fines 
(used as a type of community service). It could work in a similar way to speeding fines e.g. 
you could pay a fine or take part in a litter pick or both a litter pick and fine could be 
enforced.  However, is this possible with the legislation?  Students do not see a monetary 
fine as “punishment” as it could be expected that they would ask their parents to pay on 
their behalf.  It was suggested that an enforcement which benefits the community would be 
better. 

 The offence should be evaluated over a 6 month period so that people have time to sort out 
any problems.  It was suggested that people should receive 3 “strikes” before they get 
issued a fine / community service. 

 There is an issue of people walking by and using other peoples bins incorrectly e.g. kebab 
wrappers and pizza boxes after nights outs.  It would be unfair to penalise the residents as 
they are not the ones placing the items in the wrong containers.  

 The ethics of the Service was questioned.  There is a difference in punishing someone who 
keeps their bins out every day as compared to someone who try their hardest but 
sometimes put the wrong items in the bin.  It was made clear that each case of offence 
would be viewed individually.

 It was questioned if the Council should be looking through personal bins? Should the 
Council be informing people that the recycling Officers will be out between X and Y date and 
targeting areas not people? 

Page 81



Appendix 4

 It was noted that positive reinforcement should be undertaken rather than punishment. An 
idea would be for people to be rewarded with points for recycling correctly and could be 
entered into a prize draw every couple of months? 

 Peer group pressure could help if one individual was causing the issue – try and encourage 
behaviour change. 

Issues with Landlords / Landlord Agencies

 It was noted that often no bins are provided in private accommodation and no information 
is provided regarding the waste and recycling arrangements.

 Students noted that the landlords often tell the Council that they have given out 
information but this information is often not passed on to students.  

Calendars

 The Students felt that Bangor should be on yearly calendars (rather than two yearly) 
because students moving out in summer often misplace / lose calendars.  Unfortunately this 
often means that the new tenants then are not made aware of the waste and recycling 
arrangements.   

 It was suggested that a good idea would be to make calendars available via an App, but 
there would be a need to advertise this to students directly. Concern that some would only 
download the app to get certain information and then delete because of issues with phone 
storage. 

 In order to raise awareness of the arrangements, events such as Serendipity, Halls 2 Houses 
should be targeted. 

Education

 It was felt that steps should be put in place to educate people – and target the worst 
offending areas first. 

 It was acknowledged that those who do not adhere to the arrangements in the correct 
manner do it because they are ignorant / cannot be bothered and are not doing it 
maliciously. It was felt that the main reasons for not using the waste and recycling 
arrangements correctly was due to being uninformed / too lazy to recycle / in a rush etc. 

 It was noted that some people have difficulties with plastics and awareness of what can and 
cannot be recycled. 

Overseas Students

 It was noted that recycling could be difficult for students from overseas.  This would be 
mainly due to the fact that the arrangements are new to them and they may not be aware 
of what can be recycled and also the languages used could be seen as a barrier. However, if 
the Council were to start translating the calendars into various languages, it would be 
difficult to determine into which languages.  

 It was also noted that overseas students should not need translations into their first 
language as they study their university course in English and know more than the basics. 

Page 82



Appendix 4

Other Ideas

 It was noted that there should be stronger links between the Council and the University. 
 It was asked does the Council need to enforce Section 46 if the recycling targets are 

currently being met. It was felt that the focus should be on improving street littering. 
 It was suggested that there should be more promotion / campaigns for individuals to see 

the benefit in customising their bins.

Some areas where problems were reported:

 Mount Street Bangor– can be difficult to keep bins off the road because the properties have 
stairs which are obstructing the movement of the bins. 

 Edge Hill Bangor – the bins are often left out for days after collection. This causes problems 
blocking the entrance which is on an uphill drive. 

 The Crescent Bangor – issue with bins being stolen. 

Page 83



Appendix 5

Waste and Recycling Questionnaire

Your response will be treated confidentially in accordance with the Data Protection 
Act (2018) and it will not be possible to identify you from your responses.

If you have any further questions about this questionnaire, contact Jennifer Rao on (01766) 
771000 /  eichbarn@gwynedd.gov.uk 
_______________________________________________________________________________

We want to encourage more of the people of the County to make full use of the recycling 
and composting service for three main reasons:

 Mainly, to reduce the negative impact on our environment.

 To reduce costs for the Council as recycling and composting is cheaper than sending 
refuse to landfill sites.

 To avoid substantial fines and costs from the Government for sending refuse to 
landfill sites and for failing to meet their national recycling and composting targets

Welsh councils must currently recycle or compost 58% of all refuse collected from our 
homes.  The next target is that 64% of refuse collected must be recycled or composted by 
2020. 

Gwynedd Council must now encourage many more of us to recycle and compost our waste; 
otherwise, Gwynedd Council could start facing substantial financial fines. 

1) Do you use the waste collection and recycling arrangements?

a) Yes
b) No*

*If your answer is 'no', please note why:

2) How often do you use the waste collection and recycling arrangements? - the 
cartgylchu trolley or the blue box, the small brown food bin, the large brown 
garden waste bin, and the large green residual waste bin.  

a) Every week
b) Sometimes*
c) Very little use*
ch) No use*

Page 84

mailto:eichbarn@gwynedd.gov.uk
https://vignette.wikia.nocookie.net/logopedia/images/7/74/Gwynedd_Council.svg/revision/latest?cb=20130816160630


Appendix 5

*If you are not making full use, what prevents you from making full use of the 
weekly recycling and composting service?

(please select all that apply)

 Too much bother / no time ___________________________
 Recycling is not important to us __________
 The process is unsuitable for our home (terraced house / stairwells / no room to keep 

3 / 4 
bins ________________________________

 Do not understand the process ____________________
 Other - please 

note_______________________________________________________

3) Where do you store your bins on days where they are not collected?

4) Do you have any further comments to make regarding the waste and recycling 
service?

The following questions relate to your equality characteristics.  The questionnaire is 
anonymous therefore it will not be possible to identify anyone, and we will use the 
information to see whether there are patterns in the responses by, e.g. older people, 
or disabled people.  You are welcome to select 'I prefer not to say' for any of the 
questions.

1) Are you ...

     Male  Female  Other 
           I prefer not to say  

Page 85



Appendix 5

2) Please note your age group:

16 - 24 25 – 44 45 – 64 65 – 84 85+oed

I prefer not to say  

3) Please note your Post Code: _____________________________
 

4) Section 6 (1) of the Equality Act 2010 states that an individual has a disability if:

a. That individual has a physical or mental impairment, and
b. That the said impairment has a substantial and long-term detrimental effect on 

the ability of the individual to carry out normal day to day activities

Using this definition, do you consider yourself a disabled person?

Yes No I prefer not to say

   
                    Thank you very much for completing the questionnaire.

Page 86



 
 

Appendix 6 
 

 
 

 

Waste and Recycling Questionnaire 

 

1. Responses to the questionnaire 

23 responses were received to the questionnaire.  

 

1.1. Question 1: Do you use the waste collection and recycling 

arrangements? 

 

It can be seen that the majority of respondents use the waste collection and 

recycling arrangements (83%, N=19). 

 

Those who had answered 'No' (N=3) were asked to explain their answer. 2 

respondents had noted that they live in University halls, and 1 did not use 

the arrangements as they were having difficulties with the recycling 

collections.    

 

Graph 1 

 

 

 

1.2. Question 2: How often do you use the waste collection and recycling 

arrangements? - the cartgylchu or the blue box, the small brown food 

bin, the large garden waste brown bin, and the large green residual 

waste bin. 

No
13%
(3)

Yes
83%
(19)

No answer
4%
(1)

Page 87



 
 

Appendix 6 
 

 
 

 

It can be seen that the majority of respondents use the waste collection and 

recycling arrangements every week (83%, N=19). 

Those who did not make full use of the arrangements (N=3) were asked to 

explain their answer. These were the reasons given:  

 Live in Ffriddoedd site, Bangor University (1) 

 Only put out the cartgylchu trolley when it is full (1)  

 Lost bin / cartgylchu trolley (1) 

 

Graph 2 

 

 

1.3. Question 3: Where do you store your bins on days when they are not 

collected? 

 

Various responses were received to this question.   

 

The majority of respondents noted that they kept the bins at the side or 

back of the house (N=11).  

 

These were the problems that 2 respondents noted:   

 

 The students do not do it - unsuitable housing / access / garden / 

stairs. (1) 

 Stairs are a problem, nowhere to leave them and pass, so (keep the 

bins) on the street. (1) 

No use
4%
(1)

Every week
83%
(19)

Sometimes
9%
(2)

No answer
4%
(1)

Page 88



 
 

Appendix 6 
 

 
 

  

Table 1 

 Number 

Side / back of house 11 

Front of house 5 

Noted a problem (see 1.3 above) 2 

On the stairs 1 

A parcel of land 1 

Site near the Halls (Bangor University) 1 

No response 2 

Total  23 

 

1.4. Question 4: Do you have any further comments to make regarding 

the waste and recycling service? 

 

Various responses were received to this question. The responses have 

been grouped into specific themes below.  

 

  Table 2 

Unsure of the materials to be recycled 

Black plastics 

Batteries  

Some unsure of the cans / plastic / glass 

Problems with the cartgylchu trolley / box 

Water getting into the recycling box 

Cart durability 

23ltr food bin is unsuitable 

Need a new frame for the cart   

Need bins  

Need a new cart 

Trying our best but the design of the garden / property is a barrier 

People not keeping bins 

Something must be done about the bins that are not taken back in.  
Understand that it is not possible to collect from the back without 
new vehicles.  

Other / Various 

Need to use the centre for end of term arrangements - rats are a 
problem 

Rubbish after collection (Llithfaen) 

People who walk past and use the bins 

Page 89



 
 

Appendix 6 
 

 
 

 

 

2. Respondents according to age 

 

2.1 Overview 

 

A higher number of respondents 16-24 (N=11) and 65-84 (N=6) have 

answered the questionnaire. The reason for this is that these age groups 

have been targeted through Bangor University and the Gwynedd Older 

People’s Council Conference. 

 

Graph 3 

 

 

 

2.2 Question 1 

 

Although the sample is small, the 3 respondents who noted that they did not 

use the waste or recycling collection arrangements were within the age group 

16-24.  

 

2.3 Question 2 

 

Although the sample is small, each of the respondents aged 65-84 (N=6) 

noted that they used the waste and recycling collection arrangements every 

week.  

 

  

48%

13% 13%

26%

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

16-24 25-44 45-64 65-84

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
re

sp
o

n
d

en
ts

Age Group

Age of the respondents

Page 90



 
 

Appendix 6 
 

 
 

 

3. Respondents per Well-being Area 

 

3.1 Overview 

 

A large number of respondents (N=15) are from the Bangor area following 

the targeting of students through the University.  

 

 

 

3.2 Question 1 

 

Although the sample was small, the 3 respondents who noted that they did 

not use the waste and recycling collection arrangements lived in Bangor.    

 

3.3 Question 2 

 

No pattern to note.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

65%

13% 10%
4% 4% 4%

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

Bangor Caernarfon Llyn Porthmadog Tywyn No answer

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
re

sp
o

n
d

en
ts

Well-being Area

Respondents per Well-being Area

Page 91



Appendix 7

Focus Groups - Falls Prevention and DementiaGo:  

Scrutiny Investigation on Waste Enforcement (08/02/19)

26 attendees

Containers / boxes 

 A large number of the group noted that they had noticed that staff who empty the recycling 
carts place the upper box inside the central box once the cart has been emptied, and it was 
asked why this was done.  It was noted that the upper box often got stuck and they were not 
strong enough to take it out and therefore it was asked if it would be possible for staff to not do 
this?  It was also suggested that a sticker could be used by those persons who do not want the 
recycling cart to be left in this way, once emptied.  

 Another suggestion by the group members was that a sticker/something visual could be included 
on the recycling cart and the bins to inform the collection staff that homes have medical/mobile 
difficulties. 

 A number of individuals also noted that they did not know how to order new bins/recycling 
receptacles.   They were not aware that they can order blue boxes with net covers.  

 It was noted that the bins/recycling carts were fragile and often broke, and it was asked how 
much this cost the Council? 

 One person asked if it was possible to have more than one brown garden waste bin?   

Recycling materials 

 Many were not sure where to place some items e.g. in which box does foil go?  Questions were 
also asked regarding cartons, flower pots and black plastics.  

 It was noted that everyone in the group used the food waste bin and the recycling boxes.  
 Several questions were raised regarding soft plastics.  They were aware that soft plastics cannot 

be recycled and it was asked if the Council had any ideas or initiatives for these rather than to 
dispose them in the residual waste bin. 

 They liked the laminated information sheets that were available in the sessions and individuals 
from the DementiaGo group felt that these were especially useful since they had lost their short 
term memory. 

Page 92



Appendix 8 

1 
 

Landlord Questionnaire 

 

1. Responses to the questionnaire 

26 responses were received to the questionnaire.   

 

1.1. Question 1: How do you ensure that your tenants make full use of the 

Gwynedd Waste and Recycling Service?  

 

Various responses were received to this question. The answers have been 

sorted into specific themes below.   

 

26 individuals chose to answer the question (with some comments falling 

into more than one theme). 

 

 Nifer 

Provide the correct bins / waste calendars  11 

Meet face to face / give out a welcome pack when they move in 4 

This is not the landlords responsibility  3 

Tenant has been living in the house for years 3 

Encourage recycling / make sure they are aware  3 

Remind them through house Facebook Group 1 

Housing company responsible for renting 1 

Comment not relevant 3 

Total 29 

 

 

1.2. Question 2: Are you aware that penalties can be imposed for not 

recycling correctly? 

 

Although the result was close, the majority of the respondents (N=14, 54%) 

were aware that penalties can be imposed for not recycling correctly.  

 

Page 93



Appendix 8 

2 
 

 
 

 

 

 

1.3. Question 3: Do you give clear instructions to your tenants on the 

rules for recycling and how important it is the stick to them?  

 

The majority of the respondents (N=16) noted that they do give clear 

instructions to their tenants.  

 

 

Those who answered ‘Yes’ (N=16) were asked to explain their answer. 

The answers have been sorted into specific themes below (with some  

comments falling into more than one theme). 

Yes
54%
(14)

No
46%
(12)

Yes
62%
(16)

No
38%
(10)

Page 94



Appendix 8 

3 
 

 Nifer 

Verbal instruction 9 

Written information / leaflet or Gwynedd Council waste calendar  6 

Reminder on the house Facebook page 1 

Tenant Agreement 1 

The council should provide information leaflets  1 

Total 18 

 

 

1.4. Question 4: Where do your tenants store their bins/recycling trolley 

on days where they are not collected, and does your property have a 

specific area for keeping bins/trolley?  

 

Various responses were received to this question. The answers have been 

sorted into specific themes below (with some comments falling into more 

than one theme).  

 

 Nifer 

Back of the house / back garden 10 

Front of the house / front garden 6 

Shed / garage / specific place where bins are kept 6 

Kitchen / inside the flat 2 

There have been problems regarding where bins are kept 1 

Comment not relevant 3 

Total 28 

 

 

1.5. Question 5: Are you aware fines can be imposed for leaving 

bins/trolleys out on the pavement other than on collection day? 

 

Although the result was close, the majority of the respondents (N=14, 

54%) were aware penalties can be imposed for leaving bins/trolleys out on 

the pavement other than on collection day.  

 

Page 95



Appendix 8 

4 
 

 
 

 

 

1.6. Question 6: Do your tenants contact you regarding the waste and 

recycling service? 

 

The majority of the respondents (N=25) noted that their tenants do not 

contact them regarding waste and recycling service.  

 

 
 

The respondent who answered ‘Yes’ was asked what type of queries they 

had received. This was what was said: 

 

“Why do the council only collect household waste only once every three 

weeks? At which point I tell them that if they recycle everything once every 

three weeks is adequate” 

Yes
54%
(14)

No
46%
(12)

Yes
4%
(1)

No
96%
(25)

Page 96



Appendix 8 

5 
 

1.7. Question 7: As a landlord, are you aware that Gwynedd Council 

offers a bulky waste collection Service where for a small fee, we will 

collect large items such as a sofa, freezer?  

 

The majority of respondents (N=23) were aware that Gwynedd Council 

offers a bulky waste collection Service. 

 

 

 

 

1.8. Question 8: Do you have any recommended improvements for the 

domestic recycling and waste collection services? Please note your 

comments below. 

 

14 respondents chose to answer this question.  

 

Their answers have been sorted into specific themes below (with some 

comments falling into more than one theme). 

 

 Nifer 

Staff not emptying the bins / damaging the bins / leaving rubbish 
and mess after the collections  

5 

Problems with the bins – standard, need clear labels and quality 
of the food bin bags.  

3 

Need a better arrangement regarding recycling plastics 2 

Better instructions / leaflets 1 

Punish people / implement ‘bin checks’  1 

Happy with the Service  1 

Yes
88%
(23)

No 
12%
(3)

Page 97



Appendix 8 

6 
 

Need a windy day Policy 1 

Opening hours of the recycling centres not suitable (10am - 4pm) 1 

Problem because the bins are far away from the house (farm) 1 

Total 16 

 

 

1.9. Question 9: Do you have any further comments to make regarding 

the waste and recycling service? Please note your comments below. 

 

10 respondents chose to answer this question. 

 

Their answers have been sorted into specific themes below (with some 

comments falling into more than one theme). 

 

 Nifer 

Staff leaving rubbish and mess after the collections 3 

It’s the tenants responsibility to recycle – not the landlord 3 

Good service at Pwllheli recycling centre  2 

Disagrees with the Garden waste fee 2 

Recycling should be collected less often  1 

It’s hard to recycle and there’s no help from the council  1 

Total 12 

 

 

2. Location and number of properties owned by the respondent  

 

2.1 Location 

 

A higher number of respondents (N=5) were landlords on properties in the 

Caernarfon area. 

 

The sample was too small to compare fully but overall there was no 

significant difference between responses to the questionnaire from different 

areas.  

 

Page 98



Appendix 8 

7 
 

 
 

 

2.2 Number of properties 

 

The answers ranged between 1 and 5 properties. The majority (N=11) noted 

that they were landlords on 1 property only. 

 

The sample was too small to compare fully but overall there was no 

significant difference between responses to the questionnaire from different 

areas. 

 

 

 

 

 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
re

sp
o

n
d

en
ts

Location

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

1 2 3 4 5 Dim ateb

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
re

sp
o

n
d

en
ts

Number of properties

No answer 

Page 99



Appendix 8 

8 
 

The Questionnaire  

Gwynedd Council want to encourage more of the people of the County to make full 

use of the recycling and composting service for three main reasons: 

• Mainly, to reduce the negative impact on our environment.  

• To reduce costs for the Council as recycling and composting is cheaper 

than sending refuse to landfill sites. 

• To avoid substantial fines and costs from the Government for sending 

refuse to landfill sites and for failing to meet their national recycling and 

composting targets 

Welsh councils must currently recycle or compost 58% of all refuse collected from 

our homes.  The next target is that 64% of refuse collected must be recycled or 

composted by 2020.  

Gwynedd Council must now encourage many more residents to recycle and compost 

our waste; otherwise, Gwynedd Council could start facing substantial financial 

penalties.  

Please answer the questions below as a landlord with properties in Gwynedd. 

 

1) How do you ensure that your tenants make full use of the Gwynedd Waste 

and Recycling Service? 

 

2) Are you aware that fines can be imposed for not recycling correctly? 

 

Yes / No 

  

 

3) Do you give clear instructions to your tenants on the rules for recycling and 

how important it is the stick to them? 

 

Yes / No 

 

If Yes, how do you do this? 

 

4) Where do your tenants store their bins/recycling trolley on days where they 

are not collected, and does your property have a specific area for keeping 

bins/trolley? 

 

 

5) Are you aware fines can be imposed for leaving bins/trolleys out on the 

pavement other than on collection day? 

 

Yes / No 

Page 100



Appendix 8 

9 
 

6) Do your tenants contact you regarding the waste and recycling service? If so, 

what kind of queries do they have?” 

 

7) As a landlord, are you aware that Gwynedd Council offers a bulky waste 

collection Service where for a reasonable fee, we will collect large items such 

as a sofa, freezer. 

 

Yes / No 

 

8) Do you have any recommended improvements for the domestic recycling and 

waste collection services? Please note your comments below. 

 

9) Do you have any further comments to make regarding the waste and 

recycling service? Please note your comments below. 

 

10) Please note the location(s) of you properties, e.g Bangor, Tywyn and the 

number of properties which you rent out.  

 

 

 

Page 101



Appendix 9

1

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION ACT 1990 - SECTION 46 and 47 ACTION- Proposed

The Council becomes aware of a problem

Informal warning letter

Informal contact to highlight problem 
 (letter or visit)

Complies

No further actionComplies

Formal Section 46 or 47 Notice

Failure to comply

Failure to comply

Site inspection

Fixed Penalty Notice (£100)

No further actionComplies

Failure to comply
Pays the fine

Initiate Court Action

Failure to comply

Required to comply

Prosecution

No further action

Required to comply

Page 102



Appendix 10

                    

See the leaflet How to Make an Equality Impact Assessment for help to complete this form.  
You are also welcome to contact Delyth Williams, Policy and Equality Officer on ext. 32708 
or DelythGadlysWilliams@gwynedd.llyw.cymru, for further assistance.

1 Details 

1.1. What is the name of the policy / service in question? 

Scrutiny Investigation on Waste Enforcement

      
1.2 What is the purpose of the policy / service that is being created or 

amended?   What changes are being considered? 

Gwynedd Council is undertaking a scrutiny investigation to consider the issuing of penalties 
for residents and businesses who dispose of their waste on the wrong day or in the incorrect 
manner and leave the waste and recycling receptacles/bins out on the street permanently. 
Several parts of Gwynedd suffer as a result of problems caused by people who dispose of 
their waste on the wrong day or in the incorrect manner. 

Legislation on waste enforcement is contained within the Environmental Protection Act 
1990 ("the Act"). This Act contains many provisions which assist the Council to deal with 
waste problems on land in general, including waste receptacles (sections 46, 47, 47ZA and 
47ZB).  

These are the sections of the Act that deal specifically with waste receptacles and are 
therefore most relevant to waste disposal on the wrong day or in the incorrect manner.  

 Section 46: household waste containers  

 Section 47: commercial or industrial waste containers  

 Section 47ZA: fixed penalty notices 

 Section 47ZB: amount of fixed penalty under section 47ZA 

 
The Council has a right to take enforcement action on offences involving waste collection 
under Sections 46/47 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990.  Under the Act, a case can be 
made and fines imposed if:

i) The receptacle is out on the wrong day

Equality Impact Assessment

Page 103

mailto:DelythGadlysWilliams@gwynedd.llyw.cymru


Appendix 10

ii) The receptacle is out in the wrong location
iii) The receptacle is out on the street permanently 
iv) The receptacle is overflowing with waste
v) Waste is in the wrong receptacle. 

         

1.3 Who is responsible for this assessment? 

Steffan Jones, Head of the Highways and Municipal Department.  

1.4 When did you commence the assessment?   Which version is this?

November 2018 
Version 1

    
 
2) Action

2.1 Who are the partners it will be necessary to work with to undertake this 
assessment? 

 Members of the Communities Scrutiny Committee
 Gwynedd Council Councillors
 Gwynedd Residents
 Gwynedd Businesses 

2.2 What measures have you taken to engage with people with equality 
characteristics?

As part of the investigation, the Working Group has conducted site visits in order to gather 
evidence of the current situation.  Whilst gathering evidence, we have engaged with students 
from Bangor University, people who are living with dementia, and older people.  

Also, the Council has held a public engagement exercise, 'What matters to you', and has 
engaged with a number of groups with equality characteristics as part of this project.  A 
number of observations were received from the people of Gwynedd on the Waste and 
Recycling Service and the results of the exercise can be seen here

Page 104

https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Council/Documents---Council/Have-your-say/Results-of-the-Public-Survey-Which-services-are-important-to-you.pdf


Appendix 10

2.3 What was the outcome of the engagement?

As a Council, we have gathered some information regarding residents' views on the waste and 
recycling arrangements, collected as part of the 'What matters to you' engagement exercise in 
October 2018. 

2,478 responses were received from individuals to the questionnaire and 38 organisations / 
businesses took advantage of the opportunity to complete the questionnaire.  59 options were 
presented to be placed in one of five categories namely most important, very important, 
important, fairly important and least important. In order to analyse the options, a score of 5 
was given to the services in the 'most important' box, down to a score of 1 for the services 
that scored as being 'least important'.  A total score was taken for all the responses for each 
service to enable us to rank them in order of importance. 

The ranking of services in line with the views of Gwynedd residents regarding their 
importance indicates that 'Waste collection and recycling' was third according to the total 
score.   

Also, there was an opportunity for responders to note any further comments in an open box 
at the end of the questionnaire. 90 comments were received (the second largest) regarding a 
'need to have a better service to collect waste / dog fouling / recycling'.   The results of the 
consultation can be seen here

As part of the Scrutiny Investigation on Waste Enforcement, a focus group was held with 
students from Bangor University to discuss their use of the waste and recycling service.   It 
was noted that some students do not recycle in shared housing. Amongst the difficulties of 
living with a group of new people was that some were conscientious and others were not.  It 
was noted that there was a problem with people walking past and using other people's bins 
incorrectly, e.g. pizza boxes after nights out.  In addition, the strong message heard was that 
the landlords did not take responsibility for sharing information about the recycling 
arrangements with students and they did not provide enough recycling facilities.   It was felt 
that measures should be put in place to educate people - and target the worst offending areas 
first. It was acknowledged that those who did not adhere to the arrangements correctly did so 
as they were not knowledgeable / did not bother and it was noted that some people had 
difficulties with plastics and their awareness of what could / could not be recycled.  It was 
noted that recycling could be difficult for students from overseas.   This would be mainly due 
to the fact that the arrangements were new to them, and they may not be aware of what 
could be recycled and the formal language used could also be considered as a barrier.   

A focus group was held with a group of individuals who attended DementiaGo sessions at 
Gwynedd Byw'n Iach Centres, and a focus group with individuals who attended falls prevention 
sessions.   A large number of the group noted that they had noticed that staff who empty the 
recycling carts place the upper box inside the central box once the cart has been emptied, and 
it was asked why this was done.  It was noted that the upper box often got stuck and they 
were not strong enough to take it out and therefore it was asked if it would be possible for 
staff to not do this?  It was also suggested that a sticker could be used by those persons who 
do not want the recycling cart to be left in this way, once emptied.   
Many were unsure where to place some items e.g. in which box does foil go?  Questions were 
also asked regarding cartons, flower-pots and black plastics.  It was noted that everyone in the 
group used the food waste bin and the recycling boxes. Several questions were raised 

Page 105

https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Council/Documents---Council/Have-your-say/Results-of-the-Public-Survey-Which-services-are-important-to-you.pdf


Appendix 10

regarding soft plastics.  They were aware that soft plastics cannot be recycled and it was asked 
whether the Council had any ideas or initiatives for these rather than to dispose them in the 
residual waste bin.   They liked the laminated information sheets that were available in the 
sessions and individuals from the DementiaGo group felt that these were particularly useful 
since they had lost their short-term memory. 

Also as part of the investigation, a questionnaire was distributed during the Bangor University 
Freshers Fair and at the Gwynedd Older People Conference and 23 responses were received 
to the questionnaire.  
It was noted that the majority of responders used the waste and recycling collection 
arrangements (83%, namely 19 people).  One responder decided not to answer the question. 

Those who had answered 'no' (3 people) were asked to explain their answer. 2 responders 
had noted that they lived in University halls, and that they did not use the arrangements as 
they were having difficulties with the recycling collections.   

The responders were asked, "How often do you use the waste and recycling collection 
arrangements?" - namely cartgylchu or blue box, the small brown bin for food, the large brown 
bin for garden waste, and the large green bin for the residual waste. 

It was noted that the majority of responders used the waste and recycling collection 
arrangements every week (83%, namely 19 people).  Those who did not make full use of the 
arrangements (3 people) were asked to explain their answer.   The reasons noted were:  Live 
in the Ffriddoedd site, Bangor University (1), Only place the cartgylchu outside when it is full 
(1), Bin / cartgylchu has been lost (1).  

The responders were asked, "Where do you keep your bins when they are not being 
collected?" The majority of the responders noted that they kept the bins at the back or side of 
the house (11 people).   A number of responses were received to this question: 

Number

Side / back of house 11

Front of house 5

Noted a problem 

 The students do not do it - unsuitable housing / access 
/ garden / stairs. (1)

 Stairs are a problem, nowhere to leave them and pass, 
so (keep the bins) on the street. (1)

2

On the stairs 1

A parcel of land 1

Site near the Halls (Bangor University) 1

No response 2

Total 23

Page 106



Appendix 10

2.4 On the basis of what other evidence do you operate?

The Working Group has gathered evidence from many areas and has conducted site visits in 
Bangor and Porthmadog.  

The Members of the Working Group noted that the experience of visiting various locations 
had been very valuable to the investigation.  It was noted that Bangor was clearly in a unique 
situation, which was concerning. Porthmadog had highlighted "the norm". 

Observations about further visits:
 Rural Waste - suggestion that problems be recorded and photographs taken rather 

than visiting. Problems arose unexpectedly, not the same density as Bangor.
 146 community bin locations (mainly in Meirionnydd). On the whole the 

arrangements worked. It appeared that there was an increase in use during the 
Summer.

 More complaints were being received about fly tipping.  

A questionnaire was completed with students during 'Freshers Week'.  Students were asked 
about their awareness of the different coloured bins and if they knew what type of waste went 
into each bin.  They were also asked if they sorted their waste, if they knew when bins were 
collected and also where their bins were stored on days when the bins were not collected.  

2.5 Are there any gaps in the evidence that needs to be gathered? 

3) Identifying the Impact 

3.1 What impact will the new policy/service or the changes in the policy or 
service have on people with equality characteristics?  The Council must 
give due attention to the impact any changes will have on people with 
equality characteristics.

Characteristics What type 
of impact? 
(delete if not 
applicable) 

In what way?  What is the evidence?

Race (including 
nationality)

Negative Negative - many students from overseas, who do not use 
Welsh or English as their first language, live in the Bangor 
area. At the moment, we do not create leaflets and 
calendars in different languages but we will work with the 
Students Union to ensure that overseas students 
understand the waste and recycling arrangements. 

The Welsh 
language

None No impact, everything would be available in Welsh and 
English. 

Disability Positive and 
negative   

Negative - imposing fines without considering various 
needs could cause problems for disabled people who find 

Page 107



Appendix 10

it difficult to move the bins or who do not understand the 
arrangements. Also, consideration needs to be given to 
people who use BSL and those who are unable to use the 
service correctly due to ill-health. 

Positive - the investigation includes using powers for those 
who leave their bins out on the street permanently.   
Disabled people, particularly wheelchair users, find it 
difficult to use the pavements when bins cause an 
obstruction. Using the powers should cause fewer 
obstructions to these people. 

A Special Collection Service is available for those who 
cannot take their bins or recycling boxes out to the 
collection point due to disability or illness. Special 
arrangements are in place for the weekly collection of 
clinical waste. 

It is recommended that awareness should be raised of the 
Clinical Collections Services and Special Collection Service 
available for older people and disabled people to dispose 
of their waste.  This can be done as a part of the broader 
promotion campaign.   

Gender none We have not identified an impact

Age Positive Positive - The investigation includes using powers for 
those who leave their bins out on the street permanently.   
Some older persons and parents with prams find it difficult 
to use the pavements when bins cause an obstruction.   
Using the powers should cause fewer obstructions. 

See also the section on disability, as older people are more 
likely to be disabled. 

Sexual 
orientation

none We have not identified an impact

Religion or 
belief (or non-
belief)

none We have not identified an impact

Gender 
reassignment

none We have not identified an impact

Pregnancy and 
maternity

none We have not identified an impact.  Special arrangements 
are in place for the weekly collection of nappies. 

Marriage and none We have not identified an impact

Page 108



Appendix 10

civil 
partnership 

3.2 Does the policy or the service affect their General Duties under the 2010 
Equality Act?   The Council must give due attention to the way any 
change affects these duties. 

General Duties 
of the Equality 
Act

Does it have 
an impact?   
(Delete if not 
applicable) 

In what way?  What is the evidence?

Abolishing 
illegal 
discrimination, 
harassment 
and 
victimisation

Yes Positive - the current situation indicates that a number 
of residents and businesses leave bins out permanently 
and these cause an obstruction on the roads and 
pavements. 

This makes it difficult and sometimes impossible for 
wheelchair users and those with prams to use the 
pavements. 

Negative - something needs to be put in place to ensure 
that some groups e.g. disabled people, people who do 
not speak Welsh or English as a first language, older 
people are not affected negatively by being fined due to 
a lack of awareness of the arrangements rather than a 
lack of compliance.  

Promoting 
equal 
opportunities

Yes As above

Encouraging 
good 
relationships

Yes This will strengthen the relationship between the groups 
with equality characteristics being affected by the bins 
being out on the streets permanently, and their 
neighbours, etc. 

4) Analysing the results 

4.1 Is the policy therefore likely to have a significant, positive impact on any 
of the equality characteristics or the General Duty and what is the reason 
for this? 

Yes. The current situation indicates that a number of residents and businesses leave bins out 
permanently and these cause an obstruction on the roads and pavements. 

This makes it difficult and sometimes impossible for wheelchair users and those with prams to 
use the pavements. 

Page 109



Appendix 10

4.1 Is the policy therefore likely to have a significant, negative impact on any 
of the equality characteristics or the General Duty and what is the reason 
for this? 

Perhaps some residents may not understand the arrangements as the leaflets and calendars are 
difficult to understand.  We have to consider that people with a specific illness may also find it 
difficult to follow the arrangements.  We will engage with people who live with dementia in 
order to find out what are the current obstacles. 

4.3 What should be done? 

Choose one of the following:

Continue with the policy / service since it is robust √

Amend the policy to remove any obstructions 

Suspend and delete the policy as the detrimental impacts are too great

Continue with the policy as any detrimental impact can be justified 

4.4 What steps will you take to reduce or mitigate any negative impacts?

The Department will undertake a county-wide promotion campaign to raise awareness before 
implementing any changes.   It is important to ensure that people know about the services that 
already exist e.g. the special collection service. 

Page 110



Appendix 10

4.5 If you are not taking any further action to delete or reduce the negative 
impacts, explain why here. 

5) Monitoring

5.1 What steps will you take to monitor the impact and effectiveness of the 
policy or service (action plan)? 

We will update the assessment as required when drafting the policy.  

Page 111



REPORT TO THE CABINET 

Date 17 September 2019 

Cabinet Member Councillor Ioan Thomas, Finance Cabinet Member 

Subject Savings Overview: 
Progress Report on Realising Savings Schemes 

Contact Officer Ffion Madog Evans, Senior Finance Manager 

DECISION SOUGHT 

To accept the information within the report and note the encouraging progress towards 
realising the 2019/20 and previous years savings schemes. 

1. INTRODUCTION / BACKGROUND 

This report is a regular overview report on the savings position following the 
individual Cabinet Members’ performance reports presented in July. 

In the Council's financial strategy since 2015/16, £32m worth of savings have been 
approved to be realised during the period 2015/16 to 2019/20. Reported here are 
the 2019/20 savings to the value of £3,085,330 together with the savings yet to be 
realised from previous years. 

Realising the individual schemes is the responsibility of the relevant Cabinet 
members, and Members' performance reports, which are presented regularly to 
Cabinet meetings, detailing the progress of individual savings schemes within their 
portfolios, and the position at the time. It is the responsibility of the Cabinet Member 
for Finance to keep an overview of the whole picture. 

2. SAVINGS SCHEMES 2015/16 - 2018/19  

2.1 Appendix 1 summarises the achievement of each department against the savings 
target set for them from 2015/16 - 2018/19, totalling nearly £27m. It is encouraging 
for me to report that over £25m, or 96%, of these schemes have been realised, 
and there is only a slight slippage with the remainder.  

2.2 This slippage is mainly on some of the 2017/18 schemes. Progress has been made 
recently with some of the schemes but the challenge of completing others remain. 

2.3 Two schemes worth £205k by the Education Department are subject of concern, 
namely Reduce time and/or raise a fee for the child care element of the free 
breakfast scheme as well as Raising the price of primary school meals from £2.30 
to £2.50. The savings are not being realised at the level the Department had 
anticipated, and the Head and Cabinet Member are aware of the need to find an 
alternative saving. 

Page 113

Agenda Item 9



2.4 Risks are envisaged with achieving the remaining savings on four of the Adults, 
Health and Well-being Department's schemes namely Automating the 
Department's financial processes, Improving the efficiency of field workers and 
also Prudent Commissioning in the Mental Health Service. In addition, the Review 
of the current structures and locations of the Housing Service is causing concern 
to achieve the remaining savings of the scheme. The remaining target on the four 
schemes is £181k.  The Head and the Cabinet Member will need to consider 
offering alternative savings schemes. 

2.5 There are significant risks to achieving the savings for 2018/19 and subsequent 
years on one of the Children and Supporting Families Department’s schemes 
namely, the End to End Review. The scheme has been subject to review and the 
original assumptions of the 'End to End' model has been revisited as financial 
savings from the scheme appear to have been too ambitious due to the current 
climate change in the children's field. With the change in the population profile of 
looked after children, the average cost increase of residential placements and the 
complexity of cases. There is a high financial cost to the Council to fund children’s 
out-of-county residential placements because of their complex and acute needs, 
and it is not possible to identify placements to meet their needs locally, in each 
case. The Department will need to consider a change of focus to seek a solution.    

3. DEPARTMENTAL SCHEMES 2019/20 

3.1 Appendix 2 summarises the position regarding the delivery of the 2019/20 savings 
schemes. Of the 123 profiled schemes for the year, 68 (worth over £1.9m or 36%) 
have been realised and a further 28 (worth £1.8m or 34%) are on track to be fully 
achieved and on time by the end of the financial year. There are 24 schemes either 
slipping or with some risks of delivering and 3 schemes that have yet to receive 
Cabinet approval. 

3.2 Increasing the fee of school breakfast care club from £0.80 to £1 scheme in the 
Education Department, is not materialising at the level the Department had 
forecasted,  with the latest forecast suggesting a shortfall of around £10k in 
income. 

3.3 The Environment Department anticipates that there will be some risks in achieving 
savings on two schemes namely, Increasing the number of pay and display car 
parks and increasing parking fees and also Reducing the resource within the Joint 
Planning Policy Service.  

3.4 The Adults, Health and Well-being Department has £1m worth of schemes that are 
slipping and have some risks to deliver. There has been a delay with 6 of the 
schemes worth £300k, but they are now progressing. The Department anticipates 
some risks to achieve the savings of two schemes namely the Integration and 
transformation of Older People's Services (£510k) and Extending the principles of 
the Alltwen Pilot Scheme across the service (£133.5k). Additional resources has 
been allocated in 3 areas and are hoping to make further appointments using the 
Health Board and Integrated Care Fund resource, to support and strengthen this 
work. There are also significant risks to achieving the savings of the Improving the 
efficiency of Fieldworkers scheme (£75k) and there are significant challenges to 
achieving the savings on the Prudent Commissioning in the Mental Health Service
scheme (£60k). Despite efforts to support individuals and families more effectively, 

Page 114



the demand for support services is increasing. At present it seems unlikely that 
these two schemes will deliver the savings in the near future and if at all. 

3.5 One scheme the Highways and Municipal Department has that is at risk of 
achieving the savings is Increasing street enforcement income by fining more 
people who drop litter, worth £10k in 2019/20. Further work is required to 
implement the scheme. 

3.6 Generally, the progress made in realising the 2019/20 savings schemes is 
acceptable, however there are signs being highlighted of some difficulties in 
delivering. As we are trying to affect Gwynedd residents as little as possible by 
achieving efficiency savings, it is much harder than cutting services. 

4. DEPARTMENTAL SCHEMES 2020/21 ONWARDS 

4.1 For information purposes, the savings schemes for 2020/21 onwards are listed per 
Department in Appendix 3. The individual schemes will be monitored during the 
year, but is too early to report at present. 

5.   CONCLUSION 

5.1 Although some departments have realised all of their savings schemes, it is    
inevitable that realising almost £27.5m of savings since April 2015 has been 
challenging. Some schemes require more time to plan and implement 
appropriately. However, in general, I am satisfied with the progress that has been 
made to realise the savings plans for this period and I am grateful to all departments 
and Cabinet Members for achieving this success.  Every effort will be made to 
realise those schemes that have slipped, and all Cabinet Members will continue to 
monitor the situation, acting as necessary to achieve the goal. 

5.2 In the Autumn, departments will report to their relevant Scrutiny Committee on how 
they intend to cope with any deficit that needs to be addressed in their savings 
plans. 

5.3 Therefore, I ask the Cabinet to note the acceptable general achievement outlined 
in this report towards realising the savings schemes. 

Page 115



View of the Local Member 
Not relevant 

View of the Statutory Officers 

Monitoring Officer: 
No comments in relation to propriety.

Head of Finance:  
I have collaborated with the Cabinet Member in the preparation of this report and I 
confirm the content. 

Appendices: 
Appendix 1 - 2015/16 - 2018/19 Savings Schemes Overview by Department 
Appendix 2 - 2019/20 Savings Schemes Overview by Department 
Appendix 3 - 2020/21 Onwards Savings Schemes Overview by Department 

Page 116



APPENDIX 1

OVERVIEW OF SAVINGS SCHEMES 2015/16 TO 2018/19 BY DEPARTMENT

Department Total Savings Realised Schemes Comments by the Head of Finance

£ £ 

Education 1,207,310 973,629 28,681 1 205,000 2 -

A bid has been submitted for additional resources to accelerate the 

work on Ffordd Gwynedd - Pay and Contracts Unit , but in the 

meantime the Department is bridging the deficit of                  

(£28,681). The savings from the scheme to Reduce time and/or 

charge for the child minding element within the free breakfast 

scheme for primary school children  has not been realised, and 

therefore overspending and there is no plan in place to fund the gap. 

With respect to the scheme To increase the price of primary school 

meals from £2.30 to £2.50 , the latest position suggests that there will 

be a deficit because the numbers having lunch has fallen since the 

price increased in September 2017, and therefore the scheme is not 

realising the expected savings.

Schools 4,037,000 3,738,010 298,990 1 - -

Savings of £298,990 of the 2017/18 savings have been bridged for 

two years for the secondary schools, with the savings to be realised in 

2019/20.

Environment 2,334,323 2,334,323 - - - All the schemes for the period have been realised.

Corporate Support 1,707,178 1,707,178 - - - All the schemes for the period have been realised.

Finance 1,027,256 1,027,256 - - - All the schemes for the period have been realised.

Economy and 

Community
2,394,432 2,394,432           - - - All the schemes for the period have been realised.

Schemes being 

implemented, but with 

slippage

Schemes with some 

risks of achieving

£  -  number £  -  number 

Schemes yet to receive 

approval from the 

Cabinet

£  -  number 

P
age 117



OVERVIEW OF SAVINGS SCHEMES 2015/16 TO 2018/19 BY DEPARTMENT

Department Total Savings Realised Schemes Comments by the Head of Finance

£ £ 

Adults, Health and 

Wellbeing
5,579,141 5,348,141 50,000 1 181,000 4 -

The Automation of the Department's financial processes  scheme has 

been partially realised and in order to meet the deficit of £64k, 

consideration needs to be given as to whether the savings can be 

achieved through alternative means. In terms of the Improve 

efficiency of Field Workers scheme, worth £113k in total (£38k in 

2017/18), has significant risks of realising the savings, and a decision 

has been made to retain staff in order to realise wider savings. There 

are significant risks of realising the savings of the Prudent 

Commissioning in the Mental Health Service scheme, worth a total of 

£100k (£40k in 2018/19). It is intended to review the situation when 

the Department will consider re-profiling or introducing alternative 

methods of delivery. In the Housing Service, the Review of existing 

structures and locations  scheme has been partially realised, but there 

are significant risks to delivering in full.

Children and  

Supporting Families
2,301,798 2,051,518 - 250,280 1 -

The End to End  scheme has been subject to review. There has been a 

change in recent years in the type of cases and therefore the needs, 

and a reduction in health contributions, as the types of cases do not 

apply. These factors have led to an increase in the net cost for the 

Council. There has been a reduction in the number of children in 

overnight care which is in line with forecasts up to the end of 

2017/18. But since 2018/19 there has been an increase in the trend 

along with a change in the nature of need and therefore there are 

significant risks in achieving savings for 2018/19 onwards. The 

Department will need to consider a change of focus to seek a 

solution.

£  -  number £  -  number 

Schemes with some 

risks of achieving

Schemes being 

implemented, but with 

slippage

Schemes yet to receive 

approval from the 

Cabinet

£  -  number 

P
age 118



OVERVIEW OF SAVINGS SCHEMES 2015/16 TO 2018/19 BY DEPARTMENT

Department Total Savings Realised Schemes Comments by the Head of Finance

£ £ 

Highways and 

Municipal
5,044,250 4,926,250 33,000 1 85,000 1

One scheme is slipping, but an alternative scheme of restructuring 

the Closed Circuit Television (CCTV) service will address the 

difference. The Fleet Arrangements scheme worth £85k, is yet to be 

approved by Cabinet. 

Consultancy 387,000 387,000 - - - All the schemes for the period have been realised.

Corporate 

Management Team 

and Legal

179,070 165,270 13,800 1 - -

There is slippage on the Coroner's budget savings scheme  worth 

£13.8k as it is based on a projection made some years ago, but has 

not happened yet.

Sub-total 26,198,758 25,053,007 424,471 5 636,280 7 85,000 1

Cross-departmental 434,960 434,960 - - - All the schemes for the period have been realised.

Schemes being 

implemented, but with 

slippage

Schemes with some 

risks of achieving

Schemes yet to receive 

approval from the 

Cabinet

£  -  number £  -  number £  -  number 

TOTAL 26,633,718 25,487,967 636,280
In financial terms (£), 96% of the savings schemes for 2015/16 - 

2018/19 have been realised. 
424,471 5 7 85,000 1

P
age 119



APPENDIX 2

2019/20 SAVINGS SCHEME OVERVIEW BY DEPARTMENT

Department Comments by the Head of Finance

Education 314,840 4 23,970 2 247,870 1 43,000 1 -

The scheme to Increase the fee for the pre-school care club from £0.80 

to £1  worth £43k, is not realising the savings at the level the 

Department had anticipated, with the latest forecasts suggesting a 

shortfall of approximately £10k in income.

Environment 451,560 18 234,060 11 47,500 4 40,000 2 130,000 1

The Department anticipates risks in realising the savings of the Increase 

in the number of pay and display car parks and increase parking fees 

scheme, worth £37.5k in 2019/20 and also the £2.5k savings from the 

Reduction in the Planning Policy Service scheme.  The Staff Travelling 

scheme worth £130k, is yet to receive approval from the Cabinet.

Corporate Support 405,450 13 375,450 12 - - 30,000 1

The savings schemes profiled for 2019/20 have already been realised 

with the Merger of the Learning and Development Unit and Workforce 

Development Unit  scheme, worth £30k, yet to receive approval from 

the Cabinet .

Finance 558,650 19 285,210 13 269,690 5 3,750 1 -

The majority of the Department's schemes have either been realised or 

are on track to deliver by the end of the financial year with one scheme 

Electronic payslips for everybody,  worth £3.75k moving forward.

Economy and 

Community
311,080 12 211,080 6 37,500 1 62,500 5 -

A range of the Department's schemes have either been realised or are 

on track to achieve timely delivery before the end of the financial year. 

The remaining 5 schemes, namely 3 schemes relating to parking 

(Reconciling fees to new sites, establishing fees at Dinas Dinlle and also 

reviewing fees and arrangements at Storiel ), Increase the fees to school 

for the Archives service  and also Remove one post from the Tourism 

and Marketing Service,  are moving forward.

£  -  number £  -  number £  -  number

Total Savings 2019/20

£  -  number

Realised Schemes

Schemes being 

implemented, but 

with slippage

Schemes with 

slippage and risks to 

achieve

Schemes yet to 

receive approval 

from the Cabinet

£  -  number

P
age 120



Department Comments by the Head of Finance

Adults, Health and 

Wellbeing
1,465,000 16 335,000 4 51,500 2 1,078,500 10 -

There has been a delay with 6 of the schemes worth £300k, but they are 

now progressing. The Department anticipates some risks to achieving 

the savings of two schemes namely the Integration and transformation 

of Older People's Services  (£510k) and Extending the principles of the 

Alltwen Pilot Scheme across the service  (£134k). There are also 

significant risks to achieving the savings of the Improving the efficiency 

of Fieldworkers  scheme (£75k) and the Prudent Commissioning in 

Mental Health Service  scheme  (£60k). 

Children and 

Supporting Families
272,790 9 146,820 6 6,150 2 119,820 1 -

6 schemes have been fully realised and the remaining 2 are on track to 

achieve a timely delivery. The End to End  scheme is slippong and 

therefore the Department will need to consider a change of focus to 

seek a solution.

Highways and 

Muinicipal
485,850 14 85,000 4 305,350 5 47,500 4 48,000 1

There is slippage in achieveing 3 schemes but are moving forward and 

hoping to realise fully by the end of the financial year, with  some risks 

in achieving savings on the Increasing street enforcement income by 

fining more individuals who drop litter scheme, worth £10k in 2019/20. 

Further work is required in order to implement this scheme. The Fleet 

Arrangements  scheme worth £48k, is yet to receive approval from the 

Cabinet.

Consultancy 126,500 7 34,500 2 92,000 5 - -
2 schemes have been fully realised and the remaining 5 are on track to 

achieve a timely delivery. 

Corporate 

Management Team 

and Legal

188,310 8 188,310 8 - - - All the schemes for the period have been realised.

Management Savings 765,400 3 - 765,400 3 - - Savings on track to achieve a timely delivery.

TOTAL 5,345,430 123 1,919,400 68 1,822,960 28 1,395,070 24 208,000 3

In financial terms (£), 36% of the 2019/20 savings schemes have been 

realised and a further 34% on track to be completed in full by the end 

of the financial year. 

£  -  number£  -  number £  -  number £  -  number £  -  number

Realised Schemes

Schemes being 

implemented, but 

with slippage

Schemes with 

slippage and risks to 

achieve

Schemes yet to 

receive approval 

from the Cabinet

Total Savings 2019/20

P
age 121



APPENDIX 3

SAVINGS SCHEME OVERVIEW 2020/21 ONWARDS BY DEPARTMENT

Department

Education 280,560 3 215,560 2 65,000 1 - -

Environment 449,080 23 306,950 16 129,630 6 12,500 1 -

Corporate Support 413,250 11 195,500 7 117,750 3 100,000 1 -

Finance 236,800 10 111,800 6 100,000 3 25,000 1 -

Economy and Community 380,000 11 175,000 8 166,250 2 38,750 1 -

Adults, Health and Wellbeing 1,427,380 16 953,250 10 274,130 5 200,000 1 -

Children and Supporting Families 1,113,520 7 326,310 3 483,620 2 279,750 1 23,840 1

Highways and Muinicipal 1,125,000 26 326,250 15 611,250 7 187,500 4 -

Consultancy 59,500 3 59,500 3 - - -

Corporate Management Team and Legal 19,060 3 19,060 3 - - -

TOTAL 5,504,150 113 2,689,180 73 1,947,630 29 843,500 10 23,840 1

Total Savings 2020/21 

onwards

Profile

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£  - number £  - number £  - number £  - number £  - number

P
age 122



Report To: Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 17 September 2019

Lead Members: Councillor Dafydd Meurig, Cabinet Member for Adults, 
Health and Wellbeing

Councillor Ioan Thomas, Cabinet Member for Finance

Contact Officers: Morwena Edwards, Corporate Director

Dafydd Edwards, Head of Finance  

Title: Pooled Budget Agreement for Care Home Accommodation 
for Older People 2019-2020

1. What is the report about?

1.1 To provide an update to Members regarding steps taken regionally to ensure 
compliance with the legal requirement to establish and maintain pooled funds for 
care home accommodation functions for older people.  

1.2 To secure Member approval to the establishment of a single, non-risk sharing 
regional pooled fund for care home accommodation functions for older people to 
be hosted by Denbighshire County Council for three years.

1.3 To secure authorisation to the ratification of and signature on behalf of the Council 
to a legal agreement prepared for a term of three years to reflect the agreed 
arrangements for establishment, administration and governance of the pooled 
fund.

2. What is the reason for making this report?

2.1 To advise on the proposed regional approach to fulfilling the legal requirements in 
relation to the establishment and maintenance of a regional pooled fund for care 
home accommodation in line with the duties imposed by the Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 (“the 2014 Act”) and The Partnership Arrangements 
(Wales) Regulations 2015 (“the 2015 regulations”).

2.2 A decision is required endorsing the regional approach to establishing a non-risk 
sharing pooled fund (to be hosted by Denbighshire on behalf of the six North Wales 
Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board) insofar as regional spend 
on care home accommodation functions for older people is concerned.

Page 123

Agenda Item 10



2.3 Given the value of the pooled fund, Cabinet authority is required for the Local 
Authority to ratify and enter into the agreement prepared to regulate our ongoing 
relationships with our Partners in relation to the establishment and operation of the 
pooled fund.

3. What are the Recommendations?

3.1 That the contents of this report are noted.

3.2 That Members note the progress made regionally in meeting the Part 9 
requirements of the 2014 Act which includes a legal requirement to establish a 
regional pooled fund for care home accommodation for older people.

3.3 That Members approve the establishment of a non-risk sharing pooled fund for 
care home accommodation for older people as set out in this report with 
Denbighshire County Council acting as host authority and for the arrangements to 
be effective for the financial year 2019/20. 

3.4 That Members give approval to the Council entering into a legal agreement 
between Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board and the six local authorities 
across North Wales, regulating the establishment, operation and governance 
arrangements in respect of the pooled fund for a period of three years. 

4. Report details

4.1 Members will be aware that Part 9 of the 2014 Act provides for Regional 
Partnership Boards to be established. These Boards bring together health, social 
services, the third sector and other partners to take forward effective integration of 
health and social services.  Whilst Regional Partnership Boards have strategic and 
oversight responsibilities in relation to promoting the use of pooled fund 
arrangements, it is the responsibility of the partners themselves to establish, 
develop and operate any pooled budget arrangements.

4.2 Members will recall that an Integration Agreement has previously been endorsed 
by Gwynedd Council and the other North Wales Councils and Betsi Cadwaladr 
University Health Board. The aim of the Integration Agreement is to set out 
partners’ approach to integrated working and to provide a framework outlining how 
integration may be achieved in the region (including any pooling of funds).  The 
pooling of funds for care home accommodation commissioning (both nursing and 
residential) is one of the identified areas for integration and pooling of funds 
included within the Integration Agreement.

Page 124



4.3 The 2015 Regulations have been subject to amendment and revision by Welsh 
Government since their original enactment. The regulations require partnership 
bodies for each financial year (beginning with the financial year commencing 1 
April 2019) to make a contribution to a regional pooled fund in relation to the 
exercise of their care home accommodation functions for older people. The 
contributions must be commensurate with each Partner’s anticipated annual 
expenditure on care home places for older people.

4.4 The purpose of the pooled funds arrangements is to encourage  Local Authorities 
and Local Health Boards to work together to maximise their influence to shape the 
future development of services and to ensure that services are sustainable in the 
long-term; capable of responding flexibly to local demand.

4.5 Finance Officers from the six Local Authorities and Health Board have progressed 
the work to develop a non-risk sharing pooled budget for North Wales.  The pooled 
fund will focus on care accommodation costs for older people (those over 65 years 
of age, excluding in-house services).  It has been established that the overall 
regional spend in 2018/2019 was £111m (£90m net of charges and contributions). 

4.6 For the 2019-2020 financial year, it is proposed that one regional non-risk sharing 
pooled budget be established for North Wales. The arrangement would take effect 
from 1st April 2019.  It has been agreed that Denbighshire County Council will host 
the arrangements; thereby operating the pooled fund on behalf of all the partners.

4.7 There will be no delegation of functions involved as part of the pooled fund 
arrangement. This means that all partners will retain full individual responsibility for 
fulfilling their statutory duties insofar as commissioning and provision of care home 
accommodation services is concerned. Each Partner will continue to be solely 
responsible for their own budgets and expenditure in this respect. The pooled fund 
will however reflect the actual spend of all partners on care home accommodation 
functions through quarterly transactions whereby quarterly spend by each partner 
will be charged to the pooled budget and off-set against contributions made by 
each partner to the pool on a quarterly basis. 

4.8 Reporting arrangements for the operation of the pooled budget will consist of a 
quarterly report to the Regional Partnership Board and internal reporting 
arrangements to be determined by each partner organisation.  

4.9 A written, legal agreement has been developed to underpin the proposed pooled 
fund arrangements for care home accommodation for older people as set out in 
this report.  All six North Wales local authorities and Betsi Cadwaladr University 
Health Board are parties to the Agreement with Denbighshire County Council 
acting as the host partner administering the pooled fund.  The Agreement provides 
for quarterly financial reporting to the North Wales Regional Partnership Board. 
Each organisation will have to ratify and execute the Agreement in accordance 
with their own internal governance arrangements.

Page 125



5. How does the decision contribute to the Corporate Priorities?

Establishing the proposed pooled fund and signing up to the legal agreement 
prepared supports the following corporate priorities:

(a) The council works with people and communities to build independence and 
resilience;

(b) Everyone is supported to live in homes that meet their needs; and
(c) A place where younger people will want to live and work and have the skills to 

do so.

6. What will it cost and how will it affect other services?

6.1 There are no direct costs associated with signing up to the agreement.  The 
agreement provides the regulatory and governance framework for the 
establishment of a single, regional pooled fund for North Wales for a period of three 
years.  The arrangement will comprise of each partner organisation providing 
contributions to the pooled fund equivalent to the costs they incur.  There will 
therefore be no risk sharing in the first year of this arrangement or any cross-
subsidisation between the partners.

6.2 Denbighshire County Council will act as host authority for the regional pooled fund 
for the period of the agreement.. The hosting arrangements will, in line with the 
terms of the legal agreement, be reviewed by the partners as part of the 
development of the pooled fund arrangements for future financial years. 

6.3 A contribution from regionally administered transformation funding of £20k is paid 
to Denbighshire to recognise the cost of hosting the pool on behalf of all partners.  

7. What consultations have been carried out?

7.1 Finance Officers have been working regionally for many months – collating 
relevant financial information from all partners and then developing a non-risk 
sharing pooled budget model. These discussions have involved all partners’ 
statutory finance officers, who are in agreement with the proposed way forward.

7.2 The North Wales Regional Leadership Board have received regular updates on 
the development of the pooled fund arrangement.

7.3 The proposed agreement has been circulated to each partners’ legal 
representatives for consideration. 

7.4 The North Wales Regional Partnership Board, which has strategic oversight 
responsibilities for partnership arrangements emanating from the 2014 Act must 
also promote the establishment of pooled funds where appropriate.

Page 126



8. What risks are there and is there anything we can do to reduce them?

8.1 The requirement to establish and maintain a regional pooled fund in North Wales 
for care home accommodation functions is a legal requirement which has been 
enshrined in legislation, being the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 
2014 (the “2014 Act”) and the Partnership Arrangements (Wales) Regulations 
2015 (the “2015 regulations”).

8.2 The attached agreement provides a framework which offers consistency, clarity 
and protection for all Partners in respect of the establishment, operation and 
governance of the non-risk sharing pooled fund.  The Agreement lasts for a period 
of three years from its commencement and the arrangements will therefore need 
to be robustly reviewed prior to the expiry of the three-year term.  Accordingly, 
partners will have the benefit of a clear framework within which to operate for a 
period of three years but also have the opportunity to develop the arrangement 
further in the future as agreed between the partners.

9. Power to make the Decision

i. Sections 166-167 Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014
ii. The Partnership Arrangements (Wales) Regulations 2015
iii. Part 9 Statutory Guidance (Partnership Arrangements)
iv. Section 2 Local Government Act 2000

View of the Statutory Finance Officer:
The development of a non-risk sharing pool to include financial transactions is proposed 
in order to meet legislative requirements.

View of the Monitoring Officer:
The requirement to establish and maintain a pooled fund for care accommodation 
functions is a legal requirement which has been placed on the Council by legislation.  As 
noted, the report recommends adopting a regime which meets this statutory requirement.  
What’s been recommended here has been agreed between the partners as a way of 
responding to the requirement without exceeding the threshold for having to create fairly 
substantial governance regimes which could result from other models.  It is understood 
that this mode of operation has the Government’s consent.  Note that the arrangement 
will be in place for three years.

Appendix:
Partnership Agreement regulating the pooling of funds for care home accommodation 
functions for older people.

Page 127



1

DATED            2019

Conwy County Borough COUNCIL

                                                                 and

Denbighshire County COUNCIL

                                                                 and

Flintshire County COUNCIL

                                                                 and

Gwynedd COUNCIL

                                                                 and

Ynys Mon County COUNCIL

                                                                 and

Wrexham County Borough COUNCIL

                                                                 and

Betsi Cadwaladr University HEALTH BOARD

PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT REGULATING THE POOLING OF FUNDS 
FOR CARE HOME ACCOMMODATION FUNCTIONS FOR OLDER PEOPLE

As Directed Under Section 169 of the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 and related 
Part 9 Statutory Guidance (Partnership Arrangements)

Page 128



2

Contents
DATE OF THIS AGREEMENT 3

PARTIES 3

BACKGROUND 3

1. DEFINITION AND INTERPRETATION 5

2. COMMENCEMENT AND DURATION 7

3. EXTENDING THE INITIAL TERM 7

4. PARTNERSHIP ARRANGEMENTS 8

5. PAYMENTS TO AND FROM THE POOLED FUND 8

6. PARTNERSHIP MANAGEMENT GOVERNANCE 8

7. MONITORING, REVIEW AND REPORTING 9

8. VARIATIONS 9

9. EQUALITY DUTIES 9

10. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION 9

11. DATA PROTECTION AND INFORMATION SHARING 10

12. CONFIDENTIALITY 10

13. AUDIT 11

14. INSURANCE 11

15. INDEMNITIES 12

16. LIABILITIES 12

17. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 12

18. TERMINATION 13

19. CONSEQUENCES OF TERMINATION 15

20. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS 15

21. NOTICES 15

Page 129



3

22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 16

23. CHANGES IN LEGISLATION 16

24. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION 16

SCHEDULE 1: PAYMENTS TO AND FROM THE POOLED FUND

Page 130



4

THIS AGREEMENT is dated                          day of                                   2019

PARTIES

2.1 CONWY COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL of Bodlondeb, Conwy, LL32 8DU (“CCBC”)

2.2 DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL of County Hall, Wynnstay Road, Ruthin, 
Denbighshire, LL15 1YN (“DCC”)

2.3 FLINTSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL of County Hall, Mold, Flintshire, CH7 6NB (“FCC”)

2.4 GWYNEDD COUNCIL of Council Offices, Shirehall Street, Caernarfon, Gwynedd, LL55 
1SH (“GC”)

2.5 ISLE OF ANGLESEY COUNTY COUNCIL of Council Offices, Llangefni, Anglesey, LL77 
7TW (“IOACC”)

2.6 WREXHAM COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL of the Guildhall, Wrexham, LL11 1AY 
(“WCBC”)

2.7 BETSI CADWALADR UNIVERSITY HEALTH BOARD of Ysbyty Gwynedd, 
Penrhosgarnedd, Bangor, Gwynedd, LL57 2PW (“the Health Board”)

BACKGROUND

(A) By way of background the North Wales Regional Partnership Board (“the Regional 
Partnership Board”) comprising of CCBC, DCC, FCC, GC, IOACC, WCBC and the 
Health Board was established pursuant to statutory regulations made under Sections 
166-169 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 (“the SSWB Act”). 
These constitute the ‘Partnership Bodies’ as defined in Regulation 1 of Partnership 
Arrangements (Wales) Regulations 2015 (as amended) (“the Partnership Regulations”) 
made under the SSWB Act and they are also the Parties to this Agreement. 

(B) Pursuant to Regulation 10(c) of the Partnership Regulations the Regional Partnership 
Board has as one of its objectives the need to ‘promote the establishment of pooled 
funds where appropriate’. Pursuant to Regulation 19(1)(a), the Partnership Bodies are 
under a statutory requirement to establish and maintain a pooled fund in relation to the 
exercise of their care home accommodation functions. This statutory requirement came 
into force on 6 April 2018.

(C) Accordingly, in furtherance of its obligations under Regulation 19(1)(a) of the Partnership 
Regulations, the Partners wish to establish a pooled fund as detailed in this Agreement.   
For the purposes of this Agreement, DCC has agreed to act as the Host Authority on 
behalf of itself, CCBC, FCC, GC, IOACC, WCBC and the Health Board.  

(D) The Partners are committed to better integration of services, as enshrined in their 
umbrella Integration Agreement which includes the development of a pooled fund for 
care home commissioning and accommodation (residential and nursing) as one of the 
identified projects, and wish to enter into the arrangements under this Agreement.

Page 131



5

(E) This Agreement is made under the powers conferred below and all other enabling 
powers now vested in the Partners:-

Section 162 of the SSWB Act provides that a local authority must make arrangements to 
promote cooperation between the local authority and the authority’s relevant partners, 
such arrangements to be made with a view to improving the well-being of adults with 
needs for care and support and their carers.  

Sections 166-169 of the SSWB Act makes provision for partnership arrangements 
between local authorities and Local Health Boards.

Regulation 19(1) of the Partnership Arrangements (Wales) Regulations 2015 (as 
amended) – requires the Regional Partnership Board to establish and maintain pooled 
funds in relation to the exercise of their care home accommodation functions.  

Regulation 19(2) of the said regulations defines “care home accommodation functions” 
and it includes:-
(a) where it has been decided to meet the adult’s needs by providing or arranging to 

provide accommodation in a care home under sections 35 and 36 of the SSWB Act;

(b) the functions of a Local Health Board under section 3 of the National Health Service 
(Wales) Act 2006 in relation to an adult, in cases where

(i) the adult has a primary need for health care and it has been decided to meet 
the needs of the adult by arranging the provision of accommodation in a care 
home (‘NHS continuing healthcare’), or

(ii) the adult’s needs can only be met by the local authority arranging for the 
provision of accommodation, together with nursing care (‘Funded Nursing 
Care’).

Section 2 of the Local Government Act 2000 contains powers to do anything which it 
considers is likely to achieve one of more of the following benefits:  the promotion or 
improvement of the economic, social or environmental wellbeing of the area.

Section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972 provides for a local authority to have the 
power to do anything which is calculated to facilitate, or is conducive or incidental to, the 
discharge of their functions.

Section 1 Local Authority (Goods and Services) Act 1970 contains the power to enter 
into an agreement for all or any of the following purposes, namely, supply by a local 
authority of goods and materials, administrative, professional or technical services, use 
of vehicles, plant or apparatus or works of maintenance in connection with land or 
buildings. 

(F) Each of the Partners retain their statutory responsibilities in relation to their care home 
accommodation functions.

(G) Each of the Partners has secured the necessary authorisation to enter into this 
Agreement in accordance with their own individual, internal governance arrangements. 

Page 132



6

AGREED TERMS

1. DEFINITION AND INTERPRETATION

1.1 In this Agreement the following expressions shall have the following meanings

“Agreement” means this Agreement and the attached Schedule

“Care Home Accommodation Functions” means the functions set out under Regulation 19(2) 
of the Partnership Arrangements (Wales) Regulations 2015 insofar as they relate to adults aged 
65 or over unless varied otherwise under this Agreement.

“Commencement Date” means the date of this Agreement

“Confidential Information” means any information, data or material of any nature which:
a) has been designated as confidential by a Partner in writing; or
b) the release of which is likely to prejudice the commercial interests of a Partner; or
c) that ought to be considered as confidential (however it is conveyed or on whatever 

media it is stored) 
including information which relates to the business, affairs, properties, assets, trading practices, 
services, developments, trade secrets, Intellectual Property Rights, know-how, personnel, 
customers and suppliers of any of the Partners, all personal data and sensitive personal data 
within the meaning of the Data Protection Act 2018 (as may be amended from time to time), 
subject to the provisions at set out in clause 12 (Confidentiality) and clause 10 (Freedom of 
Information).

“Councils” means CCBC, DCC, FCC, GC, IOAC and WCBC and their statutory successors

“Data Protection Legislation” means the Data Protection Act 2018 and all applicable laws and 
regulations relating to processing of personal data and privacy, including where applicable the 
guidance and codes of practice issued by the Information Commissioner or relevant 
Government department in relation to such legislation; 

“Dispute Resolution Procedure” means the procedure set out in clause 17

“EIR” means the Environmental Information Regulations 2004.

“Financial Contributions” means the Quarterly payments made to the Pooled Fund by the 
Partners as defined further under clause 2 of Schedule 1

“Financial Year” means 1 April to 31 March 

“FOIA” means the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and any subordinate legislation made 
under it from time to time, together with any guidance or codes of practice issued by the 
Information Commissioner or relevant government department concerning this legislation

“Health Board” means Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board and its statutory successor

Page 133



7

“Host Authority” shall mean Denbighshire County Council during the Initial Term, thereafter 
shall mean the Host Authority as determined in accordance with the provisions of clause 4.1.3 

“Information” has the meaning given under Section 84 of FOIA 

“Initial Term” means the period commencing on the Commencement Date and ending on the 
first anniversary of the Commencement Date subject to the right to extend 

“Integration Agreement” means the agreement entered into by the Partners on 17 January 
2018 setting out how they intend to implement the requirements of Part 9 Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 and the Partnership Arrangements (Wales) Regulations 2015.

“Law” means any applicable law, statute, bye-law, regulation, order, regulatory policy guidance 
or industry code, rule of court, directives or requirements of any Regulatory Body, delegated or 
subordinate legislation, or notice of any Regulatory Body

“Partner” means each of the Councils and the Health Board who comprise the Partnership 
Bodies and are the Parties to this Agreement and “Partners” shall be construed accordingly

“Partnership Arrangements” means the arrangements made between the Partners under this 
Agreement as detailed under Clause 4 

“Partnership Bodies” include CCBC, DCC, FCC, GC, IOAC, WCBC and the Health Board and 
who are Parties to this Agreement

“Partnership Regulations” means the Partnership Arrangements (Wales) Regulations 2015, 
as amended

“Personal Data” means personal data as defined by the Data Protection Act 2018

“Pooled Fund” means the fund established by the Partners, and, within the parameters of this 
Agreement, administered by the Host Authority on behalf of the Partners, under which payments 
shall be made by the Partners and the Host Authority in accordance with the provisions of this 
Agreement 

“Quarter” means one of the following periods in each Financial Year:-
(a) 1 April to 30 June (“Quarter 1”);
(b) 1 July to 30 September (“Quarter 2”) ;
(c) 1 October to 31 December (“Quarter 3”); and
(d) 1 January to 31 March (“Quarter 4”). 

“Regional Partnership Board” or “RPB” means the North Wales Regional Partnership Board 
comprising of CCBC, DCC, FCC, GC, IOAC, WCBC and the Health Board established pursuant 
to Regulation 4 of the Partnership Regulations, the objectives of which for the purposes of this 
Agreement are set out in BACKGROUND (B) above 

“Regulatory Body” means those government departments and regulatory, statutory and other 
entities, committees and bodies that, whether under statute, rules, regulations, codes of practice 
or otherwise, are entitled to regulate, investigate or influence the matters dealt with in this 
arrangement under this Agreement.

Page 134



8

“Services” means the care home accommodation services commissioned by a Partner in 
respect of the individual Partner’s Care Home Accommodation Functions   
“Term” means the period of the Initial Term as may be varied by (i) any extensions to this 
Agreement that are agreed under Clause 3.1, or (ii) the earlier termination of this Agreement in 
accordance with its terms

1.2 Clause, Schedule and paragraph headings shall not effect the interpretation of this 
Agreement.

1.3 The Schedule forms part of this Agreement and shall have effect as if set out in full in the 
body of this Agreement. Any reference to this Agreement includes the Schedule.

1.4 Words in the singular include the plural and vice versa.

1.5 A reference to one gender includes a reference to the other genders.

1.6 A reference to a statute or statutory provision is a reference to it as it is in force for the 
time being, taking account any amendment, extension or re-enactment and includes any 
subordinate legislation for the time being in force made under it.

1.7 A reference to writing or written includes fax and email and including electronic 
transmission of information. 

1.8 Any obligation in this Agreement on a person not to do something includes an obligation 
not to agree or to allow that thing to be done.

1.9 A reference to a document is a reference to that document as varied or novated (in each 
case, other than in breach of the provisions of this Agreement) at any time.

1.10 References to clauses and Schedule are to the clauses and Schedule of this Agreement. 
References to paragraphs are to paragraphs of relevant schedule.

2. COMMENCEMENT AND DURATION 

2.1 This Agreement shall take effect on the Commencement Date and shall continue for the 
Term to be reviewed before the first anniversary of the Commencement Date or as may 
otherwise be agreed in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.  

3. EXTENDING THE INITIAL TERM

3.1 The Partners may agree unanimously to extend this Agreement for an agreed period or 
periods in twelve (12) monthly periods and on varied terms as they agree, beyond the 
Initial Term, subject to approval of the individual Partner’s internal approval processes.

Page 135



9

3.2 The Partners acknowledge that the arrangements under this Agreement are developing 
and that it may be necessary to modify or replace this Agreement in order to reflect how 
the arrangements develop and to that end the Partners agree to work together in good 
faith.

4.  PARTNERSHIP ARRANGEMENTS

4.1 The Partners have agreed that with effect from the Commencement Date they will operate 
the following arrangements:-

4.1.1 the establishment of a Pooled Fund (as detailed in this Agreement) to be 
administered by the Host Authority;

4.1.2 Each Partner to retain statutory responsibility in relation to their respective Care 
Home Accommodation Functions.  For the avoidance of any doubt, each Partner 
shall be responsible for all costs associated with its provision of the Services and/or 
individuals placed by the relevant Partner in accordance with its Care Home 
Accommodation Functions.  

4.1.3 Denbighshire County Council (“DCC”) shall act as the Host Authority during the 
Initial Term of this Agreement.  Should the Agreement be extended in accordance 
with the provisions of clause 3.1 the Partners shall decide unanimously, prior to the 
expiry of the Initial Term and, where appropriate, any further extended 12 month 
periods, that either (i) DCC continues to act as Host Authority for the duration of the 
extended term concerned or (ii) which Partner shall act as the replacement Host 
Authority in respect of the extended term concerned.

4.1.4 Nothing in this Agreement shall prejudice or affect the Partners in the exercise of 
their functions as public bodies or in any other capacity.

4.1.5 Necessary Consents – each Partner hereby represents to the other Partners that it 
has obtained all necessary consents sufficient to ensure the responsibilities 
provided for by this Agreement.

5. PAYMENTS TO AND FROM THE POOLED FUND

5.1 The Partners and the Host Authority shall make payments to and from the Pooled Fund in 
accordance with the provisions in Schedule 1.

6. PARTNERSHIP MANAGEMENT GOVERNANCE

6.1 In accordance with its obligations under Regulation 10(c) of the Partnership Regulations, 
the RPB shall provide overall strategic oversight to the Partnership Arrangements under 
this Agreement.

Page 136



10

7. MONITORING, REVIEW AND REPORTING

7.1 The Partners shall carry out a quarterly review of the Partnership Arrangements within 
thirty (30) days of the end of each Quarter.

7.2 The Section 151 Officer (or equivalent) of the Host Authority or his/her nominated 
representative shall provide (i) Quarterly reports to the RPB outlining the financial position 
of the Pooled Fund during the Financial Year concerned, and (ii) an annual outturn report 
in order to outline the financial position of the Pooled Fund once the financial accounts in 
relation to the Financial Year concerned are closed.

8. VARIATIONS

8.1 This Agreement may be varied by the Partners at any time in accordance with the 
Partners’ internal decision-making processes subject to the express written agreement of 
each of the Partners.  

9. EQUALITY DUTIES

9.1 The Partners, employees,  or agents shall not unlawfully discriminate within the meaning 
and scope of any law, enactment, order, or regulation relating to discrimination whether in 
race, gender, religion, disability, sexual orientation or otherwise. The Partners shall take 
all reasonable steps to secure the observance of this clause by all employees, agents and 
all suppliers and sub-contractors employed in the execution of this Agreement.

10. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION

10.1 The Partners acknowledge that each is subject to the requirements of FOIA and the EIR, 
and shall assist and co-operate with one another to enable each Partner to comply with 
these information disclosure requirements, where necessary. 

Page 137



11

11. DATA PROTECTION AND INFORMATION SHARING 

11.1 Each Partner shall comply with any notification requirements under Data Protection 
Legislation. All Partners shall duly observe all their obligations under Data Protection 
Legislation, which arise in connection with this Agreement.

11.2 The Partners shall share information with regards to activity and expenditure incurred in 
relation to their respective Care Home Accommodation Functions to improve the quality of 
care and facilitate integrated working in accordance with the Data Protection Legislation, 
The Human Rights Act 1998 and the common law duty of confidentiality and any other 
information sharing legislation, regulation or guidance. The Partners shall adhere to any 
Information Sharing Protocols that are developed in accordance with the WASPI 
Framework when sharing information under this Agreement.

11.3 Each Partner shall perform its obligations under the Data Protection Legislation and FOIA 
at its own cost.

12. CONFIDENTIALITY

12.1 The Partners agree to keep confidential all documents relating to or received from the 
other Partner under this Agreement that are labelled as confidential. 

12.1.1 Where a Partner receives a request to disclose Information that the other Partner 
has designated as confidential, the receiving Partner shall consult with the other 
Partner before deciding whether the Information is subject to disclosure.

12.2 The provision of clauses 12.1 and 12.2 shall not apply to any confidential information 
received by one Partner from the other:-

12.2.1 which is or becomes public knowledge (otherwise than by breach of this clause); 
which was in the possession of the Partner, without restriction as to its disclosure, 
before receiving it from the disclosing Partner;

12.2.2 which is received from a third party who lawfully acquired it and who is under no 
obligation restricting its disclosure.

12.2.3 which must be disclosed pursuant to a statutory, legal or parliamentary obligation 
placed upon the disclosing Partner making the disclosure, including any 
requirements for disclosure including any requirements for disclosure under the 
FOIA or the EIR.

Page 138



12

12.3 Nothing in this clause shall prevent the Host Authority disclosing any Confidential 
Information for the purpose of:

(i) the examination and certification of any Partner financial contributions; or 
(ii) any examination pursuant by a regulatory body.
(iii) to any person engaged in providing any services to the authority for any purpose 
relating to or ancillary to the Agreement;

Provided that in disclosing information under this sub-clause the Host Authority discloses only 
the information which is necessary for the purpose concerned and requires that the information 
is treated in confidence.

13. AUDIT 

13.1 The Host Authority shall arrange for the audit of the accounts of the Pooled Fund in 
accordance with its statutory audit requirements and any costs incurred by the Host 
Authority in connection with the same shall be borne equally by the Partners.   

13.2 The financial arrangements under this Agreement will be subject to the normal annual 
auditing requirements of each Partner.   

13.3 The Partners shall co-operate in the provision of Information, access to premises and 
staff, to ensure compliance with any statutory inspection requirements, or other monitoring 
or scrutiny functions.  The Partners shall implement recommendations arising from these 
inspections, where appropriate.

14.  INSURANCE

14.1 The Partners shall effect and maintain a policy or policies of insurance, providing an 
adequate level of cover for liabilities arising under any indemnity in this Agreement.  For 
the avoidance of doubt, this requirement shall not be necessary where a Partner has self 
insurance arrangements already in place.

14.2 Without prejudice to the generality of clause 14.1, the Host Authority shall effect and 
maintain appropriate professional indemnity and fidelity guarantee insurance in relation to 
the specific operation of the Pooled Fund.

Page 139



13

15. INDEMNITIES

15.1 Each Partner (Indemnifying Partner) shall indemnify and keep indemnified the other 
Partners (indemnified Partner/s) against all actions, proceedings, costs, claims, demands, 
liabilities, losses and expenses whatsoever, whether arising in tort (including negligence), 
default or breach of this Agreement, to the extent that any loss or claim is due to wilful 
negligence, wilful default or fraud of itself, the indemnifying Partners employees, or any of 
its representatives or sub-contractors, except to the extent that the loss or claim is directly 
caused by or directly arises from the negligence, breach of this Agreement, or applicable 
Law by the Indemnified Partner or its representatives.   

16.  LIABILITIES

16.1 Except as otherwise provided, the Partners shall each bear their own costs and expenses 
incurred in complying with their obligations under this Agreement.

16.2 Each Partner shall remain liable for any losses or liabilities incurred due to its own or its 
employee’s actions.   

17. DISPUTE RESOLUTION

17.1 In the event of a dispute between the Partners in connection with this Agreement, the 
matter shall be referred to the Director of Social Services for CCBC, DCC, FCC, GC, 
IOAC, WCBC and the Chief Operating Officer for the Health Board (or equivalent post 
holders) who shall use their best endeavours to resolve the dispute.

17.2 In the event that the dispute remains unresolved having followed the procedure in Clause 
17.1 the matter shall be referred in writing by any Partner or Partners to the Chief 
Executives (or equivalent) of the Partners who shall endeavour to settle the dispute 
between them.

17.3 If the Chief Executives fail to resolve the dispute within twenty (20) working days of the 
dispute having been referred to them, the dispute shall be referred to mediation pursuant 
to the procedure set out in clause 17.5.

17.4 The performance of the Agreement shall not be suspended, cease or be delayed by the 
reference of a dispute to mediation and the Partners shall comply fully with the 
requirements of the Agreement at all times.

Page 140



14

17.5 The procedure for mediation and consequential provisions relating to mediation are as 
follows:

(i) A neutral adviser or mediator (“the Mediator”) shall be chosen by agreement between 
the Partners, or, if they are unable to agree upon a Mediator within 10 Working Days 
after a request by one Partner to the other Partners or if the Mediator agreed upon is 
unable or unwilling to act, any of the Partners shall within 10 Working Days from the 
date of the proposal to appoint a Mediator or within 10 Working Days of notice to the 
other Partners that he is unable or unwilling to act, apply to the  Centre for Effective 
Dispute Resolution (“CEDR”) to appoint a Mediator.

(ii) The Partners shall within 10 Working Days of the appointment of the Mediator meet with 
him in order to agree a programme for the exchange of all relevant information and the 
structure to be adopted for negotiations to be held. If considered appropriate, the 
Partners may at any stage seek assistance from CEDR to provide guidance on a 
suitable procedure.

(iii) Unless otherwise agreed, all negotiations connected with the dispute and any 
settlement agreement relating to it shall be conducted in confidence and without 
prejudice to the rights of the Partners in any future proceedings.

(iv) If the Partners reach agreement on the resolution of the dispute, the agreement shall be 
reduced to writing and shall be binding on the Partners once it is signed by their duly 
authorised representatives.

(v) Failing agreement, any of the Partners may invite the Mediator to provide a non-binding 
but informative opinion in writing.  Such an opinion shall be provided on a without 
prejudice basis and shall not be used in evidence in any proceedings relating to the 
Agreement without the prior written consent of the Partners.

(vi) If the Partners fail to reach agreement in the structured negotiations within 60 Working 
Days of the Mediator being appointed, or such longer period as may be agreed by the 
Partners,  then any dispute or difference between them may be referred to the Courts.

18. TERMINATION

18.1 The Partners are required to operate a pooled fund pursuant to the statutory obligation set 
out under Regulation 19(1)(a) of Partnership Arrangements (Wales) Regulations 2015 (as 
amended).

Page 141



15

18.2 Where a Partner (“the Defaulting Partner”):-

18.2.1 commits a material breach of any of its obligations under this Agreement and the 
same is not capable of remedy: or
commits a material breach of any of its obligations under this Agreement which is 
capable of remedy but has not been remedied within twenty eight (28) days of 
receipt of written notice from one or more of the non defaulting Partners and no 
alternative form of pooled fund is agreed between the Partners then one or more of 
the non defaulting Partners may terminate this Agreement by serving seven (7) days 
written notice.

18.3 If this Agreement is terminated by any of the non defaulting Partners pursuant to Clause 
18.2 the costs occasioned to the non defaulting Partners shall be met by the Defaulting 
Partner and the Defaulting Partner shall indemnify the non defaulting Partners against any 
such losses or costs which the non defaulting Partners suffer as a result of such 
termination.  

18.4 Any Partner (“the Terminating Partner) may terminate this Agreement at any time by 
giving at least three (3) months written notice to the other Partners insofar as it relates to 
the Terminating Partner if:-

(i) As a result of any change in law or legislation it is unable to fulfil its obligations under 
this Agreement:

(ii) The fulfilment of its obligations under this Agreement would be in contravention of any 
guidance issued by Welsh Government or the UK government after this Agreement 
comes into force; or

(iii) The fulfilment of its obligations under this Agreement would be ultra vires; AND the 
Partners are unable to agree a modification or variation to this Agreement so as to 
enable the Terminating Partner to remedy any circumstances set out under 18.4 (a) to 
18.4 (c).  Any liability arising as a direct result of termination under this Clause 18.4 shall 
be apportioned equally between the Partners.

18.5 Should this Agreement be superseded by the Partners entering into a replacement 
agreement in relation to their statutory obligation referred to under clause 18.1 (as may be 
amended) and/or joint working arrangements in relation to their Care Home 
Accommodation Functions, this Agreement shall terminate upon the commencement date 
of the said replacement agreement.

18.6 The Partners acknowledge and agree that if a Partner/Partners are considering whether to 
exercise a right to terminate under this Agreement (and prior to exercising such a right), 
the Partners shall exhaust all reasonable avenues to rectify matters and /or to maintain 
the Pooled Fund, including a right for a non defaulting Partner to refer the matter to the 
Welsh Minister for consideration.

Page 142



16

19. CONSEQUENCES OF TERMINATION

19.1 If the Agreement is terminated in accordance with clause 18 (Termination), save for 
Clause 10 (FOIA), Clause 12 (Confidentiality), Clause 16 (Liabilities), and Clause 19 
(Consequences of Termination) the Partners shall be released from their respective 
obligations described in this Agreement, save to the extent that there are any sums due to 
be paid into the Pooled Fund or in the case of the Host Authority paid out of the Pooled 
Fund.

20. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS

20.1 No term of this Agreement is intended to confer a benefit on or to be enforceable by any 
person who is not a party to this Agreement.

21. NOTICES 

21.1 Any notice or communication shall be in writing address to the Partner’s Chief Executive 
Officer.

21.2 Any notice or communication sent by a Partner shall be deemed effectively served if sent 
by first class post or delivered by hand to the addressee and address set out below or 
such other addressee and address notified in writing from time to time by a Partner to the 
other Partners:-

Conwy County Borough Council, Bodlondeb, Conwy, LL32 8DU 

Denbighshire County Council, County Hall, Wynnstay Road, Ruthin, Denbighshire, 
LL15 1YN 

Flintshire County Council, County Hall, Mold, Flintshire, CH7 6NB 

Gwynedd Council, Council Offices, Shirehall Street, Caernarfon, Gwynedd, LL55 1SH 

Isle of Anglesey County Council, Council Offices, Llangefni, Anglesey, LL77 7TW 

Wrexham County Borough Council, Guildhall, Wrexham, LL11 1AY (WCBC)

Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board, Ysbyty Gwynedd, Penrhosgarnedd, Bangor, 
Gwynedd, LL57 2PW 

21.3 Correctly addressed notices sent by first class mail shall be deemed to have been 
delivered forty eight (48) hours after posting.

Page 143



17

22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT

22.1 This Agreement, the schedule and the documents annexed to it or otherwise referred to in 
it contain the whole Agreement between the Partners relating to the subject matter of it 
and supersede all prior agreements, arrangements and understandings between the 
Partners relating to that subject matter.

22.2 The Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which when executed and 
delivered shall constitute an original but all counterparts together shall constitute one 
and the same instrument.

23. CHANGES IN LEGISLATION

23.1 The Partners shall review the operation of the Partnership Arrangements under this 
Agreement and all or any procedures or requirements of this Agreement on the coming 
into force of any relevant statutory or other legislation or guidance affecting the 
Partnership Arrangements to ensure that the Partnership Arrangements comply with such 
legislation or guidance.

24. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION

24.1 This Agreement and any dispute or claim arising out of or in connection with it or its 
subject matter shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the Law of England 
and Wales.

Page 144



18

This Agreement has been executed as a deed and is delivered and takes effect on the date at 
the beginning of it.

The Common Seal of CONWY COUNTY)

BOROUGH COUNCIL was )

affixed in the presence of:- )

Authorised Signatory 

The Common Seal of  DENBIGHSHIRE )

COUNTY COUNCIL was )

affixed in the presence of:- )

Authorised Signatory 

The Common Seal of FLINTSHIRE )

COUNTY COUNCIL was )

affixed in the presence of:- )

Authorised Signatory 

The Common Seal of GWYNEDD )

Page 145



19

COUNCIL was )

affixed in the presence of:-                      )

Authorised Signatory: 

The Common Seal of ISLE OF )

ANGLESEY COUNTY COUNCIL was)

affixed in the presence of:- )

Authorised Signatory: 

The Common Seal of WREXHAM COUNTY )

BOROUGH COUNCIL was affixed in the )

presence of :- )

Authorised Signatory: 

Executed as a Deed by BETSI CADWALADR )

UNIVERSITY HEALTH BOARD )

Authorised Signatory: 

Page 146



20

SCHEDULE 1:  PAYMENTS TO AND FROM THE POOLED FUND

1. In relation to the Pooled Fund, each Partner agrees to make Financial Contributions to 
the Host Authority Quarterly in arrears and the Host Authority agrees to reimburse each 
Partner the sum of their Financial Contributions Quarterly in arrears as set out in this 
Schedule 1.

2. In respect of each Quarter, each Partner’s Financial Contribution shall be calculated by 
the individual Partner with reference to the actual costs the Partner has incurred in 
respect of the Services commissioned during the Quarter concerned, with the actual cost 
incurred meaning the net cost being the gross cost incurred in respect of the Services 
commissioned less any contributions received from clients or third parties. 

3. In relation to Quarter 1, Quarter 2 and Quarter 3-

(i) each Partner shall  calculate the sum of their Financial Contribution  and advise the 
Host Authority of the same within seven (7) working days of the last day of the relevant 
Quarter;

(ii) Subject to receipt of the relevant information referred to in clause 3.a), the Host 
Authority shall invoice each Partner to the value of their respective Financial 
Contributions within 15 Working Days of the last day of the relevant Quarter;

(iii) On or before the twentieth ( 20th) Working Day following the last day of the relevant 
Quarter the Partners shall make a payment to the Host Authority by way of cleared 
funds and to the value of the sum set out in the invoice referred to under 3.b) as defined 
in a detailed schedule to be agreed by all partners. 

(iv) Provided always that the Host Authority:-
(a) is in receipt of a Partner’s Financial Contribution by way of cleared funds;
(b) is in receipt and agreement of an invoice submitted by the Partner within fifteen (15) 

Working Days of the last day of the relevant Quarter, such invoice reflecting the sum 
of the Financial Contribution referred to in clause 3 b) 

(v) the Host Authority shall pay on or before the twentieth (20th) Working Day to the 
individual Partner that Partner’s respective Financial Contributions.

4. In relation to Quarter 4 the following provisions shall apply:

(i) each Partner shall  calculate the sum of their Financial Contribution and advise the Host 
Authority of the same within fifteen (15) Working Days of the last day  of Quarter 4;

(ii) Subject to receipt of the relevant information referred to in clause 4.a), the Host 
Authority shall invoice each Partner to the value of their respective Financial 
Contributions within twenty (20) Working Days  of the last day of the  Quarter 4;

Page 147



21

(iii) On or before the twenty fifth (25th) Working Day  following the last day of   Quarter 4 the  
Partners shall make a payment to the Host Authority by way of cleared funds and to the 
value of the sum set out in the invoice referred to under 4.b)

(iv) Provided always that the Host Authority:-

(a) is in receipt of a Partner’s Financial Contribution by way of cleared funds;
(b) is in receipt and agreement of an invoice submitted by the Partner within twenty (20) 

Working Days of the last day of Quarter 4, such invoice reflecting the sum of the 
Financial Contribution referred to in clause 4 b) 

(v) the Host Authority shall pay on or before the twenty fifth (25th) Working Day to the 
individual Partner that Partner’s respective Financial Contributions.

5. The Host Authority shall hold all transactions (that is, the financial payments paid into 
and out of the Pooled Fund) relating to the Pooled Fund as separate ring-fenced 
transactions to other transactions for the Host Authority.

Page 148



GWYNEDD COUNCIL CABINET

Report to a meeting of the Cabinet

Decision sought

Not to fill the vacant post of Corporate Director for the time being in order to see 
whether we can do without the post.

Background

1. In May this year I presented a report to the Cabinet on the Council’s 
management arrangements where I recommended that there should be a 
reduction in the number of senior managers in the Council. 

2. With one adjustment, the Cabinet agreed to that report.

3. In the same report, in addition to challenging the number of heads/assistant 
heads we needed to run the Council, I also noted we should consider whether 
we needed two corporate directors as well as a Chief Executive.  

4. I noted that the only way we could establish whether we could do with fewer 
would be to try such a model, but I also warned that there was less evidence 
that we could operate with only two at this level.

5. The cost of making one of the post holders redundant in order to try a new 
model would be enormous and without any certainty that we could cope, there 
would be a risk that we would need to re-fill the post in due course.  This would 
be a waste of resource.

6. I therefore suggested that we should not reduce the number of Corporate 
Directors at that point but that we should consider the matter further if an 
opportunity arose in future where we could experiment with a new model 
without incurring redundancy costs.

7. As one of the Corporate Director posts is now empty, this gives us an 
opportunity to see whether we can cope without the post.

Date of the meeting: 17th September 2019

Report by: Dilwyn Williams, Chief Executive

Title: Management Review

Page 145

Agenda Item 11



8. I have discussed the matter with the remaining Director and whilst we both 
have reservations relating to the medium term risks, we are both agreed that it 
is incumbent upon us to at least experiment with a different model.    

9. I therefore recommend that we do not fill the vacant Director post at the current 
time in order to experiment to see if we can do without the post.

10. This would mean that the functions being undertaken by the previous post 
holder would need to be re-allocated between myself and the remaining 
Director.

11. As the post holder has been working on the Growth Bid for some time now, a 
significant proportion of the workload is already being undertaken by us both, 
but there will be other functions which are not, and which will need to be re-
allocated.  

12. I would emphasise that this report does not recommend deleting the post from 
the establishment at this juncture as we do not have sufficient evidence to show 
that we can do without the post, but if the experiment is successful, this would 
be an option for the future.

Observations of the Statutory Officers:-

Monitoring Officer

“The report clearly notes what was discussed at the Cabinet meeting in May, and in 
view of this, I consider the recommendation within the report to be reasonable.    As 
noted in the report, clarity is needed as to where the vacant post’s responsibilities will 
lie during the experimental period.  No further comments from a propriety 
perspective”.

Head of Finance

“A report was presented to the Cabinet on 23rd July, considering how we will cope 
with the financial situation in 2020/21, in the context of grant settlements from the 
Welsh Government being insufficient to meet inflation pressures. It was confirmed 
that we are planning for a funding gap of between £2m and £7m and we have already 
asked departments to find their share of the minimum savings. 

In view of the challenging situation we are planning for, it is logical to conduct an 
experiment to gather evidence to see whether we can get by with less at this tier. 
Therefore, I support the decision sought.”

Page 146


	Agenda
	5 MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 16 AND 23 JULY 2019
	Cabinet Minutes 23 July 2019

	6 ANNUAL EMPLOYMENT REPORT
	7 YSGOL ABERSOCH
	Item 7 - Appendix - Local Members Views

	8 WASTE ENFORCEMENT SCRUTINY INVESTIGATION REPORT
	Item 8 - Appendix A - Waste Enforcement Scrutiny Ivestigation Report
	Item 8 - Appendix 1
	Item 8 - Appendix 2a
	Item 8 -  Appendix 2b
	Item 8 - Appendix 3
	Item 8 - Appendix 4
	Item 8 - Appendix 5
	Item 8 - Appendix 6
	Item 8 - Appendix 7
	Item 8 - Appendix 8
	Item 8 - Appendix 9
	Item 8 - Appendix 10

	9 SAVINGS OVERVIEW: PROGRESS REPORT ON REALISING SAVING SCHEMES
	Item 9 - Appendix 1 - Savings Overview
	Item 9 - Appendix 2 - Savings Overview
	Item 9 - Appendix 3 - Savings Overview

	10 POOLED BUDGET AGREEMENT FOR CARE HOME ACCOMMODATION FOR OLDER PEOPLE 2019/20
	Item 10 - Partnership Agreement

	11 MANAGEMENT REVIEW

